

University of South Florida Scholar Commons

Graduate Theses and Dissertations

**Graduate School** 

November 2019

# Health-Promoting Behaviors and Subjective Well-Being Among High School Students

Nicholas David W. Smith University of South Florida

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarcommons.usf.edu/etd

Part of the Other Education Commons, Psychiatric and Mental Health Commons, and the Psychology Commons

#### Scholar Commons Citation

Smith, Nicholas David W., "Health-Promoting Behaviors and Subjective Well-Being Among High School Students" (2019). *Graduate Theses and Dissertations.* https://scholarcommons.usf.edu/etd/8075

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School at Scholar Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in Graduate Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Scholar Commons. For more information, please contact scholarcommons@usf.edu.



Health-Promoting Behaviors and Subjective Well-Being Among High School Students

by

Nicholas David W. Smith

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in School Psychology Department of Educational and Psychological Studies College of Education University of South Florida

Co-Major Professor: Kathy L. Bradley-Klug, Ph.D. Co-Major Professor: Emily J. Shaffer-Hudkins, Ph.D. Shannon M. Suldo, Ph.D. Robert F. Dedrick, Ph.D.

> Date of Approval: November 1, 2019

Keywords: positive psychology, health psychology, wellness, physical health

Copyright © 2019, Nicholas David W. Smith



### DEDICATION

For my fiancé, Dr. Bethany M. Withycombe, and our love, that is abundant with joy, support, and hope for all that is to come. I am forever grateful for June 4<sup>th</sup>, 2017 and each day moving forward, with you. I am so thankful to have you always standing beside me in all our pursuits to achieve our goals. You are my inspiration!

"On earth', Marguerite said, 'when you fell asleep, you sometimes dreamed your heaven and those dreams helped to form it. But there was no reason for such dreams now.""

— Mitch Albom, *The Five People You Meet in Heaven* 

"Cause when you love someone, You open up your heart When you love someone, You make room

If you love someone, And you're not afraid to lose 'em

You'll probably never love someone like I do, You'll probably never love someone like I do"

#### — Lukas Graham, Love Someone

For any student, youth, parent, family, or person who I may serve during my career and for those who modeled service, throughout all my schooling and beyond. I am forever grateful.

"Brother, let me be your servant, Let me be as Christ to you. Pray that I might have the grace, To let you be my servant, too. When we sing to God in Heaven, We shall find such harmony Born of all we've known together Of Christ's love and agony."

- Richard Gillard, The Servant Song



#### ACKNOWLEGEMENTS

This study could not have been possible without the contributions of various individuals who I must express my own gratitude towards. First, Dr. Kathy L. Bradley-Klug, my Major Professor, who mentored me and has provided me with various opportunities for my own professional development throughout graduate school. Her ability to balance dual commitments within the USF College of Education and the School Psychology Program is unmatched! I must also reference the willingness of Dr. Emily J. Shaffer-Hudkins to serve in a Co-Major professor capacity and for developing the initial conceptualization of this project. I am inspired by her desire to promote holistic health. I am forever grateful to Dr. Shannon M. Suldo and her efforts to ensure a sample for data collection and the development of a research partnership. She has also ignited in me a desire to assess for wellness and examine positive indicators, that has vastly altered my clinical perspectives and has tremendously influenced my graduate education. I admire her dedication to the school psychology discipline and the ensured quality of research completed by students in the USF School Psychology Program. I am also indebted to Dr. Robert F. Dedrick, my statistical mastermind. His expertise, clarity of explanation, constant willingness to assist (despite numerous questions), and his enhancement of my understanding of statistics were incredibly beneficial for my own growth. I am in awe of his personal touch and constant dedication to helping all students.

Special shout outs are also necessary to other faculty members who have positively impacted my learning and have been significant cheerleaders along the way: Drs. George Batsche, Kathleen H. Armstrong, and *especially* Sarah M. Kiefer! I would have been honored to have had any of you serve on this committee. I am also enterally thankful for all the students of



the Positive Psychology and the Pediatric School Psychology Research Teams for their assistance in the completion of this project, particularly Erin Brennan. I cannot wait to see the result of your thesis! I am also so very thankful for Kai Zhuang Shum and Mollie McCollough Headley for their assistance with the research partnership and the delivery of the professional development seminar. My data enterers and checkers were truly awesome: Holland Hayford, Myesha Morgan, and Katrina Scarimbolo.

The role of those who helped in facilitating the data collection process was vastly important. I am inspired by their dedicated efforts to positively impact the mental and physical wellness of their students including, Ms. Kathleen Wright, Mr. Wade McElheny, Mr. Bob Rizzo, Mrs. Amy O'Neal, Mr. Peter Woytowish, Mr. Larry Cadile, Mrs. Jodi Lewdowski, Ms. Arlene Castelli, Mr. Rick Yarborough, Ms. Etta Rahming, Mr. McGriff, Ms. Joliff, Mr. Gee, Ms. Marcum, Ms. Bonnie Salary, and Mr. Pritchett. Also, the Florida Association of School Psychologists Research Committee's financial contributions enhanced this study and extended a hand to a graduate students' independent research endeavor.

Personal impacts cannot go unacknowledged: I am blessed beyond measure with the faithful editing of my father, Dr. Jonathan B. Smith and Ms. Radeen Cochran, who both provided strong feedback and clarity through many drafts of this dissertation and many other projects during graduate school. To my mother, Mary Fran Smith, and my sister, Shannon, your belief in my own abilities fueled many tiresome days. The presence of my esteemed peers should also be exclaimed. Specifically, Dr. Kayla N. LaRosa and "Drs.-to-be" Amanda C. Mosely, Casie Peet, Joseph D. Latimer, and Mrs. Sheena Harvey-you were the best of friends at USF who were handpicked to drastically impact my life with laughs, hugs, and tears. My academic mentor, Dr. Courtney Lynn always provided a calming presence throughout various hurdles and obstacles, as



well as guidance towards the University of Miami and the Mailman Center for Child Development. Mr. Patrick J. Beahon has also been a true mentor in my development as a school psychologist and is a miraculous friend. My "Tampa Family" has been a foundation of social support over various hurdles and success: Maxwell R. Hague and Dr. Carleen D. Zoni, I truly love you both. T.B. Withycombe has provided countless hours of unmatched companionship during various rounds of revisions. Finally, as my time at the University of South Florida concludes, I am indebted to the institution for providing me with various professional development opportunities and funding that have enhanced my capacities as a researcher and psychologist through various means. The rationale of Dr. Joseph F. Kovaleski was life altering in various ways. In closing, I express once more my sincerest appreciation and fondness for you all.

-NDWS



# TABLE OF CONTENTS

List of Tables	iv
List of Figures	vi
Abstract	vii
Chapter One: Introduction	1
Statement of the Problem	1
Conceptual Framework	3
Purpose of the Current Study	4
Hypotheses	5
Contributions to the Literature	6
Definition of Key Terms	7
Subjective Well-Being	7
Health-Promoting Behaviors	8
Health-Compromising Behaviors	9
1 0	
Chapter Two: Review of the Literature	10
Positive Indicators of Mental Health	11
Subjective Well-Being Overview and Measurement	11
SWB Serving as a Protective Factor for Children and Adolescents	16
The Relationship Between Physical Health and SWB	
Health-Related Behaviors and Physical Functioning	
Measurement of Health-Promoting Behaviors	
Prior Studies of Health-Promoting Behaviors and SWB: Transitioning	
Towards a Model of Comprehensive Wellness	
Levy (2003)	36
Lindberg & Swanberg (2006)	36
Piko (2006)	37
Holder and colleagues (2009)	38
Shaffer-Hudkins (2011)	39
Mack and colleagues (2012)	40
Gadermann and colleagues (2012)	42
Weinberg and colleagues (2016)	43
Blake and colleagues (2017)	
I ai (2018)	э Д7
Demographic Influence on Health-Related Rehaviors	т, <u>л</u> о
Gender Differences in Terms of Health-Related Rehaviors	ر <del>ب</del> /۵
Ethnic Differences in Terms of Health-Related Rehaviors	
Socio-Economic Differences in Terms of Health-Related Rehaviors	
Socio-Leononne Differences in Terms of Treatur-Actaced Denaviors	



Summary of Demographic Differences Related to SWB and Healt	th
Promoting Behaviors	
Summary of Literature	60
Chapter Three: Methods	62
Participants	63
Measures	
Demographic Form	69
Student Life Satisfaction Scale	69
Positive and Negative Affect Schedule for Children	
Adolescent Food Habits Checklist	71
Physical Activity Questionnaire for Adolescents	
Adolescent Sleep Hygiene Scale	
Adolescent Alcohol and Tobacco Utilization Scale	
Procedure	
Ethical Considerations	82
Overview of Data Analysis	83
Chapter Four: Results	
Research Questions	
Preliminary Analyses	
Data Entry	
Missing Data	
Scale Reliability	
Descriptive Characteristics of Sample	
Additional Treatment of Data	
Correlational Analyses	
Research Questions 1	
Research Ouestions 2	
Multiple Regression Analyses	
Research Question 3	
Analysis of Assumptions for Multiple Regressions	94
Research Question 4	98
Research Question 5	9(
Summary of Significant Findings	
Chapter Five: Discussion	113
Fxamination of the Results	ـــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــ
Research Question 1	
Research Question 2	
Research Question 3	
Research Question A	
Research Question 5	122
Limitations of the Current Study	123 100
Suggestions for Future Desearch	125 127
Contributions to the Literature	152 124



Implications for School Psychologists
References
Appendix A: Parental Consent Form
Appendix B: Student Assent Form
Appendix C: Demographic Questionnaire
Appendix D: Student Life Satisfaction Scale
Appendix E: Positive and Negative Affect Scale
Appendix F: Adolescent Food Habits Checklist
Appendix G: Permission to Utilize the AFHC Modified Version for American Youth182
Appendix H: Physical Activity Questionnaire for Adolescents
Appendix I: Adolescents Sleep Hygiene Scale
Appendix J: Adolescent Alcohol and Tobacco Utilization Scale192
Appendix K: Institutional Review Board Letter of Research Approval193
Appendix L: Correlation Matrix Between Variables of Interest
Appendix M: Moderating Effects of Race on Health-Promoting Behaviors Predicting SWB196
Appendix N: Moderating Effects of Gender on Health-Promoting Behaviors Predicting SWB
Appendix O: Moderating Effects of SES on Health-Promoting Behaviors Predicting SWB201



## LIST OF TABLES

Table 1:	Prior Studies of Health-Promoting Behaviors and SWB	50
Table 2:	Descriptive Characteristics of Student Population at Participating Schools	66
Table 3:	Descriptive Characteristics of Participants (N = 450)	67
Table 4:	Descriptive Characteristics of Participants with All Data included in Regression Models ( $N = 430$ )	68
Table 5:	Response Rate of Participants at Each School in Sample	69
Table 6:	Summary of Measures of Variables of Interest	80
Table 7:	Cronbach's Alpha for Measures in Study	89
Table 8:	Descriptive Statistics of Variables of Interest	92
Table 9:	Hierarchical Regression Analysis for Demographic Factors and Health-Promoting Behaviors Predicting SWB	96
Table 10:	Regression Analysis for Demographic Factors Predicting Physical Activity	100
Table 11:	Regression Analysis for Demographic Factors Predicting Dietary Habits	101
Table 12:	Regression Analysis for Demographic Factors Predicting Sleep Hygiene Physiological Factors	102
Table 13:	Regression Analysis for Demographic Factors Predicting Sleep Hygiene Behavioral Arousal	103
Table 14:	Regression Analysis for Demographic Factors Predicting Sleep Hygiene Cognitive/Emotional Factor	104
Table 15:	Regression Analysis for Demographic Factors Predicting Sleep Hygiene Environment Factors	105
Table 16:	Regression Analysis for Demographic Factors Predicting Sleep Stability	106
Table 17:	Regression Analysis for Demographic Factors Predicting Sleep Hygiene Day Time Sleepiness	107
Table 18:	Regression Analysis for Demographic Factors Predicting Sleep Hygiene Substances	108



Table 19:	Regression Analysis for Demographic Factors Predicting Sleep Hygiene Bedtime Routine Factor	)
Table 20:	Regression Analysis for Demographic Factors Predicting Tobacco Abstinence	)
Table 21:	Regression Analysis for Demographic Factors Predicting Alcohol Abstinence	_



## LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1:	Dual Factor Model of Mental Health (Suldo, 2016)	19
Figure 2:	Correlated Outcomes Model (Friedman & Kern, 2014)	23
Figure 3:	Pender Health-Promotion Model (Pender, 2011)	29



#### ABSTRACT

In positive psychology, a greater emphasis is placed on the presence of indicators of both physical and mental health. This study examined the relationship between 12 health-promoting behaviors and subjective well-being (SWB; e.g., happiness) in a sample of 450 high school aged youth from five high schools in two states. Participants reported on their dietary habits, physical activity, abstinence from tobacco products, abstinence from alcohol, and sleep hygiene (i.e., 8 unique components) as well as a multidimensional assessment of SWB (i.e., life satisfaction, positive affect, and negative affect). It was hypothesized that increased engagement in each of the health-promoting behaviors would be associated with higher levels of SWB. Based on identified differences in previous studies, demographic factors also were taken into consideration. Specifically, race, gender, and socioeconomic status were included in all analyses to further distinguish any main and moderating effects in relation to SWB and each healthpromoting behavior. Findings demonstrated that seven of the 12 health-promoting behaviors examined were significantly correlated with SWB. A sizeable portion of the variance in SWB (39.80%) was accounted for by the linear combination of the 12 health-promoting behaviors. Increased physical activity, as well as two components of sleep hygiene (i.e., cognitive/emotional factors, bedtime routine) were unique predictors of the variance in SWB. None of the interactions with respect to race, gender, or SES and the health-promoting behaviors of interest were significant predictors of SWB, indicating that no moderating effects were identified in this study. Several unique main effects were identified for various health-promoting behaviors with respect to race and gender. However, no differences were unveiled with respect to SES. These



findings bring attention to the necessity to educate adolescents on the importance of daily physical activity, attention to sleep hygiene, and their links to mental wellness. Furthermore, these results provide a greater understanding of healthy profiles and their associations with positive mental health and demographic differences that exists. Future research should incorporate additional methods for investigating health-promotion, such as the utilization of sleep actigraphy monitors or qualitative interviews of adolescents and expanding upon the crosssectional design of this study.



www.manaraa.com

# CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION

#### **Statement of the Problem**

A conceptual shift has occurred in the literature base on children and adolescents' physical (Kann et al., 2018) and mental health (Diener, 2000; Suldo, Thalji- Raitano, Kiefer, & Ferron, 2016). Specific to mental health conceptualization, assessment strategies and empirical studies previously adhered to a medical model and solely examined the presence or absence of various forms of psychopathology. Prior to this conceptual shift, many studies solely investigated children's internalizing (e.g., depression, anxiety) and externalizing (e.g., aggressive behaviors, conduct problems) symptoms, with minimal focus on positive indicators of mental well-being, or happiness. Recent literature has indicated that subjective well-being (SWB; Diener & Chan, 2011), a conceptual term for happiness, facilitates more positive outcomes across various domains and serves as a protective factor in those youth who exhibit co-occurring symptoms of psychopathology (Suldo & Shaffer, 2008; Suldo et al., 2016). Incorporating both subjective well-being and psychopathology factors provides a more comprehensive picture of functioning. Facilitating positive well-being is particularly important, based on the prevalence of children who display symptoms of some form of a mental health disorder (e.g., 25% of children meeting criteria for an anxiety disorder by the time they reach 3<sup>rd</sup> grade; American Psychiatric Association, 2013; Merikangas et al., 2009; Merikangas et al., 2010). Research has also identified that increased SWB is associated with greater physical health (Friedman & Kern, 2014; Kern, 2015; Suldo & Shaffer, 2008; Zullig, Valois, Huebner, Wanzer Drane, 2005) along



www.manaraa.com

with other positive outcomes (e.g., social support, academic achievement; Suldo & Shaffer, 2008; Suldo et al., 2016).

In terms of the examination of physical health, a deficit focused approach was previously utilized with research primarily focused on risk taking or health-compromising behaviors (e.g., sedentary lifestyles, dietary fat intake; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and Prevention, 2018; Kann et al., 2018; Levy, 2003), with less attention paid to children's engagement in behaviors that facilitate healthy outcomes (e.g., daily physical activity). Various health-related behaviors are linked and can be identified as either health-promoting (adaptive; e.g., daily physical activity; adhering to good sleep hygiene practices) or health-compromising (maladaptive; e.g., sedentary lifestyle; staying awake all night). Furthermore, adolescents engage in more health-compromising behaviors than any other age group of school-aged youth (Harris et al., 2005; Kern, 2015). Whereas, health promotion references to activities and habits that youth maintain to facilitate a healthy lifestyle (Friedman & Kern, 2014; Kern, 2015). The literature has indicated that it is vital for youth to develop healthy habits in terms of eating a balanced, nutritious diet, engaging in frequent exercise for at least one hour per day, and acquiring adequate amounts of sleep to allow for healthy growth and development. Furthermore, adolescence is a particularly salient time point during that youth may learn to identify and practice various health-promoting habits prior to leaving the home (Harris et al., 2005; Musavian et al., 2014; Persch et al., 2015). The increased sense of autonomy that takes place during adolescence, along with the growing obesity crisis in the United States make the promotion of health in all children and adolescents a necessity.

Despite the association between SWB and physical health (Friedman & Kern, 2014; Kern, 2015; Suldo & Shaffer, 2008; Zullig et al., 2005), few studies have examined if happiness



www.manaraa.com

is associated with engagement in various health-promoting behaviors. The most commonly examined behaviors in previous studies have been a combination of diet and/or exercise habits (Blake et al., 2017; Holder et al., 2009; Mack et al., 2012). More recently, some literature has indicated the importance of examining the relationship between sleep-quality and well-being (Lai, 2018; Weinberg, 2016; Zhang et al., 2017). However, a comprehensive study incorporating multiple health-promoting behaviors and a comprehensive assessment of wellness is warranted. Also, although prior studies have been conducted throughout the lifespan, the current literature base lacks a study that has examined the association between various health-promoting behaviors and a comprehensive assessment of well-being in a sample of older adolescents (e.g., high school aged students).

Another benefit of further research between mental and physical health indicators could lead to the development of programs that could serve as preventive measures for those at risk for developing future mental (e.g., anxiety disorders) *or* physical health (e.g., childhood obesity) problems. This rationale is consistent with a public health framework of tiered service delivery (Blunden et al., 2016; Bourke-Taylor et al., 2012; Kobau et al., 2011). Also, the literature has identified that various demographic differences exists across health-promoting and healthcomprising behaviors with respect to gender, race, and socioeconomic status (Center for Disease Control and Prevention, 2018; Craig et al, 2014; Hales et al., 2018; Spear & Kulbock, 2001). Therefore, clarifying these differences is vital for program development and to acquire an enhanced understanding of the links between mental and physical wellness.

#### **Conceptual Framework**

Pender's Health Promotion Model served as a conceptual framework for this study and general health promotion for adolescents (Pender, 2011). This model was developed in the



1980s for nursing practice and outlines the multidimensional nature of behaviors that contribute to and comprise a healthy lifestyle. This model aligns with a biopsychosocial orientation by examining the associations between various factors that contribute to healthy living, including physical activity, diet/nutrition and stress management. Pender's model also accounts for the goal-directed behavior self-care that individuals adhere to that promote a healthy lifestyle, which could be a unique factor to examine in adolescent populations. Additionally, the dual-factor model of mental health (Greenspoon & Saklofske, 2001; Suldo & Shaffer, 2008 Suldo et al., 2016), a positive psychology framework, that emphasizes the importance of accounting for positive and negative indicators of mental health, provides a rationale for attending to and further studying and attending to the subjective well-being of adolescents.

#### **Purpose of the Current Study**

The goal of the current study was to examine the relationship between various factors of physical health (i.e., health-promoting behaviors including healthy diet, physical activity, factors of sleep hygiene, tobacco and alcohol abstinence) and positive mental health (i.e., subjective well-being). This study also examined the main and moderating role of various demographic characteristics on health-promoting behaviors and SWB, respectively.

The specific research questions included:

1. What is the relationship between specific health-promoting behaviors employed by adolescents (physical activity, dietary habits, components of sleep hygiene, tobacco abstinence, alcohol abstinence) and their subjective well-being?

2. What is the relationship between each of the health-promoting behaviors of interest in this study (e.g., significant correlation between physical activity and tobacco abstinence)?



3. After statistically controlling for race, gender, socioeconomic status, and school, that of the above health-promoting behaviors are most strongly related to the subjective well-being of adolescents?

4. To what extent, if any, are the relationships between adolescents' health-promoting behaviors and subjective well-being moderated by various demographic factors (gender, race, socioeconomic status)?

5. What are the relationships between gender, ethnicity, and socioeconomic status and each of the health-promoting behaviors?

#### Hypotheses

It was hypothesized that each of health-promoting behaviors would have a significant, positive correlation with the subjective well-being of high school aged youth. Specifically, it was expected that those who reported higher engagement in each of the specific healthpromoting behaviors would also report increased levels of SWB. Additionally, it was hypothesized that each of the health-promoting behaviors would serve as a unique predictor of SWB. This rationale stems from the literature base that has indicated unique relationships between emotional well-being and various health-related behaviors including dietary practices, physical activity habits, sleep quality and attitudes about substance utilization (Blake et al., 2017; Gadermann et al., 2016; Holder et al., 2009; Lai, 2018; Levy, 2003; Lindberg & Swanberg, 2006; Mack et al., 2012; Piko, 2006; Shaffer-Hudkins, 2011; Weinberg et al., 2016).

Other hypotheses were in terms of demographic characteristics. Specifically, it was hypothesized that demographic differences would be identified in terms of the various healthpromoting behaviors of interest. In terms of gender, this hypothesis stems from the idea that boys and girls hold themselves to various societal norms that impact their behaviors (i.e., girls



engage in fewer sports when compared to boys; Spear & Kulbock, 2001). Regarding comparisons between various racial groups, longitudinal research has identified differences in terms of physical activity, diet, and substance utilization (Center for Disease Control and Prevention, 2018). For example, binge drinking has been more commonly observed in white and Hispanic students when compared to African American students, regardless of gender. Last, socioeconomic status (SES) differences were hypothesized based on disparities that have been identified in the literature. For example, SES has been identified as a predictive factor in the amount of time that adolescents engage in physical activity (Elgar et al., 2015). Furthermore, the moderating effects of each demographic factor were explored in this study, to gain greater understanding of the interplay between these factors, health-promoting behaviors, and SWB. Various demographic findings are further expanded upon in chapter two to provide a rationale for the hypotheses pertaining to the main effect and moderating influence of various demographic factors.

#### **Contributions to the Literature**

A gap in this literature exists, as previous studies of health-promotion have primarily focused on adult populations (Donaldson et al., 2015). In terms of prior research in child and adolescent populations, Shaffer-Hudkins (2011) examined the relationship between various health-promoting behaviors and subjective well-being in a sample of middle school students. The study results indicated that various health-promoting behaviors (i.e., hours slept per night, attitudes towards substance utilization) were associated with increased levels of subjective wellbeing. The current study examined the relationship between mental and physical health through comprehensive, multidimensional measures of both factors (e.g., subjective well-being and various health related behaviors). This study also expanded upon the work of Shaffer-Hudkins



www.manaraa.com

(2011) by including a more comprehensive sleep hygiene measure and a measure of alcohol and tobacco abstinence, as opposed to solely attitudes about substance utilization. Although various studies have examined the relationship between health-related and various indicators of wellness (e.g., physical well-being, emotional well-being; Blake et al., 2017), this study serves as the first comprehensive study to examine the relationship between multiple health-promoting behaviors and SWB in a sample of older adolescents. This research was warranted as literature has noted that the development of multicompetent interventions tailored at increasing engagement in multiple health-related behaviors is a necessity, based on the trivial effect sizes that are the product of currently existing interventions (Conner & Norman, 2017; Eaton et al., 2012). Findings from this study could be utilized to promote holistic health and the importance of assessing for positive mental health. Also, this study is the first study to examine the relationship between sleep hygiene factors (e.g., behaviors engaged in to facilitate quality sleep) and SWB in American adolescents, whereas prior studies have instead focused on sleep quality (e.g., restless sleep, nighttime arousal) and SWB (Gadermann et al., 2016; Weinberg et al., 2016; Lai, 2018). This study provided exploratory data relative to the relationship between physical wellness and mental health, that could be utilized for public health initiatives (Bourke-Taylor et al., 2012; Kobau et al., 2011 Harris et al., 2005; Musavian et al., 2014; Persch et al., 2015).

#### **Definition of Key Terms**

**Subjective Well-Being** (SWB; Diener, 2000) is a term that includes various cognitive and emotional components of well-being. SWB consists of a combination of life satisfaction (e.g., satisfaction and current circumstances), positive affect (e.g., joy, happiness), and negative affect (e.g., anger, shame; Suldo & Shaffer, 2008; Suldo et al., 2016). This study examined



SWB through a combination of participants' self-reported (a) levels of life satisfaction and (b) positive and negative adjectives that describe the daily feelings that they experience.

Health-Promoting Behaviors reference the daily habits and behaviors related to physical functioning that adolescents engage in that encourage and uphold quality physical health. Examples of health-promoting behaviors include: eating a nutritious diet (e.g., high in fruits, vegetables, and low in fats; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 2018), acquiring ample amounts of exercise (e.g., at least 60 minutes per day; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 2018), abstaining from tobacco or alcohol products (e.g., not drinking alcohol, not utilizing substances; Johnston et al., 2018), and obtaining sufficient sleep or facilitating a quality sleep cycle (e.g., obtaining at least 8.5-9 hours of sleep per night for high school students or having a standard bedtime routine; Paruthi et al., 2016). Engagement in these behaviors has been associated with disease prevention and decreased health-care cost (Mo & Winnie, 2010). Despite these positive findings, Chen (2007) has identified only 44.7% of American adolescents engage in multiple health-promoting behaviors and these behaviors decrease during the adolescent years (Rew et al., 2010). No published studies to date have assessed the relationship between any health-promoting behaviors and SWB in a sample of high school students. However, Conner and Norman (2017) identified healthy diet and exercise, are the most commonly studied health-related behaviors in the literature. Furthermore, Lai (2018) has noted the importance of examining the relationship between sleep quality and sleep hygiene with positive mental health. The current study utilized comprehensive self-reports of adolescents' dietary habits, physical activity habits, sleep hygiene, and abstinence from tobacco and alcohol products. Behaviors of interest were chosen based on the association in the literature indicating



an association of specific behaviors with SWB as well as the PI's ability to comprehensively measure each behavior.

Health-Compromising Behaviors reference the daily habits and behaviors that adolescents engage in that discourage and are detrimental to physical health. These are associated with decreased physical functioning and negative long-term outcomes, such as an increased risk of obesity, decreased quality of life, increased health care cost, and various psychosocial issues (Yang et al., 2014). These behaviors (e.g., illicit substance utilization, risk taking behaviors such as texting while driving) begin to increase during the adolescent years and have been identified at a greater incidence when compared to other age groups (Chen et al., 2007; Harris, 2005). These behaviors are more commonly examined in the literature pertaining to high school aged youth (Center for Disease and Control and Prevention, 2018). Commonly identified health-compromising behaviors include tobacco utilization, alcohol consumption, sedentary lifestyles, high fat diet, and poor sleep hygiene (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2018; Conner & Norman, 2017; Harris et al., 2005).



#### **CHAPTER TWO:**

#### LITERATURE REVIEW

The purpose of this chapter is to provide a comprehensive review of the literature that relates to mental health, physical wellness, and the link between these two constructs. In addition, a rationale for examining positive indicators of both mental health (i.e., subjective wellbeing) and physical health (e.g., various health-promoting behaviors such as adhering to sleep hygiene recommendations) is provided. Specifically, examining positive indicators alters prior viewpoints that mirrored a medical diagnosis (Greenspoon & Saklofske, 2001; Seligman, 2000; 2002; 2011; Suldo & Shaffer, 2008), that solely assessed the presence or absence of pathology and placed little reference on the positive outcomes associated with well-being. One correlate of mental wellness that has been consistently identified is physical health (Diener & Chan, 2011), that is further discussed in this chapter. Although literature has identified associations, limited research has been conducted to examine if positive mental health is linked with engagement in various health-promoting behaviors. This chapter provides summaries of previous studies and methodologies that have examined positive and negative indicators of physical wellness as well as their empirical link with positive mental health and a rationale for embedding the positive psychology movement within health-promotion. Additionally, relevant theoretical frameworks are reviewed to further strengthen the rationale for this study. Finally, differences in terms of demographic features (e.g., gender, race, SES) and their impacts or lack thereof on physical and mental wellness are discussed.



#### **Positive Indicators of Mental Health**

Since the positive psychology movement of the early 2000's a greater emphasis has been placed on the promotion of wellness (Diener, 2000; Diener & Chan, 2011; Seligman, 2000; 2002; 2011). Service delivery that focuses primarily on the treatment of psychopathology limits the versatility of services by solely addressing the issue at hand, with little efforts provided to ensure that individuals are "flourishing" (Keyes, 2009), or experiencing positive mental health in tandem with quality interpersonal interactions. The treatment of these disorders with limited attention to well-being stems from a medical model that was previously utilized in the treatment of Veterans returning from World Wars I and II (Seligman, 2002, 2011; Suldo, 2016). Attending to indicators of wellness encompasses many factors: hope, resiliency, life satisfaction, positive affect, negative affect, and self-efficacy.

#### **Subjective Well-Being Overview and Measurement**

The current study sought to examine subjective well-being (SWB; Diener, 2000), a scientific term for happiness, and its relationship with various health-promoting behaviors. SWB references an individual's own personal appraisal of their life and current functioning across various domains. Literature that has examined SWB has traditionally conceptualized this variable as a combination of three separate but interrelated constructs: life satisfaction, positive affect (e.g., emotions), and negative affect (Diener, 2000; Diener & Chan, 2011; Suldo, 2016; Suldo & Shaffer, 2008; Suldo et al., 2016), yet early positive psychology research solely examined life satisfaction as a standalone construct. Life satisfaction references domain specific happiness (e.g., school, home) as well as global assessments of one's own life (e.g., "I am happy with my life."). Affect references mood and emotional states, whereas positive emotions include joy and delight, while negative affect emotions include distress, sadness, and anger (Laurent et



al., 1999). Diener and Seligman (2002) have noted those who indicate greater levels of personal happiness typically experience greater frequencies of positive emotions when compared to negative emotions. Within the combination of these factors, life satisfaction has been considered the more stable construct, as the experience of positive and negative emotions has been more subject to change over time.

Diener and Seligman (2002) have also emphasized that SWB is particularly pertinent to examine in Western cultures, primarily because a greater cultural emphasis is placed on individuals' level of functioning and personal successes, whereas other collectivist cultures may present a focus that is more holistically focused (e.g., family). Cultures that are more individualistic in nature emphasize each person's own level of quality of life and satisfaction with their life across various circumstances. Also, SWB strongly aligns with Seligman's (2011) PERMA theory, that transitioned the focus of positive psychology from a sole emphasis on experiencing positive emotions (i.e., life satisfaction) to a broadened framework referencing the importance of all individuals developing an enhanced form of well-being that is composed of five elements: positive emotions (P; SWB, life satisfaction), engagement (E; immersion within one's life), relationships (R; meaningful relationships with others), meaning (M; a sense of purpose) and accomplishment (A; sense of personal achievement). These factors have been associated with contentment (i.e., long term happiness) that has been associated with greater SWB throughout a lifetime.

Regarding the application of PERMA to physical health and well-being, Kern and colleagues (2015) completed a study examining the effect and intersection of positive emotions in a sample of 500 Australian boys. The results indicated that positive emotions, engagement, relationships/meaning, and accomplishment were related to vital outcomes, such as measures of



physical health. One of the key findings from this study was that all of the factors that were examined were found to be separate constructs, except for relationships and meaning, that were subsequently combined into one factor, based on the high levels of similarity between the two constructs. These findings indicated the measures of well-being were separate constructs, providing evidence for a multidimensional approach, all of that could lead to a wide variety of positive outcomes. For example, establishing a multidimensional approach for wellness can provide students with an opportunity as how to recognize and use their own personal strengths and instill an awareness of any personal weaknesses.

Another critical component of the literature is the individual components that influence happiness as identified by Lyubomirsky and colleagues (2005). Specifically, three distinct components have been stated to serve as the primary influences of happiness: genetic set point (e.g., stable biological factors), life circumstances (e.g., physical appearance, health condition, socioeconomic status), and intentional activities (e.g., positive or negative thoughts or activities, such as goal setting, optimistic thinking). When examining the significance of each component, genetic set point has been noted to comprise 50% of reported happiness. Specifically, longitudinal studies of reared twins identified stable biological factors and consistent personality traits related to happiness throughout the lifespan (Hamer, 1996; Nes & Roysamb, 2017). Purposeful activities, those that individuals decide to engage in, can contribute up to 40% of the variance in perceived levels of happiness (Lyubomirsky et al., 2005). Life circumstances been linked to 10% of the variance in levels of happiness. Few published works that have tested this framework exist. However, this framework is reviewed in this chapter to emphasize how an individuals' level of happiness and other outcomes may be affected through various components, such as life circumstances. Further examination into the specific purposeful activities (e.g.,



health-promoting behaviors) that an individual may engage in and their long-term impact on happiness is warranted.

In terms of the examination of SWB and quality of life, the literature has placed a greater emphasis on studies of adult populations, as opposed to youth and adolescent populations. Donaldson and colleagues (2015) noted that since the dawn of the positive psychology movement (i.e., early 2000s) there have been over 1,300 published studies, whereas a minority of these studies (16%) have focused on children and adolescent samples. One explanation for the limited focus on children and adolescents there is no gold standard measure for assessing children's subjective well-being as various methods have been noted in the empirical literature. For example, some studies have utilized a single indicator for well-being (Leung & Leung, 1992; Lindberg & Swanberg, 2006; Natvig et al., 2003). However, Diener (2000) has noted that SWB cannot be adequately assessed without comprehensive assessment of the three interrelated constructs: life satisfaction, positive affect, and negative affect.

Prior to the conceptualization of a multicomponent indicator of wellness (i.e., SWB), life satisfaction was commonly examined. The current gold standard for assessment of children's life satisfaction is the Student's Life Satisfaction Scale (SLSS; Huebner, 1991a; 1991b). The SLSS examines global life satisfaction with a thorough seven-item measure across various domains (i.e., satisfaction with self; satisfaction with school). A more comprehensive viewpoint can be obtained through the Multidimensional Students' Life Satisfaction Scale (MSLSS: Huebner, 1994), an empirically sound instrument assessing specific life domain satisfaction (e.g., friends, family, school) of youth and adolescents, while also providing a total composite. The Brief-Multidimensional Students Life Satisfaction Scale (Seligson et al., 2003) was designed to



serve as a more concise measure of the MSLSS. Each of these measures are free for public utilization and easy to incorporate into school-based practice (Suldo, 2016).

For the assessment of positive and negative affect, the other key components of SWB, the Positive and Negative Affect Schedule (PANAS: Watson, Clark, & Tellegen, 1988) was initially developed as a brief measurement of positive and negative affect for use with adult populations. Based on the need to assess these constructs in youth, the Positive and Negative Affect Scale for Children (PANAS-C: Laurent et al., 1999) was developed and validated in samples of children and adolescents. This measure includes 12 items related to positive affect and 15 items related to negative affect.

An area of concern that has been addressed in the literature is the fact SWB solely comes from one's own subjective interpretations. Therefore, it is vital to acknowledge the person's emotional state at the time of that an assessment is administered, that could have a positive or negative influence on the indicators of wellness. A longitudinal study of youth ages 17 to 21 indicated the long-term stability of SWB across three time points over a 12-week period (Eid & Diener, 2004). This study included measures of personality assessment and temporary mood ratings, that helped in examining any levels of mood change that participants may have experienced over this 12-week period. Additionally, Suldo and Huebner (2004) found a sample of 816 middle and high school students had consistent levels of life satisfaction over a one-year period (r = .56). Another concern that has been identified in the literature is the social desirability of participant's responses in terms of life satisfaction. However, the Students Life Satisfaction Scale has been reported to only have a correlation of .05 with measures of social desirability (Huebner, 1991a; 1991b), therefore indicating greater measurement validity and reliability in terms of self-report. In terms of SWB stability, Lepper (1998) had 971 individuals



self-report on their own level of SWB. Additionally, participant's romantic partner (or close family member) identified their own perception (e.g., other report) of the 971 individual's levels of SWB. Results of this study indicated that SWB was highly stable over a 9-month period with a strong agreement between both informants (SWB index stability coefficient= .73).

Research on SWB also has transitioned from examining that individual consistently report greater happiness to determining that factors contribute to perceived happiness. Various literature noted SWB varies across individuals of numerous backgrounds, demographic traits, and that perceived personal happiness is not tied to any specific indicator (Diener, 2000; Diener, Scollon, & Lucas, 2009; Huebner et al., 2006). Instead the collection of an individual's values, family life, and surrounding community all contribute to and are vital to examine when assessing SWB.

#### SWB Serving as a Protective Factor for Children and Adolescents

Individual's levels of SWB in everyday life have been demonstrated to correlate with various positive outcomes (Diener, 2000). Specifically, attending to the SWB of youth early in their schooling can serve as a protective factor in terms of mental health promotion (Greenspoon & Saklofske, 2001; Smith, 2018). O'Connor and colleagues (2017) have emphasized that positive mental health during the adolescent years is particularly vital as it can serve as a necessary asset that youth can utilize to meet the various demands they face during this developmental period (e.g., academic challenges, social functioning, romantic relationships), that is predictive of smoother transitions into adulthood across various domains. Ensuring the positive development of youth also is critical as approximately 25% of youth meet criteria for some form of psychopathology upon reaching third grade (American Psychiatric Association, 2013; Merikangas et al., 2009; Merikangas et al., 2010).



Recent literature has shown SWB can serve as a protective factor when assessed in tandem with psychopathology (e.g., internalizing or externalizing symptoms; Antaramian, 2015; Eklund et al., 2012; Smith, 2018; Suldo & Shaffer, 2008; Suldo et al., 2016). The examination of both constructs of mental health has been coined the Dual Factor of Mental Health (Suldo & Shaffer, 2008; Suldo et al., 2016). Findings from these studies further strengthen the rationale to promote and incorporate the assessment of wellness in theoretical frameworks and clinical practice. This model has been identified in samples of elementary (Greenspoon & Saklofske, 2001; Smith, 2018), middle (Antaramian et al., 2010; Suldo & Shaffer, 2008), high school (Suldo et al., 2016), and college students (e.g., Antaramian, 2015; Eklund et al., 2011; Renshaw & Cohen, 2014). When utilizing this framework, four mental health groups are consistently established: complete mental health, vulnerable, symptomatic but content, and troubled (Suldo, 2016; Suldo & Shaffer, 2008; Suldo et al., 2016). Differences (e.g., physical health, academic achievement) have been noted between each of the group, particularly between the groups that are comprised of similar levels of psychopathology or subjective well-being (e.g., both those identified as having complete mental health or vulnerable have low levels of psychopathology). Descriptions of these groups and the positive outcomes associated with increased levels of SWB are provided to champion the protective nature of this construct, when compared to groups that report diminished levels of wellness.

The first subgroup, those identified meeting criteria for "Complete Mental Health" (CMH; approximately = 65% of prior samples), possess average to high levels of SWB and low to average levels of psychopathology, when compared to the other mental health groups (Suldo, 2016). These students generally demonstrate greater physical health (Suldo & Shaffer, 2008) and higher perceptions of social support (Antaramian et al., 2010; Greenspoon & Saklofske,



2001; Lyons et al., 2012; Smith, 2018; Suldo & Shaffer, 2008; Suldo et al., 2016), amongst other outcomes. Another mental health group, "Vulnerable" (approximately = 12.1%, but ranges from 8-19% in previous samples), are those students who have low levels of both SWB and psychopathology (Suldo, 2016). Those identified in this group have demonstrated worse physical health (Suldo et al., 2016) and lower grades (Antaramian, 2015; Eklund et al., 2011; Renshaw & Cohen, 2014; Suldo & Shaffer, 2008; Suldo et al., 2016) when compared those with Complete Mental Health (who have average to high levels of SWB). Students identified in this mental health group rarely receive school based mental health services when methods utilized to identify solely psychopathology are utilized.

A third mental health "Troubled" (approximately = 12.8% of prior studies), report diminished levels SWB and high levels of psychopathology (e.g., clinically "at risk levels"; Suldo, 2016). These individuals meet the traditional medical model criteria for poor mental health. These children have the worst outcomes regarding physical health (Suldo & Shafer, 2008) when compared to the other groups. The final mental health group identified through the utilization of this model are those identified as "Symptomatic but Content" (SBC; approximately = 10.1% of prior samples; Suldo, 2016). These individuals are identified based on their preeminent levels of both SWB and psychopathology. When compared to peers who also have elevated levels of psychopathology (i.e., troubled), positive outcomes have been identified (e.g., increased physical health, social functioning), indicating increased levels of SWB are related to more positive outcomes (Smith, 2018; Suldo & Shaffer, 2008; Suldo et al., 2016). Identifying those in this group is cumbersome based on the protective factor of SWB, that may mask psychopathology related behaviors. The expanding literature pertaining to this dual factor model has emphasized that those identified has having "complete mental health" often have the best



outcomes, but those identified as SBC also have benefits, that is attributed to the protective nature of SWB. This model is summarized in Figure 1.

	Level of SWB	
Levels of Psychopathology	Low	High
Low	Vulnerable	Complete Mental Health
High	Troubled	Symptomatic but Content

Figure 1. Mental Health Status-Dual Factor Model of Mental Health (Suldo, 2016)

Based on the interest of this study in high school students and physical health outcomes, a summary of a dual factor model study is provided to further explain the relevance of SWB. Suldo and colleagues (2016) sought to examine the dual factor model of mental health in a diverse population (34% Hispanic; 50% Free and Reduced Lunch) of 500 American youth from two high schools 9<sup>th</sup> through 11<sup>th</sup> grade (14 to 18 years old; M= 15.27 years old). This study examined the influence of mental health status in relation to academic attitudes, perceptions of physical health, identity development, social support, and romantic relationship satisfaction.

The results of between-group comparisons were consistent with prior research, whereas adolescents who met criteria for complete mental health (i.e., average to high SWB) reported greater academic self-perceptions, social adjustment, and increased satisfaction with their physical health than those students that were classified into the vulnerable mental health group (i.e., low levels of SWB and low to average levels of psychopathology symptoms). Additionally, those students who were classified into the SBC mental health group had greater academic self-perceptions, attitudes towards school, health satisfaction, self-concept, self-esteem, and meaningful activity involvement, when compared to their peers with comparable levels of psychopathology (i.e., troubled adolescents). Also, these students had greater perceived social support from parents, classmates, teachers, as well as increased romantic satisfaction and less



peer victimization as compared to those students classified as troubled. In sum, in the described sample of high school adolescents, SWB has been associated with various positive outcomes across multiple domains, all of that are relative to school success. Taking this literature into account with the various other studies examining both SWB and psychopathology and interrelated constructs, the importance of examining both is championed. Therefore, this study provides evidence for beneficial outcomes in a sample of high school youth, the target population of this proposed study.

#### The Relationship Between Physical Health and Subjective Well-Being

One factor identified in the literature that positively correlates with SWB is physical health (Diener & Chan, 2011). Bray and colleagues (2004) have proposed that increased SWB serves as a protective factor against anxiety, that decreases the arousal of the sympathetic and parasympathetic automatic nervous systems, and in turn strengthens the connection between these systems and the immune system, endocrine system, and subsequently physical health in children with chronic anxiety. Kobau and colleagues (2011) have emphasized how positive emotions have beneficial impacts in terms of physical health: decreased risk of disease, illness, and injury, and in turn is predictive of longevity. Increased levels of SWB are associated with greater physical health and longevity of life and that positive emotions are associated with better immune system functioning, quicker recovery from illness, and increased longevity of life (Diener, 2000; Moor et al., 2014). Positive emotions have also been linked to more favorable physical health outcomes. For example, Carver and Scheier (1993) indicated that optimistic coronary artery bypass surgery patients recovered quicker throughout their first six months than their non-optimistic peers, while laugher has been associated with increased immune system functioning (Mahony et al., 2002).



Diener and Chan (2011) conducted a literature review examining the relationship between positive mental health and mortality and found that increased SWB was associated with greater life expectancy in 26 studies published between 1989 and 2010. This phenomenon was found to be present across various populations including New England residents (Kubzansky et al., 2001), Dutch (Koopmans et al., 2001), Scandinavians (Lyrra et al., 2006), Mexican Americans (Ostir et al., 2000), and Japanese adults (Shirai et al., 2009). Diener and Chan (2011) also referenced 17 studies published between 1996 and 2009 that examined the relationship between specific illnesses and SWB. The overwhelming finding across these studies indicated that SWB was predictive of illness, particularly disease progression in cardiovascular disease (Nabi et al., 2008). Other illnesses included in this review that had a relationship with levels of SWB were cancer (Hamilton et al., 1996), psychiatric disorders (Koivumaa-Honkanen et al., 2004), diabetes (Shen et al., 2008), and high blood pressure (Ostir et al., 2001). However, it was noted that no causal links can be drawn between the studies reviewed by Diener and Chan (2011) based on their reported study design.

A study completed by Suldo and Shaffer (2008) sought to identify differences in physical health outcomes (e.g., general health perceptions, bodily pain) in a sample of 349 American middle school students (6<sup>th</sup> through 8<sup>th</sup> grade). This study grouped students based on their levels of SWB and psychopathology aligned with the dual-factor model of mental health. Tukey post hoc comparison tests indicated differences between groups with similar levels of psychopathology (i.e., CMH and vulnerable; SBC and troubled). Specifically, groups that reported average to high levels of SWB (i.e., CMH= 4.12, SBC=3.81) reported higher general health perceptions scores on the Child Health Questionnaire-Child Form 87 (CHQ-CF87;



Landgraf et al., 1999) when compared to those groups that reported low levels of SWB (i.e., Vulnerable=3.71, Troubled=3.29).

Furthermore, Shaffer-Hudkins and colleagues (2010) found in a follow-up study of the same data set that SWB was identified as the most prominent predictor ( $\beta$  = .25) of reported physical health, as compared to psychopathology (i.e., internalizing and externalizing concerns). Similarly, as described earlier, SWB was found to be associated with constructs of physical health (i.e., health satisfaction, activity limitations as measured on The Children's Health and Illness Profile-Adolescent Edition [CHIP-AE; Starfield et al., 1995]; Suldo et al., 2016) in a sample of high school students whereas the dual factor model of mental health was utilized to distinguish the positive nature of increased SWB. Both studies incorporated comprehensive measures of physical wellness and SWB (i.e., affect and life satisfaction components).

Friedman and Kern (2014) identified the Correlated Outcomes Model that provides a theoretical rationale for the links between SWB and reported physical health and how these factors are longitudinally associated with lifestyle patterns serving as mediating variable. Core components of this model include positive associations between SWB and reported physical health over multiple time points of an individual's life. The role of life style patterns mediates the influence between both factors. Genetic predispositions serve as a theoretically moderating variable for the relationship between SWB and reported physical health. Interestingly, this model also accounts for the impact of biomedical interventions on sustaining physical health. The origin of this model stems from an eight-year study of 900 adult individuals during that poor physical health was predictive of decreased life satisfaction, whereas decreased life satisfaction was not in turn predictive of poor physical health across multiple time points (Gana et al., 2013). These researchers rationalized that based on how life satisfaction serves as a core construct of


SWB, it may be in turn linked to physical wellness, from a bottom up viewpoint. This model is displayed in Figure 2.



Figure 2. Correlated Outcomes Model (Friedman & Kern, 2014).

In sum, subjective well-being is a positive psychology construct that has revealed various beneficial outcomes (i.e., social support, physical health) in studies of youth and adolescents (Kern et al., 2014; Suldo & Shaffer, 2008). From initial studies that solely examined life satisfaction to the more comprehensive categorization practices of utilizing the dual factor model of mental health, it is clear the application of positive psychology concepts (i.e., PERMA) is becoming embedded within the literature. Per Suldo (2016), the literature pertaining to the wellbeing of youth and adolescents has vastly expanded throughout the 21<sup>st</sup> century and further research should examine correlates that are associated with well-being. This study hopes to provide evidence of potential links between indicators of physical and mental health.

## **Health-Related Behaviors and Physical Functioning**

Various daily behaviors exhibited by humans are linked to mental and physical health outcomes. In terms of physical health, both "health-promoting," those that facilitate physical



health, and "health-compromising behaviors," those that inhibit physical health, have been identified in the literature. These viewpoints mirror the positive (i.e., SWB) and negative indicators (i.e., psychopathology) that have been examined in mental health research (Keyes, 2002; 2009). The current literature base provides an understanding of various behaviors, a conceptualization of both promoting and compromising behaviors, and the outcomes that are associated with engaging in both types of behaviors.

Similar to the medical model that has been utilized in mental health research, prior research on health behaviors focused solely on health-compromising behaviors, particularly in adolescent populations as substance utilization has become a more prevalent over time (Lynch et al., 2015). Additionally, the focus on dietary practices has also been extensively examined in tandem with the obesity crisis throughout all age demographics in the United States (Elbert, Dijkstra, & Rozema, 2017). The Youth Risk Behavior Surveillance System (YRBSS; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and Prevention, 2018) is the most commonly used tool to assess student's engagement in health-comprising behaviors among high school students. The YRBSS includes a national school-based, state, and local surveys, that are state and local surveys that are utilized to identify the prevalence rates of adolescent behaviors as well as inform public policy and improve programs. Specifically, tobacco use, alcohol and other substance use, risky sexual behaviors, unhealthy dietary practices, physical inactivity, and risk behaviors that contribute to unintentional injury and violence are all thoroughly examined. The data collected from the administration of this survey has been complied into a longitudinal data set that currently provides data from 1991 through 2017. Surveys are distributed every two years and the school response rate (75%; 2017) and student response rate (81%; 2017) has been consistently high. The most recent data collected included a sample of public, Catholic, and other non-public



schools with students in at least one of the high school grades (9<sup>th</sup> through 12<sup>th</sup> grade; 14,956 students in 144 schools) in each of the 50 states and the District of Columbia. Over 40 journal articles have been published since 2013 utilizing this dataset.

The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2018) indicated at least 50% of adolescents consistently engage in at least one of these health-compromising behaviors, yet the trends of engagement in various behavior have been rather mixed over time. More specifically, in terms of risk-taking behaviors, 39.20% of high school student participants nationwide indicated they had texted or e-mailed while driving during the 30 days prior to survey completion (as compared to the 62.8% who indicated they drove a car or other vehicle during the 30 days prior to the survey; Center for Disease Control and Prevention, 2018). Also, although the trends in sexually active teens has decreased within the last 10 years (48% in 2007; 40% in 2017), the utilization of various contraceptive methods (e.g., condoms) has decreased from 62% (2007) to 54% (2017) within the last decade. In terms of substance utilization, alcohol use (29.8%), marijuana use (19.8%) and the utilization of a substance that was not prescribed (14%) were the most prevalent as of the last YRBSS administration (Center for Disease Control and Prevention, 2018). In addition, illicit substance utilization has also decreased (e.g., use of cocaine, heroin, inhalants) from 2007 reports (23% vs 14% in 2017). However, one in seven high school students reported the utilization of prescription opioids in 2017, that is associated with an increased risk for further substance dependency long term. Various literature has attributed this trend to the opioid crisis that currently exists in the United States (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2018; Johnston et al., 2018).

Regarding nutrition and exercise, sedentary activities (e.g., video game and/or computer use for 3+ hours a day for activities not school or work related; Kann et al., 2018) were endorsed



by 43% of participants who completed the Youth Risk Behavior Survey (YRBS), a representative household-based survey that is imbedded within the YRBSS. Also, 15.4% of participants had not engaged in physical activity for a total of at least 60 minutes on at least 1 day during the 7 days prior to the survey. Finally, in accordance with the national childhood obesity crisis, a significant portion of respondents were identified as obese (14.8%; >95<sup>th</sup> percentile for body mass index) or overweight (15.6%; > 85<sup>th</sup> percentile for body mass index). Various health-compromising behaviors have been associated increased rates of psychopathology, including depression (Yu et al., 2017).

The purpose of this YRBSS census is to assist in the formulation of policy and program development to promote health and well-being for the entire population. However, Eaton and colleagues (2012) indicated various school-based health promotion programs have a minimum effect at reducing health-compromising behaviors in that adolescents engage, particularly in terms of the long-term engagement. These authors also noted that many prevention and intervention programs solely focus on one behavior and there is a need for programs that promote holistic health and engagement in multiple health-promoting behaviors. Therefore, an approach that champions the promotion of wellness is warranted. Harris and colleagues (2005) have noted that schools serve as an optimal place to promote health decision making in students based on the ability to deliver services to all students within a public health framework. Kobau and colleagues (2011) have also referenced that interventions tailored at increasing SWB align with a public health perspective. Specifically, SWB could be increased through organizational structures as opposed to tailoring interventions solely at the individual level. This viewpoint promotes the widespread utilization of positive psychology interventions to increase the quality of the human experience and supports a full spectrum of wellness with both mental and physical



health components. Additionally, the promotion of SWB, positive mental health, and the links between mental and physical wellness could help contribute to a reduction in stigma regarding mental illness.

In line with a positive psychology approach, health-promotion will be discussed with greater breadth and depth based on the focus of the proposed study. Health promotion has been defined by O'Donnel (2009, p. iv) as "the art and science of helping people discover the synergies between their core passions and optimal health, enhancing their motivation to strive for optimal health, and supporting them in changing their lifestyle to move toward a state of optimal health. Optimal health is a dynamic balance of physical, emotional, social, spiritual, and intellectual health." Conner and Norman (2017) have championed further health promotion exploration based on the complexity and long-lasting impact of physical health and behavioral patterns throughout the lifespan. Based on this literature, further exploration is needed in terms of positive mental health, particularly in adolescent populations. Although health-compromising behaviors have been more frequently examined and assessed in adolescent populations (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 2018; Kann et al., 2018; Spear & Kulbock, 2001), there is a growing literature base that supports the need to assess for these adaptive behaviors (Musavian et al., 2014; Persch et al., 2015). Some more commonly assessed health-promoting behaviors include adhering to a healthy and nutritious diet (e.g., includes ample servings of fruits and vegetables), and engaging in regular exercise (e.g., at least one hour of physical activity per day; Bourke-Taylor et al., 2012; Conner & Norman, 2017). Practicing good sleep hygiene habits (e.g., at least 8 hours of sleep per night for an adolescent; Lemola, Ledermann, & Friedman, 2013; Weinberg et al., 2016) has been more recently identified in the literature, as more is discovered about sleep habits and disorders.



It is vital for adolescents to engage in various health-promoting behaviors (Harris et al., 2005; Musavian et al., 2014; Persch et al., 2015). Specifically, due to the increased cognitive capacity and rapid changes in mind and body (e.g., onset of puberty, and desire for autonomy), this is a time point when adolescents could begin the practices of certain routines (e.g., healthy diet and exercise practices). Engagement in various health-promoting behaviors prior to leaving home could facilitate continuous practice throughout the lifespan. However, Harris and colleagues (2005) have noted adolescents engage in more risk-taking behaviors when compared to any other age groups. Therefore, although the literature has identified there is an increased frequency of these behaviors, adolescents also are capable of developing skills to manage their own behaviors with a greater capacity, and in turn decrease the frequency of these behaviors and comply with healthier lifestyle choices.

Prior research by Pender, Murdaugh, and Parson (2005) has led to the development of a theoretical framework that examines the various cognitive, affective, and social factors that contribute to an individual's lifestyle in terms of health-promotion and in turn physical health. Rather than focusing on disease prevention alone, this model seeks to examine measures taken to ensure quality physical health. Pender (2011) has referenced the key concepts that serve as the basis for the Health Promotion Model including the person (e.g., a biopsychological organism that can be shaped by their environment), the environment (e.g., social, cultural, and physical context of an individual's life that can be manipulated in terms of health by health-promoting or compromising behaviors), health (e.g., an individual's goal directed behaviors, competent self-care, satisfying relationships, adjustments made in response to environmental factors, and an ever evolving human experience), and illness (e.g., either acute or chronic that impair overall health). The examination of these factors is vital when evaluating the likelihood of engaging in



health-promoting behaviors and the individual's own sense of self-efficacy, or individual beliefs pertaining to their ability to be successful at a task. This theoretical framework was initially developed during the 1980's to enhance the ability of nurses to promote health and well-being, whereas also examining factors that could have a negative impact on one's lifestyle (e.g., social influences). Pender's Health Promotion Model is displayed in Figure 3.



Figure 3. Pender Health Promotion Model (Pender, 2011).

Research in terms of this theoretical underpinning has been primarily focused on adult populations, with over 100 published studies incorporating Pender's Health Promotion Model (Srof et al., 2002). However, less emphasis has been placed on the examination of this model in children and adolescents (Garcia et al., 1995; Garcia et al., 1998; Pender et al., 2002; Wu & Pender, 2002) as there are few peer reviewed studies. One study completed by Ayres and Pontes (2018) sought to further investigate Pender's Health Promotion Model in a convenience sample of 122 United States adolescents who resided in an urban neighborhood (13-18 years old).



Results from this study found a positive correlation between health responsibility and neighborhood order perception (e.g., thoughts and feelings about safety factors related to neighborhood). These findings led to further interpretation of this theoretical model as illustrating that if an adolescent feels that their neighborhood has more order than disorder, as well as more embedded resources, engagement in health-promoting behaviors is more feasible (e.g., exercise). Whereas, crime and drug trafficking in more disorganized or less socially supportive neighborhoods might deter from exercising in one's neighborhood, if at all. Therefore, this study mirrors the theoretical perspective of Pender and the premise that many factors influence one's ability to engage in various health-promoting behaviors.

#### **Measurement of Health-Promoting Behaviors**

Throughout the 21<sup>st</sup> century the most commonly studied health-related behaviors were substance utilization (e.g., cigarette smoking, illicit drugs, alcohol), sexual and contraceptive behaviors, risk taking behavior (e.g., texting when driving, emailing when driving, seat belt use), as well as nutritional practices and exercise habits (Conner & Norman, 2017; Spear & Kulbock, 2001). However, a consistent trend has been the examination of a single health behavior (Holder et al., 2009; Lai, 2018; Mack et al., 2012; Weinberg et al., 2016), with few studies providing a comprehensive examination of a combination of health-promoting behaviors (Blake et al., 2017; Levy, 2003; Shaffer-Hudkins, 2011). Also, the measurement method of specific behaviors has varied across studies that is described for each health-related behavior below. More recently, the development and utilization of consistent measures that are valid and reliable in the measurement of health-promoting behaviors are examined.

A measure that has been cited within the literature that comprehensively assesses healthpromoting practices is the Adolescent Health Promotion Scale (Chen et al., 2003; AHPS). The



original questionnaire included 40 items that examined six constructs of healthy behavior: nutrition (e.g., "I eat three meals daily"), exercise behavior (e.g., "Warm up before rigorous exercise), social support (e.g., "Make an effort to have good friendships"), health responsibility (e.g., "I watch my weight"), life appreciation (e.g., "I smile or laugh every day."), and stress management (e.g., "I make an effort to watch my mood changes") on a 4-point Likert scale. The Adolescent Health Promotion Scale-Short Form (AHPS-SF; Chen et al., 2014) was recently developed to provide a more concise, yet still comprehensive assessment of the various healthpromoting behaviors. This 21-item measure has yielded adequate reliability and validity with the original measure (Chen et al. 2003) construct validity, convergent validity, discriminant validity, and internal consistency. Despite the various behaviors that are examined within these measures, the assessment of sleep and abstinence from substance utilization cannot be overlooked in terms of the impact of these health behaviors on SWB.

One of the more commonly studied health-promoting behaviors is in the form of physical activity (Yao & Ryan, 2015). A variety of measures have been utilized to measure this construct: self-report measures for engagement in physical activity (Berge et al., 2014; Yao & Ryan 2015), activity logs, and direct observations of movement (Dowda et al., 2011), while youth have worn an accelerometer or heart rate monitors tracking their movement (Langer et al., 2014; Lawman & Wilson, 2014; Yao & Ryan 2015). Each of these forms of measurement attempts to identify the nature, duration, and frequency of physical activity during a specific time (e.g., throughout the course of a week, or during the past month). Despite the depth of these forms of measurement, many studies have solely incorporated parent report measures for outcome variables (Alderman et al., 2010; Loprinzi et al., 2010; Loprinzi et al., 2013). Sirard and colleagues (2013) identified that self-report measures have adequate



reliability and validity in high school students, regarding their physical activity levels based on a study that examined the correlations between various self-report measures of physical activity, Accelerometer data and weight measurements.

Dietary habits are another frequently assessed health-related behavior (Tabacchi et al., 2014), especially due to the increased levels of obesity that exist in the United States. However, Tabacchi and colleagues (2014) indicated a gold standard of measurement for this behavior is lacking. This behavior is often studied in tandem (e.g., either in the same study, same measure, or different measures) with physical exercise in various studies. Johnson and colleagues (2002) found that most measures examine nutritious intake through various measures including dietary records, food frequency questionnaires, and dietary recall. Hann and colleagues (2001) identified that self-report measures of diet typically include measures of fats, proteins, fruits, and vegetables. Body mass index, self-reported snacking, and temptation to eat have also been tailored into various measures. Some literature exists that has indicated recalling dietary practices may be difficult based on the retrospective nature of these practices, the sensitivity of various measures (e.g., within the last 30 days) and general underestimation of consumption or overestimated adherence to healthy diet practices (Albar et al., 2016; Jiang et al., 2014). Daily adherence to self-report food logs also have been difficult to implement. There are measures that exist, such as the Adolescent Food Habits Checklist (AFHC; Johnson et al., 2002), that seeks to assess participant's general perceptions of their dietary habits (e.g., "If I am having lunch away from home, I often choose a low-fat option."), as opposed to within a specific timeline or a focus on the amount of a particular food that is ingested.

Another commonly examined health-related behavior in youth is illicit substance utilization. Various large-scale studies are conducted each year to monitor engagement in these



health-compromising behaviors, such as the YRBSS (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 2018) that has been previously described in this chapter. Monitoring the Future (MTF) is another longitudinal study (N = 43,700 students in 360 high schools across the nation) that seeks to examine substance utilization in adolescents through survey research (Johnston et al., 2018). The utilization of substances is considered a health-compromising behavior based on the longterm negative health impacts (e.g., lung cancer and tobacco products). However, examining this behavior from the viewpoint of individuals own refusal to engage in these behaviors could be studied in the context of health-promoting behaviors (i.e., abstinence; low scores on measure assessing substance utilization). Shaffer-Hudkins (2011) sought to examine adolescents' perceptions and beliefs as they pertained to substance utilization, based on the age of the sample size (6<sup>th</sup> through 8<sup>th</sup> grade students) and the hypothesized low rates of exposure to and utilization of illicit substances. Perceptions of substance utilization is incorporated into studies that examine younger populations, based on their limited exposure to these behaviors (Mrug et al., 2010). In this study, abstinence from utilization of alcohol and tobacco products was examined with the intent to increase the understanding of the relationship between refraining from substances and self-reported levels of SWB, aligned with a health-promoting perspective.

Since the turn of the 21<sup>st</sup> century, the importance of sleep and its relationship to mental health, relationships between decreased sleep quality and increased levels of childhood psychopathology or behavioral issues have been identified (Alfano et al., 2009; Wolfson et al., 2015). Measures of adolescent sleep patterns and hygiene are infrequently included in empirical studies. Ji and Liu (2016) conducted a literature review and indicated there are currently 13 selfreport or parent-reported sleep measures that have strong psychometric properties. Specifically, this review indicated that six measures were generic instruments that assessed for overall sleep



quality and frequency of nighttime disturbances. Another five measures were dimension-specific (e.g., daytime sleepiness, sleep hygiene), and two measures were insomnia focused instruments. Each of the measures that were discussed in this literature review were focused on assessing sleep and related information in youth ages 11 to 18 years old.

In terms of specific sleep disorders, the Children's Sleep Habits Questionnaire (CSHQ: Owens, Spirito, & McGuinn, 2000) is a 40-item measure that assesses various components of children's sleep habits including: nutritional behaviors, exercise behaviors, social support, stress management, health responsibility, and life appreciation. The Sleep Disorders Inventory for Students (SDIS: Luginbuehl et al., 2008) was developed for school-based practice to assist in the screening of students who may be experiencing symptoms of the most common sleep disorders (e.g., obstructive sleep apnea syndrome, narcolepsy, restless leg syndrome; Owens et al., 2000). A strength of this measure is the use of unique child and adolescent report forms and computerbased score reports with recommendations to facilitate a higher quality night's sleep. Both the CSHQ and SDIS rely solely on parental report. Various measures have identified the patterns that youth engage in to facilitate a quality night's sleep (e.g. bedtime, regular sleep-wake schedule). An example of a domain specific measure, the Adolescent Sleep Hygiene Scale (Lebourgeois et al., 2005) is a 33-item measure assessing sleep hygiene across eight subscales (bedtime routine, substances, daytime sleepiness, stability, physiological, behavioral arousal, cognitive/emotional factors, and sleep environment factors) that is completed by adolescents in a self-report format. This was the only assessment tool that was included in this review that was specifically focused on sleep hygiene practices. In sum, the literature indicates the assessment of sleep disorders and disturbances has been heavily conceptualized through parental report measures, while sleep hygiene may be assessed through an adolescent self-report measure.



Researchers have indicated various health-related behaviors may be interrelated, despite their individual conceptualization in the literature (Busch et al., 2013; Spear & Kulbock, 2001). For example, Busch and colleagues (2013) found in a sample of 2,690 Dutch high school students, clusters of health-compromising behaviors (i.e., alcohol use, drug use, risky sexual behavior, and sedentary lifestyle) were found to be predictive of long-term negative health and psychosocial outcomes. In a nationally representative sample of over 11,000 high school students, those who engaged in low physical activity (i.e., less than two days engaging in exercise) were also at increased risk to report diets that had low rates of fruits and vegetable consumption (Heath et al., 1994). Therefore, further research into the relationship between these variables (i.e., global versus specific assessment of various health related behaviors; relationships between health-promoting behaviors) and their association with positive mental health sis warranted.

# Prior Studies of Health-Promoting Behaviors and SWB: Transitioning Towards a Model of Comprehensive Wellness

The positive psychology movement can be strongly embedded within the health psychology discipline to develop methodologies that allow for an encompassing assessment of wellness (Kobau et al., 2012). Various literature (Harris et al., 2005; Persch et al., 2015) has emphasized that healthy habits have positive long-term developmental impacts throughout the lifetime, therefore continued research is needed. A summary of studies that have previously examined the relationship between various combinations of health-promoting, healthcompromising, and health-related behaviors and some measurement of well-being is provided below. Interestingly, the literature base is surprisingly scarce in older American adolescent samples, particularly as this is the age group where a high incidence of health-compromising



behaviors occurs (e.g., substance utilization, risk-taking behaviors; Harris et al., 2005; Persch et al., 2015; Li et al., 2012).

#### Levy (2003)

Levy (2003) examined the relationship between health-related behaviors and SWB in a sample of 457 undergraduate students (M = 19 years old). To comprehensively examine the health-related behaviors of interest, Levy included measures of health-compromising behaviors (i.e., risky sexual behaviors, substance utilization, drinking and driving,) and health-promoting behaviors (i.e., exercise, healthy diet, responsible drinking, protective sexual behaviors, sleep regimen). Well-Being was measured through two scales: The Satisfaction with Life Scale (SWLW; Diener et al., 1985) and the Index of Psychological Well-Being (Berkman, 1971), that is a measure designed to examine mental health in the general population. Findings showed that a combination of all the health-related behaviors (e.g., comprising and promoting) and psychological variables (e.g., depression, fighting) in this study accounted for 28% of the variance in life satisfaction and 40% of the variance in emotional well-being. The combination of health-promoting behaviors was particularly salient in predicting differences in the variance in life satisfaction ( $R^2 = .08$ , p < .001). The described measures utilized to assess SWB and the various health-promoting behaviors are summarized in Table 1.

#### Lindberg and Swanberg (2006)

Lindberg and Swanberg (2006) conducted in a sample of 807, 6<sup>th</sup> grade Swedish students (across 18 schools) examined psychological well-being and its relationship with a host of psychosocial factors, including various health-promoting behaviors (e.g., dietary habits, safety habits). Participants completed a singular question (e.g., "How are you these days?") that served as the indicator of well-being. Specifically, participants were dichotomized as either having



good well-being (i.e., endorsing "very well," or "rather well") or poor well-being (i.e., endorsing "neither good, nor poor," "rather poor," or "very poor"). These researchers also assessed dietary habits (i.e., four questions pertaining to a fruits, vegetables, and healthy snacks consumption) and safety habits (i.e., three questions pertaining to bicycle helmet and seat belt utilization).

Regression analyses indicated that safety habits were not predictive of increased levels of well-being (Lindberg & Swanberg, 2006). However, eating behaviors, with five other psychosocial variables assessed (e.g., relation to school, relation to parents) were associated with increased levels of well-being (odds ratio OR = 3.01, p < .001). The findings from this study indicated an association between a health-promoting behavior (i.e., dietary practice) and increased levels of SWB. Therefore, replication in an American sample is warranted, particularly with a more comprehensive, valid assessment of psychological wellness, that the current study sought to emulate. The described measures utilized to assess SWB and the various health-promoting behaviors are summarized in Table 1.

#### Piko (2006)

Piko (2006) examined the predictive ability of self-perception of health-related behaviors (i.e., dieting practices, substance utilization, regular exercise) and participants' perceived life satisfaction, as identified by completing Satisfaction with Life Scale (Diener, Emmons, Larsen, & Griffin, 1985). This study was conducted with a sample of 1,114 secondary students (M = 16.5 years old, range of 14-21 years old) in Hungary. Regarding the reporting of perceived health, a revised version of the Children's Depression Inventory (Kovacs, 1992) was tailored to include various questions that were related to the health-related variables of interest. Specifically, the measure provided a question pertaining to tobacco use, substance use, and alcohol use during the past three months. The measure also included two questions pertaining to



diet and exercise practices during the past three months. Therefore, a singular question was utilized for each of the examined health-related behaviors.

The results of this study indicated that dieting practices were positively associated with increased life satisfaction and predictive of 12% of the variance, while smoking was negatively associated with decreased life satisfaction and predictive of 6% of the variance (Piko, 2006). Exercise habits, alcohol use, and substance utilization were not associated with life satisfaction in this study. Throughout this review of the literature, studies that incorporate comprehensive measures that serve as indicators of wellness (e.g., physical and mental health) are needed to examine this complex relationship. The described measures utilized to assess SWB and the various health-promoting behaviors are summarized in Table 1.

#### Holder and colleagues (2009)

Holder and colleagues examined various health-related behaviors and well-being in a sample of 375 elementary school children (8-12 years old). This study sought to examine physical activity habits of youth through the inclusion of both parental and participant perceptions of their engagement in "active leisure activities (i.e., participation in sports, a health-promoting behavior)" and "passive leisure activities (i.e., screen time, a health-compromising behavior)". The assessment of these behaviors was assessed through a series of 10 questions on a non-standardized measure that was developed for utilization in this study: six of the questions were focused on active leisure activities (e.g., 'Last week, how many hours did you do athletic activities?, 'How involved are your parents in your athletic activities?') and four of the questions were focused on passive leisure activities (i.e., 'How many hours last week did you spend watching television?'; 'How many hours did you talk on the phone?'). Parents completed a separate form that had questions that were specifically tailored to their perceptions (e.g., 'Child's



sports ability", "Importance of child's participation in a sport."). In terms of the measurement of well-being, both parents and youth participants utilized the Faces scale (Holder & Coleman, 2008; Likert scale of positive and negative emotionally based faces) to indicate their feelings on a Likert scale.

Findings indicated that when considering parental and youth perceptions, active leisure activities were positively related with well-being while passive leisure activities were linked to decreased perceptions of well-being (Holder et al., 2009). Multiple regression analyses for youth perceptions indicated that a significant portion (16%) of the variance in well-being could be attributed to the combination of participants responses on three questions: "Your sports ability," "Importance of sports to parents," and "Sports make you feel," with the latter question being a standalone significant predictor (6% of the variance). Parental perceptions of children's participation in physical activity was only predictive of 3% of the variance in well-being, with the question "Importance of child in a sport (2%)" serving as the only significant predictor. In terms of engagement in leisure activities, neither parent or youth perceptions of engagement in leisure activities contributed to the variance in levels of well-being. This study provides insight into interrelated health-promoting and health-compromising behaviors, that should be replicated in other samples, with more encompassing measures. The described measures utilized to assess well-being and the various health-promoting behaviors are summarized in Table 1.

## Shaffer-Hudkins (2011)

Shaffer-Hudkins (2011) examined the relationship between multiple health-promoting behaviors and SWB in a sample of 246 American middle school students in perhaps the most comprehensive study to date in a sample of youth. In this study, participants completed selfreport measures of dietary habits, physical activity, sleep hygiene, safety habits, and their



attitudes towards substance utilization. The SWB variable was a composite of scores on the SLSS (Huebner, 1991a; 1991b) and the PANAS-C (27 items version; Laurent et al., 1999) and various health-promoting behaviors of interest were included in the study design (i.e., diet, exercise, sleep hygiene, perceptions of substance utilization, risk taking behaviors).

The findings from this study indicated that increased amounts of sleep per night and attitudes toward substance utilization were significantly correlated with participants reported levels of SWB (Shaffer-Hudkins, 2011). Specifically, when examining the linear combination of the five health behaviors, these accounted for 15% of the variance in SWB. However, attitudes towards substance utilization was the only significant predictor. Shaffer-Hudkins (2011) also sought to examine the influence of specific demographic characteristics (e.g., race, SES, gender) on SWB, yet no significant main or moderating effect interactions were noted. The described measures utilized to assess SWB and the various health-promoting behaviors utilized by Shaffer-Hudkins are summarized in Table 1. This study did have certain limitations in terms of the sample that was collected (e.g., 80% were categorized as Caucasian) and all the participants were enrolled at one school. The current proposed study hopes to mirror components of the study completed by Shaffer-Hudkins (2011) to further enhance the understanding between various health-promoting behaviors and a comprehensive assessment of well-being. However, the researcher recruited a sample size that was larger and more diverse. Also, based on the age group of interest for the current study, other empirically validated measures that provided a more comprehensive viewpoint were able to be utilized.

#### Mack and colleagues (2012)

Mack and colleagues (2012) examined the relationship between health enhancing physical activity and various forms of well-being. Specifically, these researchers incorporated



outcome variables in the forms of hedonic well-being (HWB; aligned with SWB; comprised of life satisfaction, positive, and negative affect) and Eudemonic Well-Being (EWB; Ryff, 1989). EWB references an individual's ability to reach their true potential and has been linked with engagement in activities that challenge one's abilities. EWB has been conceptualized across domains: life purpose, environmental mastery, personal growth, positive relationships with others, autonomy, and self-acceptance.

This study involved multiple phases (6 months apart) and included data collection at two separate time points (Time 1, N = 243; Time 2, N = 198) in samples of undergraduate females (Time 1: M = 18.61 years old, SD = 1.05 years; Time 2: M = 19.76 years old; SD = 2.21) enrolled at one university (Mack et al., 2012). This sample was primarily comprised of students who identified as Caucasian (92.20% of sample). At each time point during this study, participants completed the Short Questionnaire to Assess Health-Enhancing Physical Activity Scale (Squash; Wendel-Vos et al., 2003) that provides a total score for activity level across various domains (e.g., activities at work or school, household activities). Hedonic Well-Being was assessed through a combination of measures: The Satisfaction with Life Scale (SWLS; Diener et al., 1985) and the Positive Affect Negative Affect Schedule (PANAS; Watson, Clark, & Tellegen, 1988). EWB was assessed through participants' scores on the Scales of Psychological Well-Being (SPWB; Ryff, 1989) that has been utilized to examine EWB and its six core components described above.

The results at the first time point indicated that increased levels of health enhancing physical activity were associated with increased levels of HWB and EWB (Mack et al., 2012). Also, this same trend was observed during the longitudinal portion of the study, whereas changes in health enhancing physical activity between the two time points were associated with increases



in HWB and EWB. However, health related physical activity predicted a significant portion of the variance for each of the following constructs: HWB-satisfaction with life ( $R^2$ =.11), HWBpositive affect ( $R^2$ =.15), HWB-negative affect ( $R^2$ =.03), EWB-positive growth ( $R^2$ =.08), and EWB-purpose in life ( $R^2$ =.11). The authors noted based on the cross-sectional nature of the design, it was cumbersome to determine the directionality of these behaviors. Specifically, the authors reference similarities with Lyubomirsky and colleagues (2005) who identified that those who reported higher SWB typically engage in greater amounts of physical activity. In sum, these findings provide further evidence for the importance of a singular health-promoting behavior (i.e., physical activity) and the positive link between multiple forms of well-being (i.e., HWB, EWB) in a sample of early college students at multiple time points. The described measures utilized to assess SWB and the various health-promoting behaviors are summarized in Table 1.

#### Gadermann and colleagues (2016)

Gadermann and colleagues (2016) examined the association between various healthrelated behaviors and life satisfaction in a sample of 5,026 Canadian 4<sup>th</sup> grade students (M=9.70 years old) from 121 elementary schools. Additionally, components of connectedness with adults and peers in the school were incorporated into this study design. Participants in this study completed the Satisfaction with Life Scale adapted for Children, that was based on Diener's (1985) satisfaction with life scale. Additionally, participants completed ratings of their overall health (i.e., single question on a 4-point Likert scale), nutrition (i.e., two items on a 5-point Likert scale), sleep (i.e., one item on a 5-point scale), physical activity (i.e., reported their participation in physical activity after school throughout the school week), and each were adapted from the BC Adolescent Health Survey (McCreary Centre Society, 2008). Each



participant also completed ratings of their levels of connectedness with adult and peers that were adapted from previous measures (California Healthy Kids Survey—Middle School Questionnaire; Constantine & Benard 2001; Relational Provisional Loneliness Questionnaire [RPLQ]; Hayden-Thomson 1989).

Using structural equation modeling, increased levels of life satisfaction were found to be predicted by breakfast frequency and after school team sports participation (Gadermann et al., 2016). Junk food frequency and later bedtime were significant predictors of decreased life satisfaction. In terms of overall physical health, both the health-related behaviors and the connectedness variables were found to be significant predictors of physical health. It was emphasized that within the various models embedded within this study, those that included connectedness variables contributed to a greater portion of the variance (life satisfaction = 26%, physical health = 15%), when compared to the models with health related-behaviors and activities (life satisfaction=4%, physical health = 6%). The authors identified the cross-sectional nature of this design as a limitation and championed for future research to be conducted in this area based on the positive impacts that both social support and health-related behaviors had on children's emotional well-being and self-reported levels of health. The described measures utilized to assess SWB and the various health-promoting behaviors are summarized in Table 1. Weinberg and colleagues (2016)

Weinberg and colleagues (2016) examined the influence of sleep quality on well-being in a sample of 488 Australian young adults (77% female; M = 28.71 years old, SD = 10.61 years). These participants were recruited through various social media online venues (e.g., Facebook, LinkedIn) and the authors indicated many of the participants in this study were full time students but did not provide specific information of the degrees or education level being sought. A series



of self-report measures were utilized to obtain information pertaining to participant's duration of sleep, dreams during the past week, well-being, and stress level, that was hypothesized to be a mediating factor within this study design. Specifically, participants completed the Personal Well-Being Index (International Well-Being Group, 2013) that is a 7-item measure, with the primary purpose of determining the life satisfaction of participants across various domains. This measure utilizes an 11-point Likert scale for each question to comprehensively assess perceptions of life satisfaction, an essential component of SWB. In terms of sleep quality, an altered version of the Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI; Buysse et al., 1989), a 19-item measure that assesses sleep quality and disturbances, was utilized. Lastly, participants indicated if they had experienced a bad dream during the prior week. Participants were then categorized into three groups based on the following criteria: participants who experiencing bad dreams during the past week (N = 139), participants who reported experiencing no bad dreams during the past week (N = 64), or participants who reported experiencing no bad dreams during the past week (N = 271).

The results of this study indicated the average score of well-being was lower in this sample, when compared to the average score of the Australian population (Weinberg et al., 2016). Also, the results of the path analysis indicated poor sleep quality was associated with decreased levels of well-being ( $\beta = -.43$ , p<.001). Additionally, when stress was incorporated into the mediating analysis, the relationship was still significant, indicating that the combination of poor sleep and stress contributed to decreased feelings of SWB ( $\beta$ = -.25, p<.001), and 29.1% of the variance in SWB was attributed to the linear combination of these variables. To further evaluate this relationship, each of the respective dream groups was compared. A series of ANOVA's and post hoc comparison tests indicated that those who indicated they had nightmares



during the previous week had diminished levels of SWB when compared to the other two groups. Also, those who were identified as having nightmares also had poorer sleep quality when compared to those who did not report frequently experiencing nightmares or bad dreams during the past week. The authors identified further research in this area is important based on the high prevalence of sleep disorders that often go unidentified in children (18-25% of general population; Owens et al., 2000; Owens et al., 2000). Also, the authors identified that further research examining both sleep quality (e.g., time spent in various sleep stages, obtaining adequate amounts of REM sleep) and sleep hygiene practices (e.g., maintaining a consistent bedtime) is warranted. However, there is currently a lack of empirically based interventions that can be utilized to facilitate greater sleep hygiene. In sum, these findings indicated sleep duration and quality both have a relationship with Australian adults' levels of SWB. The measures utilized to assess SWB and the various health-promoting behaviors are summarized in Table 1.

## Blake and colleagues (2017)

Blake and colleagues (2017) examined the relationship between various health-promoting behavior and SWB in an adult sample. The authors rationalized the engagement in health-promoting behaviors should be continuous throughout the life time, as chronic illnesses, disability, and other symptoms of some illnesses can be more regulated through a healthy lifestyle. Another goal of this study was to examine the impact of race and income on engagement in various behaviors. Participants in this study included 456 adults (M = 50.7 years old, SD = 11.97 years; 50% male; 44% completed a post-baccalaureate degree) who completed a series of online surveys as part of a larger research study (Graf & Patrick, 2014; 2015) that sought to examine the sexual attitudes and sexual health literacy of adults. The sample was diverse in terms of race (i.e., 25.9% African American, 19.1% Hispanic). In terms of health-



promoting behaviors, participants completed the Nutrition (9 items) and the Physical Activity (8 items) subscales of the Health-Promoting Lifestyle-Profile (HPLP II: Stark et al., 2010), that are both set to a 4-point Likert scale. Participants also completed three indicators of physical well-being, that assessed their global health that was taken from the Medical Outcomes Study Short Form-12 Health Survey (MOS SF-12; Ware et al., 1996). Regarding SWB measures, participants completed the Philadelphia Geriatric Center (PGC) Positive and Negative Affect scales (Lawton et al., 1992), a 10-item measure, with two five items subscales, respectively referencing positive and negative affect. Last, participants completed an unspecific global happiness measure that consisted of one item on a 7-point scale (M = 5.07, SD = 1.31).

Using structural equation modeling, a significant portion of the variance in emotional well-being (21%) was based on diet or exercise practices (Blake et al., 2017). Interestingly, these authors indicated that physical activity was found to be predictive of emotional and physical well-being, while healthy dieting practices was only predictive of emotional well-being. Therefore, it was emphasized that examining the longitudinal impact of each of these factors is warranted. In terms of demographic findings, both educational attainment and income were each related to perceptions of physical well-being, that path model analysis indicated that engagement in physical activity contributed to this indirect effect. In terms of emotional well-being, only income was predictive of differences in this sample, while no other demographics yielded any significant interactions. Regarding the engagement in both health-promoting behaviors, age, educational attainment and income, were predictive of healthy eating habits. Similarly, educational attainment and income were associated with a greater likelihood to engage in physical activity. The authors attributed these findings to the relationship between education and income with more resources, allowing for healthier lifestyle practices. In sum, this study



provides a greater understanding of the relationship between physical and mental wellness, the utilization of online survey methods to collect self-report data, and the importance of examining various demographic features. The measures utilized to assess SWB and the various healthpromoting behaviors are summarized in Table 1.

#### Lai (2018)

Lai (2018) examined the influence that sleep quality had on the relationship between personality (e.g., "Big Five" personality factors; Steel et al., 2008) and SWB (Lai, 2018). The participant data analyzed for this study was part of the larger Australian Household, Income, and Labor Dynamics Survey, a longitudinal study that collects national data in all adolescent citizens 15 years of age and older. The sample that was utilized in this cross-sectional study included 13,424 adult participants (53%; male M= 44.30 years old, SD= 18.20 years; range = 15-101 years old). In terms of SWB, participants completed a single item measure of life satisfaction (i.e., "All things considered, how satisfied are you with your life?"; Lucas and Donnellan, 2012) that was set to an 11 point-Likert Scale, as well as the Medical Outcomes Scale Short Form Health Survey (SF-36; Ware & Sherebourne, 1996) that is a nine-item measure of positive and negative affect, set to a 4-point Likert scale. The Pittsburg Sleep Quality Inventory (Buysse et al., 1989) was utilized to measure sleep quality. For the purposes of the described study, the five primary personality traits were assessed through utilization of a 36-item personality inventory developed by Saucier (1994).

The results indicated that sleep quality did have an impact on both personality traits and SWB (Lai, 2018). Specifically, in terms of SWB, decreased sleep quality was significantly predictive of the described variables: decreased life satisfaction ( $\beta = -.23$ ), decreased positive affect ( $\beta = -.31$ ), increased negative affect ( $\beta = .31$ ). Each of the 11 direct paths from the various



personality traits to SWB remained statistically significant ( $\beta = -.33$  to .30, p < .05) when global sleep quality was included in the model as a mediating factor. Therefore, the results of this study indicated the importance of obtaining adequate, quality sleep, that is associated factors of well-being but also personality, in a large representative sample of Australian adults. The authors of this study noted how examining the longitudinal stability of these factors as well as testing interventions through experimental designs is warranted in future research. The measures utilized to assess SWB and the various health-promoting behaviors are summarized in Table 1.

In sum, the review of the described studies has identified various associations between multiple health-related, health-comporting, and health-promoting behaviors on participants' positive indicators of mental health (e.g., SWB; Blake et al., 2017; Gadermann et al., 2016; Holder et al., 2009; Lai, 2018; Levy, 2003; Lindberg & Swanberg, 2006; Mack et al., 2012; Piko, 2006; Shaffer-Hudkins, 2011; Weinberg et al., 2016) in various samples throughout the lifespan. The measures utilized to assess SWB and the various health-promoting behaviors in each of the described studies are summarized in Table 1. Despite these positive findings, further examination of these variables through comprehensive measures is warranted. Specifically, reviewing this relationship in a sample of older American adolescents is warranted, based on the lack of a that assess multiple health-related behaviors, as well as the prevalence of obesity, substance utilization (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2018), and as knowledge of sleep disorders and the importance of sleep hygiene is enhanced (Alfano et al., 2009; Ji & Liu, 2016; Wolfson et al., 2015). Further investigation of multiple health-promoting behaviors (as opposed to solely one) can help in understanding how each contributes to SWB. Last, addressing health promotion during the adolescent years based on their autonomy, ability to make wise decisions,



and proximity to transitioning out of the home, provides further justification for this rationale (Harris et al., 2005; Persch et al., 2015; Li et al., 2012).

#### **Demographic Influences on Physical Health Indicators**

To comprehensively examine the relationship between mental wellness and health-related behaviors, it is vital to examine various demographic characteristics that could have an influence on the strength and direction within various relationships. Three primary demographic characteristics have been identified that yield differences between various subgroups within the realms of physical health, mental health, and health promotion, socioeconomic status, ethnicity, and gender (Craig et al, 2014; Hales et al., 2018; Spear & Kulbock, 2001). In terms of demographic differences with respect to SWB, few have been identified in the existing literature and it is generally conceptualized as a stable construct across all persons (Diener, 2000; Diener, Scollon, & Lucas, 2009; Huebner et al., 2006). However, since many studies have had samples that are primarily comprised of Caucasian youth, the continuous evaluation of this comprehensive assessment of well-being is warranted in diverse samples to uncover any distinguishable variances.

## **Gender Differences in Terms of Health-Related Behaviors**

Spear and Kulbock (2001) have identified that gender and race are two of the most wellestablished indicators in terms of health-related behaviors. Although the most common healthrelated behaviors that are studied are diet and physical activity, certain health-promoting behaviors have been found to be more strongly associated with one gender as opposed to the other. The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2018) indicated that approximately 3 out of every 10 high school students meet criteria for at least 60 minutes of physical activity each



Study	Sample	Measure of SWB	Health-Promoting Behaviors and Measurement
Levy (2003)	457 American	Well Being:	National College Health Assessment Survey (ACHA-NCHA, 2000):
	undergraduate	The Satisfaction with	General Health and Safety
	students ( $M = 19$	Life Scale	Alcohol and Drug Use
	years old)	(SWLS; Diener et al.,	Sexual Behaviors and Perceptions
		1985)	Weight, Nutrition, and Exercise
		T 1 C	Physical and Mental Health
		Index of	Impairments to Academic Performance
		Wall Boing	
		(Berkman 1971)	
		(Derkindil, 1971).	
Lindberg &	807 6 <sup>th</sup> grade	<u>SWB</u> :	Dietary and Safety Habits:
Swanberg (2006)	students from	A singular question	Modified version of the WHO Health Behaviour in School-Ages
	Sweden across 18	(e.g., "How are you	Children Study and the Youth Self-Report Questionnaire (YRBS).
	schools	these days?")	
Piko (2006)	1 114 Hungarian	Life Satisfaction:	Diet Exercise and Substance Utilization:
1 IKO (2000)	secondary students	Satisfaction with Life	A revised version of the Children's Depression Inventory (Koyacs:
	(M = 16.5  years)	Scale (Diener.	1992) parent and child report) that included components of diet.
	old)	Emmons, Larsen, &	exercise, and substance utilization.
		Griffin, 1985).	
Holder et al., (2009)	375 American	<u>Well-Being:</u>	Physical Activity:
	Elementary School	Youth and Parent	Researcher designed parent and participant report measures (6 items)
	Students (8-12	Report on the Faces	that examined active leisure activities.
	years olu)	Coleman 2008)	
		Coleman, 2000)	

Table 1. Prior Studies of Health Promoting Behaviors and SWB



Study	Sample	Measure of SWB	Health-Promoting Behaviors and Measurement
Shaffer-Hudkins (2011)	246 American middle school students (6 <sup>th-</sup> 8 <sup>th</sup> grade)	Life Satisfaction: Student Life Satisfaction Scale (Huebner, 1991b) <u>Affect</u> : PANAS-C (27 items version; Laurent et al., 1999) positive and negative affect	Dietary Habits and Physical Activity:         Nutrition and Exercise Survey for Students (NESS; Curtis, 2005),         Sleep and Safety Habits:         Sleep and Safety Habits Questionnaire (Researcher Developed Measure)         Attitudes Towards Substance Utilization:         Attitudes Towards Substance Use Scale (Developed from the Pro-Drug Self-Report Questionnaire; Kovach Clark et al., 2010).
Mack et al. (2012)	Multiple time points (Time 1, N = 243; Time 2, N = 198) samples of undergraduate females (Time 1: M = 18.61 years old; Time 2: $M =$ 19.76 years old)	scales. <u>Life Satisfaction:</u> Satisfaction with Life Scale (SWLS; Diener Emmons, Larsen, & Griffin, 1985) <u>Affect</u> : Positive Affect Negative Affect Schedule (PANAS; Watson, Clark, & Tellegen, 1988).	<u>Physical Activity:</u> Short Questionnaire to Assess Health-Enhancing Physical Activity Scale (Squash; Wendel-Vos et al., 2003)
Gadermann et al. (2016)	5,026 Canadian 4 <sup>th</sup> grade students from 121 elementary schools ( <i>M</i> =9.7 years old)	Life satisfaction: Satisfaction with Life Scale adapted for Children (Gadermann et al., 2011)	Overall Health, Nutrition, Physical Activity, and Sleep: Questionnaire adapted from the from the BC Adolescent Health Survey ; McCreary Centre Society, 2009).





Table 1 (continued).

Study	Sample	Measure of SWB	Health-Promoting Behaviors and Measurement
Weinberg et al., (2016)	Australia sample of 488 young adults (77% female; M = 28.71 years old, SD = 10.61 years)	<u>SWB</u> : Personal Well-Being Index (International Well-Being Group, 2013)	<u>Sleep Quality:</u> Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI; Buysse et al., 1989)
Blake et al. (2017)	456 Adults (M = 50.7 years old)	Life satisfaction: unspecific global happiness measure (1 item, 7 point scale). <u>Affect</u> : Philadelphia Geriatric Center (PGC) Positive and Negative Affect scales (Lawton et al.,1992)	<ul> <li><u>Nutrition and Physical Activity:</u> Health-Promoting Lifestyle-Profile (HPLP II: Stark et al., 2010; Nutrition and Physical Activity subscales)</li> <li><u>Global Physical Wellness</u>: Three items pertaining to global physical wellness taken from the Medical Outcomes Study Short Form-12 Health Survey (MOS SF-12; Ware et al., 1996).</li> </ul>
Lai (2018)	13,424 adult participants (53%; male M= 44.30 years old, SD= 18.2 years; range = 15-101 years old)	Life Satisfaction: A single item measure of life satisfaction (Lucas & Donnellan, 2012) <u>Positive Affect:</u> Medical Outcomes Scale Short Form Health Survey (SF- 36; Ware & Sherebourne, 1992)	<u>Sleep Quality:</u> The Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (Buysse et al., 1989)

day, while 15.4% of students report not being physically active for at least 60 minutes during one day in the previous week. Both factors have been associated with the obesity epidemic that currently exists in American youth. Multiple studies have identified that males engage in more physical exercise when compared to females and this phenomenon has been observed in samples of middle school (Wu et al., 2006), high school (Vilhjalmsson & Kristjansdottir, 2003; Robinson & Killen, 1995), and college students (Craft et al., 2014) and adults (Chalavaev et al., 2013). Common forms of exercise that boys have indicated they frequently engage in include team sports (e.g., football, basketball) while females who do endorse physical activity are more likely to endorse engaging in cardiovascular related activities (e.g., swimming; Pate et al., 2004).

In terms of maintaining a healthy diet, girls have been found to tailor their dietary practice in ways that promoted weight loss and maintenance, while adolescent boys were more likely to adhere to a diet that facilitated weight gain (e.g., high in protein; McCreary & Sasse, 2002; Robinson & Killen, 1995; Spencer et al., 2015). Similarity, adolescent boys have been found to consume a higher fat diet (65% had a diet that consisted of 30% or more fat; Neumark-Sztainer et al., 2002) when compared to adolescent girls. Regarding dietary practices, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2018) indicated that 5.6% of students had not eaten fruit or 100% fruit juices during the past week prior to survey completion, while 18.8% of surveyed adolescents indicated they had eaten fruit three or more times, each day, during the past seven days. Specifically, males were identified as being more likely to have avoided consuming fruit or 100% fruit juices (7.2%) when compared to females (4.0%). Similarly, 59.4% of students indicated they had eaten vegetables one or more times during the past seven days prior to the survey, while 7.2% of students did not eat vegetables (e.g., salad, carrots) during the seven



days prior to the survey. These findings were more prominent in adolescent males (8.9%) than females (5.5%)

Regarding gender differences pertaining to sleep quality and hygiene, Galland and colleagues (2017) examined sample of 692 Australia adolescents (M=16.9 years old) and noted that girls were more likely to engage in poor sleep hygiene practices and in turn had decreased overall sleep quality when compared to boys. In terms of specific pre-sleep behaviors that were impairing, 66.1% of girls in the sample reported drinking caffeinated beverages after dinner, while only 44.5% of boys engaged in this behavior. Organek and colleagues (2015) noted that in a sample 1543 middle school student (51.1% girls, M = 12.31 years old), boys reported obtaining a significantly greater amount of sleep per night (8.52 hours) when compared to girls (8.15 hours). These authors noted that the earlier onset of female puberty could be a factor that influenced these findings. Despite these findings that have indicated differences in terms of sleep hygiene, literature has indicated that males are a greater likelihood to be diagnosed with a sleeping disorder, obstructive sleep apnea disorder (e.g., almost four times as likely; Owens et al., 2000) when compared to females throughout their lifetime.

Substance utilization is a health-compromising behavior that has been associated with gender differences (Kloos et al., 2009; Kuhn, 2015). Early substance use and dependence into adulthood has been identified in males at an alarmingly increased rate, with rates almost twice as high for alcohol dependence or abuse (10.3% of males, 5.1% of females in those 12 years of age and older) and illicit drug dependence or abuse (3.7% of males, 2.0% of females in those 12 years of age and older; Kloos et al., 2009). Males have been found to increase their utilization at a much faster rate, with greater associations in addiction as opposed to recreational use (Kuhn, 2015). However, when specifically examining adolescents, distinguishing differences have been



less clear. Various literature has identified that substance utilization had increased in adolescent females within the last decade (Kloos et al., 2009; Kuhn, 2015). Interestingly, females have various protective factors throughout their life that limit the increased utilization of these substances long term into adulthood (e.g., hormonal changes, greater self-regulation as age increases, decreased rates of impulsivity and sensation seeking behaviors with age; Kuhn, 2015). In terms of cross-cultural comparisons that further emphasize gender differences, multiple studies of United States and United Kingdom adolescents have indicated that adolescent males are more prone to drinking alcohol whereas females are more likely to utilize tobacco products (National Centre for Social Research, 2008; Webb et al., 2000).

## **Ethnic Differences in Terms of Health-Related Behaviors**

Various literature examined the differences and disparities in health behaviors across ethnic groups and identified disparities. For example, African American students were identified as less likely to utilize tobacco products, when compared to Caucasian students (Kann et al., 2018). This same phenomenon was identified by Gutman and colleagues (2011) in a sample of 1472 families who were measured across five time points over a seven-year period (1991-1998). Additionally, these researchers found that tobacco and substance use was not only more prominent, but faster occurring in Caucasian families when compared to African American families. The national prevalence of binge drinking (i.e., having four [female], five [male], or more drinks of alcohol in a row within a couple of hours on at least 1 day during the 30 days) was 13.5% of all adolescents enrolled in 9<sup>th</sup> grade (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2018). Binge drinking was more commonly observed in Caucasian (15.7%) and Hispanic (14.0%) male students when compared to African American males (5.6%). A similar trend was observed in females, whereas white (15.9%) and Hispanic females (16.0%) engaged in this



behavior at a greater frequency than their African American peers (6.8%; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2018).

In terms of physical activity, various findings have been identified in terms of racial differences. For example, Sirard and colleagues (2008) found that in a sample of 1,903 South Carolina 8<sup>th</sup> grade girls, African American girls reported less physical activity, decreased aerobic fitness levels, increased sedentary lifestyle activities (e.g., television watching), and in turn a higher body mass index (BMI), when compared to their Caucasian counterparts. The researchers attributed this to the fact that a greater frequency of the Caucasian girls participated in more after school sports than their African American peers. Zeno and colleagues (2010) have identified this to be a consistent trend in samples of adults. In contrasts, the most recent YRBSS data of high school youth indicated limited differences as 48.7% of Caucasian youth, 44.9% of Hispanic youth, and 42.0% of African American youth were physically active at least 60 minutes per day for five or more days (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2018). However, the same data indicated that a greater percentage of African American high school youth (35.2%) engage in at least three hours of television watching per day, when compared to Hispanic (20.7%) and Caucasian (17.7%) youth.

Regarding dietary practices, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2018) has indicated that the percentage of youth who had not consumed adequate amounts of fruits or fruit juices was higher among Caucasian (7.1%), African American (9.5%), and Hispanic male (6.3%) when compared to Caucasian (4.1%), African American (4.4%), and Hispanic females (3.7%). In terms of not consuming vegetables, discrepancies were apparent as a higher portion of African American (14.9%) and Hispanic males (11.1%) did not consume vegetables when compared to white adolescent males (6.9%). This same phenomenon was observed in adolescent females



(white, 3.8%; African American, 10.6%; Hispanic, 7.2%). However, the prevalence of those who ate vegetables one or more times per day was higher among white (62.8%) and Hispanic (56.1%) when compared to African American students (49.4%). The combination of these findings further exemplify that racial differences exists in terms of dietary practices.

In terms of cross-cultural comparisons of health-related behavior, Li and colleagues (2012) sought to examine the differences in health promotion practices (health responsibility, physical activity, nutrition, interpersonal relationships, spiritual growth, and stress management), stress, and coping styles amongst American (N = 319) and Chinese (N = 335) college students. Across both cultures, youth who reported decreased levels of stress also reported more frequent engagement in the described health-promoting behaviors, except for health responsibility. In this case, American youth stress levels were not predictive of their health responsibility, while a difference still existed in Chinese youth. Interestingly, despite the lack of differences in these behaviors, American youth reported greater substance utilization as a coping strategy, while Chinese youth more frequently endorsed activities like denial to cope. The authors indicated this is likely due to the increased amount of substance utilization (7.9%) that is observed in the United States, when compared to various countries of the world like China (e.g., 1.7%). The authors also noted that substance abuse and poor coping strategies for stress may be associated with the transition from home to a more independent setting, such as at a university for postsecondary study. These findings strongly align with literature that references the importance of developing health-promoting behaviors prior to leaving home, to facilitate a sustainable impact (Harris et al., 2005; Musavian et al., 2014; Persch et al., 2015).



## Socio-Economic Differences in Terms of Health-Related Behaviors

Socio-economic status (SES) has also been associated with participation in health-related behaviors. The American Psychological Association has noted that SES encompasses factors related to income, educational attainment, fiscal security, and subjective perceptions of social class and status (Saegert et al., 2006). SES has been found to be associated with a family's dietary intake. A nationally representative sample (N> 150,000 at each time point) that included participants ages 11, 13, and 15, throughout 33 European countries (i.e., England, France, Poland) and the United States found that socioeconomic status and income inequality was predictive of amount of time engaging in physical activity, body mass, and life satisfaction over three time points (2002, 2006, 2010; Elgar et al., 2015). The authors attributed these findings to the fact that growing up and living in an impoverished neighborhood (e.g., Low SES) contributes to the development of negative health-related behaviors (e.g., obesity) and mental health concerns (e.g., depression, increased stress).

Similarly, in a sample of youth (10-13 years old; N = 4, 824), Fradkin and colleagues (2010) found that those youth who were identified in the highest SES category had the lowest rates of childhood obesity, when compared to those in lower SES categories, even when controlling for racial group. Singh, Siahpush, and Kogan (2010a; 2010b) indicated that increased socioeconomic status provides parents with the opportunity to tailor their children's diet to be more nutritious (e.g., higher fruits and vegetable intake) with greater exposure to resources (e.g., sports team participation). Also, it is essential to examine the impact of the disparities between neighborhoods of varying SES as those that are identified as more dangerous might limit the abilities of residents to engage in health-promoting activities based on a perceived lack of safety within the neighborhood. Goesling and Firebaugh (2004) have noted


that as inequality rises throughout the world, the examination of the long-term impact of these factors (e.g., increased mental health concerns, increased stress) on mental health, physical health and longevity is a necessity. In terms of school-based research, Free and/or Reduced-Price Lunch status often serves as an indicator of socioeconomic status (Harwell & LeBeau, 2010).

#### Summary of Demographic Differences Related to SWB and Health-Promoting Behaviors

Meaningful differences have been identified in the literature that pertain to various demographic factors (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2018; Johnston et al., 2018; Kann et al., 2018; Spear & Kulbock, 2001) that are essential to consider within any study design. Literature has indicated that youth of various ethnic groups or genders may report engaging in a combination of health-promoting and health-compromising behavior at various time points within their development. Despite these findings, the lack of clear links limits the generalizability of a "healthy profile," particularly in terms of mental health and subjective wellbeing. Take for example, females who adhere to healthier dietary practices (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2018) may also engage in behaviors that are comprising in terms of sleep (Galland al., 2017). In comparison, boys may engage in more vigorous forms of exercise, it appears they also may be susceptible to engage in unhealthier dietary practices (e.g., poor nutrition; Neumark-Sztainer et al., 2002) and substance utilization (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2018). Based on the findings of Shaffer-Hudkins (2011), who indicated limited impact of the demographic factors on health-related behaviors and SWB in early adolescents, further examination within a study that incorporates comprehensive assessments of physical and mental wellness in older adolescents was warranted.



## **Summary of the Literature**

This chapter aimed to provide an overarching framework pertaining to the conceptualization of mental (i.e., SWB) and physical wellness (i.e., health-promoting behaviors). Subjective well-being, it's conceptualization as an individual construct and protective factor, that is associated with increased physical health, was reviewed. In terms of physical health, the most commonly examined health-promoting behaviors in prior studies have been physical activity and dietary practices. However, recent literature has identified the importance of examining sleeprelated behavior and sleep hygiene practices (Gadermann et al., 2016; Weinberg et al., 2016; Lai, 2018). The literature base has identified that various health-promoting behaviors have been associated with increased forms of positive mental health. However, an examination of the health-promoting behaviors of high school students (and its relationship with SWB) is lacking in the empirical literature. This gap may be attributed to the more frequent examination of healthcompromising behaviors that are common studied within this age group. Therefore, based on the high levels of adolescent's engagement in health-compromising behaviors (e.g., Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2018) and more limited engagement in health-promoting behaviors (Chen et al., 2007; Rew et al., 2010), conducting this study to gain an exploratory understanding of the relationship between these factors was essential.

In terms of the health-promoting behaviors that were examined in this study, 12 behaviors of interest were identified (e.g., dietary habits, physical activity habits, eight sleep hygiene factors, tobacco product abstinence, alcohol product abstinence), based on prior research findings indicating an association with levels of SWB and the PI's ability to comprehensively measure each behavior (e.g., empirically validated and reliable, multiple subscale measures). Additionally, each of these behaviors (e.g., low fat, high fruits/vegetables diet) also have been



incorporated into the prior studies, but aligned with a more deficit focused approach, as healthcompromising behaviors (e.g., high fat, low fruits/vegetables diet). Furthermore, this study considered aspects of demographic factors, given differences that were identified in the literature with respect to health-promotion. Incorporating these factors into study design is essential to facilitate programs and services that are effective and influential for various groups of high school students.



#### **CHAPTER THREE:**

#### **METHODS**

This study investigated the relationship between 12 health-promoting behaviors and subjective well-being in a sample of high school students. The goal of this research was to expand upon the existing literature base pertaining to the connection between physical and mental wellness. In terms of specific health-promoting behaviors of interest in this study, selfreported measures of healthy dietary practices, physical activity habits, sleep hygiene components, and abstinence from tobacco and alcohol products were collected. Subjective wellbeing scores (SWB; an operationalized term for happiness), were comprised of scores from measures of life satisfaction, positive affect, and negative affect. The strength and direction of the relationship between each health-promoting behavior and reported levels of SWB was examined. This study also examined the unique portion of the variance for each of the described health-promoting behaviors and participants' perceived levels of subjective well-being. Demographic differences with respect to socioeconomic status, gender, and race, on both SWB and each of the health-promoting behaviors of interest were also considered throughout this research. The current chapter provides an overview of the participants, the methods by that data were collected, and a summary of reliability and validity data pertaining to each of the utilized measures. Finally, an overview of the statistical analyses is provided.



## **Participants**

The Primary Investigator (PI) of this study recruited students from five high schools (i.e., 9<sup>th</sup> through 12<sup>th</sup> grade enrolled students; one in rural Western Pennsylvania, one in urban Western Florida, three in rural Central Florida; see Table 3) to participate in this research study. The total sample included was 450 high school students (M= 15.70 years old; 14 to 19 years old). An additional six students obtained parental consent and initially began to participate in the study. However, their responses were eliminated for reasons including absence from school on day of data collection, malingering behavior, and general refusal to complete the survey packet after staring. The sample was comprised of 225 students enrolled in 9<sup>th</sup> grade, 101 students enrolled in 10<sup>th</sup> grade, 70 students enrolled in 11<sup>th</sup> grade, and 54 students enrolled in 12<sup>th</sup> grade. In sum, 140 participants resided in Pennsylvania and 310 participants resided in Florida. These student participants were diverse in terms of race and ethnicity (38.90% Caucasian, 24.70% Hispanic, 22.40% African-American, 3.40% Asian, 7.80% multiracial), and in terms of socioeconomic status (45.60% of students were eligible for free or reduced-price lunch; see Table 4). To gain further clarity in the relationship between the variables of interest, pairwise deletions were utilized, providing a sample size of 430 participants for multiple regression models which examined the main effects of the health-promoting behaviors on SWB (see Table 5).

To recruit participants, the PI met with the administrators of the participating high schools across three school districts (two in Florida, one in Pennsylvania). During these meetings, the PI provided a rationale for the study and attempted to acquire each school administrator's respective collaboration to form a research-based partnership and acquire a letter of support for this research study. Upon successfully formulating each partnership, the PI and the cooperating school administrators developed a timeline to allow for students to obtain



consent and for a data collection date(s). Also of importance, a professional development seminar was provided to one of the participating school districts. Prior to data collection (March 2019), the PI and a member of his doctoral committee provided a two-day, professional development seminar for one of the participating district's physical education departments, in that three of the participating high schools were housed. This district initially requested this professional development to improve and enhance their physical education curriculum. The seminar focused on building the capacity of physical educators to deliver social-emotional learning services and methods to embed positive psychology constructs within physical education curriculum.

Once the cooperating schools were identified, it was determined that data collection could take place during health and/or physical education classrooms, based on the relevance of study content. Students served exclusively in self-contained academic special education classrooms were not sought for participation, due to necessary reading achievement levels and reasoning skills necessary for the completion of this survey packet. Students were required to be English speaking based on the nature of the measures that were incorporated into the study design. The PI visited each classroom, described the rationale for the study as well as participant incentives (i.e., healthy snack). The PI then distributed informed consent letters that were sent home with each student requesting active parental consent for students to participate in the study (see Appendix A). Students were informed that if they required a parental consent form in a language other than English they could contact the PI who would make one available to them. No students requested a translated consent form into their parent's native language. Each consent form provided parents/guardians with the opportunity to allow their child to participate in this study. The consent forms of parents who refused to allow their child to participate were not



requested to be returned. Students were instructed to return consent forms to their health/physical education teacher within a two-week time frame. At the beginning of data collection, students were asked to sign an assent form (see Appendix B). Participant response rates for each school and the entire sample are summarized in Table 5. With respect to School B, consent rates were lower than anticipated, largely in part due to scheduling conflicts (e.g., standardized testing) and the classroom format (e.g., students were informed of the study and recruited in groups of 100+ students) that was utilized during participant recruitment.

In terms of compensation, participants received a healthy snack for participating in the study. Additionally, the classroom that had the highest number of participants at each school received a snack party. Another method that was utilized to increase participation focused on physical education teachers. Specifically, cooperating teachers received a \$5 gift card (e.g., Publix, Wawa, Sheetz) as gratitude for the collection of consent forms. Receiving this incentive was not based upon the number of students who obtained active consent from their parents.

It is also important to note these schools differed in their school start time. Given the interest of sleep in this study, it is important to identify that some of the variability in the sleep hygiene factors may have been associated with these differences in school start time. Specifically, School A began the school day at 7:30 AM and ended at 2:40 PM. School B, C, and D, began the school day at 7:00 AM and ended at 2:00 PM. School E began the school day at 8:30 AM and ended at 3:25 PM.



# Table 2.

	School A	School A School B		School D	School E
	( <i>N</i> = 861)	(N = 2,332)	(N = 2226)	(N = 2371)	( <i>N</i> =1788)
Location	Western PA	Central FL	Central FL	Central FL	Western FL
Setting	Rural	Rural	Rural	Rural	Urban
Gender					
Male	49.7%	49.7%	50.9%	50.5%	51.4%
Female	50.3%	50.3%	49.1%	49.5%	48.6%
Grade					
9 <sup>th</sup>	27.5%	27.5%	31.7%	29.4%	26.0%
10 <sup>th</sup>	24.9%	27.7%	27.9%	27.2%	26.6%
11 <sup>th</sup>	24.3%	24.7%	21.7%	22.9%	23.5%
12 <sup>th</sup>	23.2%	20.0%	18.8%	20.5%	23.8%
Race					
White	88.1%	55.7%	49.2%	15.5%	18.0%
African American	3.6%	16.0%	18.4%	25.6%	44.0%
Hispanic	1.6%	21.4%	25.4%	53.3%	16.7%
Multiracial	<1.0%	3.6%	2.3%	1.6%	4.3%
Asian	5.9%	2.9%	3.6%	3.0%	15.9%
Pacific Islander	<1.0%	<1.0%	<1.0%	<1.0%	< 1.0%
AIAN	<1.0%	<1.0%	<1.0%	<1.0%	<1.0%
Other	<1.0%	<1.0%	<1.0%	<1.0%	<1.0%
Socioeconomic Status					
Non-FRL	77.0%	61.9%	63.0%	52%	40.3%
FRL	33.0%	38.1%	37.0%	48%	59.7%

Descriptive Characteristics of Student Population at Participating Schools

\**Note*. AIAN= American Indian/Alaska Native. FL = Florida. FRL= Free or reduced-price lunch status. PA = Pennsylvania.



# Table 3.

	School A	School B School C		School D	School E	Total Sample
	(N = 861)	(N = 2,332)	(N = 2,332) $(N = 2226)$		( <i>N</i> =1788)	(N = 450)
Location	Western PA	Central FL	Central FL Central F		Western FL	
Setting	Rural	Rural	Rural	Rural	Urban	
Gender						
Male	50 (35.7%)	14 (48.3%)	27 (42.9%)	80 (48.5%)	25 (47.2%)	196 (43.6%)
Female	90 (64.3%)	15 (51.7%)	36 (57.1%)	85 (51.5%)	28 (52.8%)	254 (56.4%)
Grade						
9 <sup>th</sup>	52 (37.1%)	22 (75.9%)	55 (87.3%)	63 (38.2%)	33 (62.3%)	225 (50.0%)
$10^{\text{th}}$	28 (20.0%)	4 (13.8%)	4 (6.3%)	59 (35.8%)	6 (11.3%)	101 (22.4%)
11 <sup>th</sup>	19 (13.6%)	3 (10.3%)	4 (6.3%)	39 (23.6%)	5 (9.4%)	70 (15.6%)
12 <sup>th</sup>	41 (29.3%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	4 (2.4%)	9 (17.0%)	54 (12.0%)
Race						
White	119 (85.0%)	14 (48.2%)	24 (38.1%)	17 (10.3%)	1 (1.9%)	175 (38.9%)
African American	5 (3.6%)	5 (17.2%)	12 (19.0%)	49 (29.7%)	30 (56.6%)	101 (22.4%)
Hispanic	5 (3.6%)	1 (3.4%)	16 (25.4%)	77 (46.7%)	12 (22.6%)	111 (24.7%)
Multiracial	1 (.7%)	5 (17.2%)	8 (12.7%)	16 (9.7%)	5 (9.4%)	35 (7.8%)
Asian	7 (5.0%)	2 (6.9%)	0 (0.0%)	1 (0.6%)	1 (1.9%)	11 (2.4%)
Pacific Islander	0 (0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	1 (0.6%)	1 (1.9%)	2 (0.4%)
AIAN	2 (1.4%)	2 (6.9%)	1 (1.6%)	2 (1.2%)	0 (0.0%)	7 (1.6%)
Other	1 (0.7%)	0 (0.0%)	2 (3.2%)	2 (1.2%)	3 (5.7%)	8 (1.8%)
Socioeconomic Status						
Non-FRL	92 (65.7%)	24 (82.8%)	39 (61.9%)	84 (50.9%)	6 (11.3%)	245 (54.4%)
FRL	48 (34.3%)	5 (17.2%)	24 (38.1%)	81 (49.1%)	47 (88.7%)	205 (45.6%)

Descriptive Characteristics of Participants (N = 450)

\**Note*. AIAN= American Indian/Alaska Native. FL = Florida. FRL= Free or reduced-price lunch status. PA = Pennsylvania.



## Table 4.

	School A	School B	chool B School C		School E	Total Sample
	( <i>N</i> = 861)	(N = 2,332) $(N = 2226)$		(N = 2371)	(N = 2371) $(N = 1788)$	
Location	Western PA	Central FL	Central FL	Central FL	Western FL	
Setting	Rural	Rural	Rural	Rural	Urban	
Gender						
Male	49 (35.7%)	14 (48.3%)	24 (41.4%)	76 (49.0%)	25 (49.0%)	188 (43.7%)
Female	88 (64.3%)	15 (51.7%)	34 (58.6%)	79 (51.0%)	26 (51.0%)	242 (56.3%)
Grade						
9 <sup>th</sup>	50 (36.5%)	22 (75.9%)	50 (8.6%)	58 (37.4%)	31 (60.8%)	211 (49.1%)
10 <sup>th</sup>	28 (20.4%)	4 (13.8%)	4 (6.9%)	57 (36.8%)	6 (11.8%)	99 (23.0%)
11 <sup>th</sup>	19 (13.9%)	3 (10.3%)	4 (6.9%)	36 (23.2%)	5 (9.8%)	67 (15.6%)
12 <sup>th</sup>	40 (29.2%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	4 (2.6%)	9 (17.6%)	53 (12.3%)
Race						
White	117 (85.4%)	14 (48.3%)	22 (37.9%)	17 (11.0%)	1 (2.0%)	171 (39.8%)
African American	4 (2.9%)	5 (17.2%)	11 (19.0%)	45 (29.0%)	28 (54.9%)	93 (21.6%)
Hispanic	5 (3.6%)	1 (3.4%)	15 (25.9%)	73 (47.1%)	12 (23.5%)	106 (24.7%)
Multiracial	1 (0.7%)	5 (17.2%)	7 (12.1%)	14 (9.0%)	5 (9.8%)	32 (7.4%)
Asian	7 (5.1%)	2 (6.9%)	0 (0.0%)	1 (0.6)	1 (2.0%)	11 (2.6%)
Pacific Islander	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	1 (0.6%)	1 (2.0%)	2 (0.5%)
AIAN	2 (1.5%)	2 (6.9%)	1 (1.7%)	2 (1.3%)	0 (0%)	7 (1.6%)
Other	1 (0.7%)	0 (0.0%)	2 (3.4%)	2 (1.3%)	3 (5.9%)	8 (1.9%)
Socioeconomic Status						
Non-FRL	90 (65.7%)	24 (82.8%)	36 (62.1.%)	78 (50.3%)	6 (11.8%)	234 (54.4%)
FRL	47 (34.3%)	5 (17.2%)	22 (37.9%)	77 (49.7%)	45 (88.2%)	196 (45.6%)

Descriptive Characteristics of Participants with All Data included in Regression Models (N= 430)

\**Note*. AIAN= American Indian/Alaska Native. FL = Florida. FRL= Free or reduced-price lunch status. PA = Pennsylvania.



#### Table 5.

Location (School)	Teachers	Classes	Students Per Class	Participants Recruited	Participants Consented	Response Rate
	2	15	10.25	251	142	40.460/
western PA (A)	3	15	18-35	331	142	40.40%
Central FL (B)	3	12	32-40	460	30	6.52%
Central FL (C)	3	12	19-31	301	64	21.26%
Central FL (D)	4	17	32-35	545	167	30.64%
Western FL (E)	1	4	34-40	144	53	36.80%
Total	14	49		1,801	456*	25.32%

Response Rate of Participants at Each School in Sample

Note. FL=Florida. PA=Pennsylvania. \*Final sample included 450 students.

#### Measures

**Demographic Form.** The demographic form (see Appendix C) included four questions pertaining to students' gender, age, race/ethnicity and grade level. Each of the items on the demographic form include multiple choice response options. Participants completed this form after assenting to participate in the study. Throughout this study, participants who endorsed multiple races (e.g., selected both white and Hispanic) were included in all analyses as multiracial.

**Students' Life Satisfaction Scale** (SLSS; Huebner, 1991a, 1991b). The SLSS is a 7item self-report measure of global life satisfaction (see Appendix D). This measure utilizes a 6point scale ( $1 = strongly \ disagree$  to  $6 = strongly \ agree$ ), on that participants rated statements regarding their life at the current time (e.g., "I have a good life," "I have what I want in life"). The combination of these scores yields an average score life satisfaction score that was utilized in this study. Two items that are included in this measure were reverse scored. Higher global life satisfaction was indicated by a higher mean score. Research has indicated this measure yielded a small, non-significant correlation when compared to a measure of social desirability (r= .05; Huebner, 1991a), minimizing the concern regarding the self-report nature of this measure.



The PI chose this measure as the indicator of students' life satisfaction based on wide spread utilization in the positive psychology literature (i.e., considered the gold standard measure of global life satisfaction and has been consistently utilized in studies of youth SWB; Shaffer-Hudkins, 2011; Suldo & Shaffer, 2008; Suldo et al., 2016). Additionally, this measure has yielded sufficient support in terms of reliability and validity in samples of high school students. Specifically, the internal consistency ( $\alpha$ =.82; Huebner, 1991a; 1991b;  $\alpha$ =.85; Valois et al., 2004;  $\alpha$  = .93; Suldo et al., 2009) and the test-retest reliability at two weeks (r = .76; Terry & Huebner, 1995) and at one year (r = .53 Huebner et al., 2000) has provided support for reliability of the measure. With respect to validity, prior research also has noted this measure has strong, positive correlations with other measures of SWB in students of varying socioeconomic status and self-reported differences in levels of life satisfaction (Bender, 1997; Proctor, Linley, & Maltby, 2009). Also, Huebner and colleagues (2000) found validity support for the measure in a sample of 321 high school students. Specifically, the SLSS was found to have modest, significant positive correlations with the adaptive scales on the Behavioral Assessment System for Children (BASC; Reynolds & Kamphaus, 1992): self-esteem (r = .40), relations with parents (r = .48) and interpersonal relations (r = .25). There also were significant, negative correlations with the clinical subscales on the same measure: locus of control (r = -.50), depression (r = -.56), anxiety (r = -.33), social stress (r = -.45), sense of inadequacy (r = -.40), attitude towards school (r=-.24), and attitude towards teacher (r =-.26). This measure is summarized in Table 6.

**Positive and Negative Affect Schedule for Children** (PANAS-C; Laurent et al., 1999). The PANAS-C is a 27-item measure that is utilized to assess the positive and negative affect (e.g., experienced emotions) of children (see Appendix E). Participants were asked to respond to statements set to a 5-point scale (1 = very slightly or not at all to 5 = extremely) regarding their



current feelings of positive emotions (i.e., proud, joyful, happy, lively, cheerful) and negative emotions (i.e., scared, afraid, mad, miserable, sad). The total scores for both affect subscales were comprised of the averages of the provided positive and negative emotions and utilized in the subsequent analyses. This measure has been utilized in studies with children and adolescent participants to assess the rate of positive and negative emotions. This 27-item measure for children was mirrored after the PANAS (20 items; Watson, Clark, & Tellegan, 1998), that was developed to examine the occurrences of positive and negative emotions in adults. This measure includes 12 items that examine positive affect and 15 items that examine negative affect.

The original sample that was utilized in the development of this measure included 707 youth and adolescents (Laurent et al., 1999). The researchers noted the Positive Affect (PA;  $\alpha$  = .89) and Negative Affect (NA;  $\alpha$ =.92) subscales yield high internal consistency. Suldo and colleagues (2016) identified that the positive ( $\alpha$ =.90) and negative affect ( $\alpha$ =.91) scales had strong internal consistency in a sample of 500 high school students. Laurent and colleagues (1999) also noted in terms of construct validity, the PANAS-C was acceptable when compared to the negative association with Children's Depression Inventory (r = -.42; Kovacs, 1992). When utilizing factor analysis, the initial sample yielded strong support in terms of construct validity for both positive and negative affect scales, as emotions (i.e., items) loaded on respective factors. The positive and negative affect scales have been included in prior studies that sought to analyze participants' levels of SWB (Antaramian, 2015; Antaramian et al., 2011; Shaffer-Hudkins, 2011; Suldo & Shaffer, 2008; Suldo et al., 2011; Suldo et al., 2016). This measure is summarized in Table 6.

Adolescent Food Habits Checklist (AFHC; Austin et al., 2009; See Appendix F). The AFHC is a 22-item, self-report measure, that required participants to assess their general dietary



habits (e.g., "If I am having lunch away from home, I often choose a low-fat option."). Participants indicated if the provided statements are either true, false, or not applicable to their dietary habits. Participants receive a point for each healthy response and the total scale score is determined as a dietary behaviors score, that was utilized in the analyses for this study. This measure was chosen as the primary indicator for health-dietary practices because it examines the habits of adolescents and their general efforts to promote healthy-eating, whereas other measures have examined self-regulation or preferences for certain foods.

Johnson and colleagues (2002) designed the measure utilizing the true/false response format, as self-report of dietary practices is often difficult to estimate. Previous research methods that have been identified in the literature include dietary logs, food records, and food recall measures. In terms of validity, the measure was first developed in a sample of English adolescents (N = 1, 822, M = 14.42 years old; range 13 to 16 years old) and found to have sufficient internal consistency ( $\alpha$ =.83; Johnson et al., 2002) for the original 23 items. Regarding test-retest reliability, Johnson and colleagues (2002) identified that this measure had strong testrest reliability (r = .90, p < .001) in a sample of 24 adolescents (M = 13.66 years old) across two weeks. This study also sought to examine convergent validity between the AFHC and various dietary indicators. The results of these analyses indicated scores on the AFHC were associated with increased fruit and vegetable consumption (r = .45) and negatively associated with fat intake (r = .46) as measured on the Dietary Instrument for Nutrition Education (DINE; Roe et al, 1994).

In terms of the utilization of this measure in an American sample, Austin and colleagues (2009) evaluated this measure as part of a larger study, that included a sample of 41 American adolescents (11-17 years old) across two time points. The internal consistency of the AFHC was



adequate at Time 1 (N= 34;  $\alpha$ =.52) and Time 2 (N = 35;  $\alpha$ =.79). The results of this study also indicated that there was a significant negative correlation between the AFHC change score between both time points and the Perceived Stress Scale score between both time points (*r* = -.46; Cohen & Williamson, 1988). Austin and colleagues (2009) modified the original measure (Johnson et al., 2002) to reflect dietary practices that were more pertinent to American youth (e.g., "crisps" were identified as "chips"). This modified version was utilized in this study, as permission was granted by Austin, the primary investigator who developed this altered measure (2018, July 9; see Appendix G).

Another important concept of the original measure developed by Johnson and colleagues (2002) was that this version allowed for participants to respond as "non-applicable" if the question was not relevant to their dietary practices. An example of the response format on the original measure is: "If I am having a dessert at home, I try to have something low in fat?: true, false, or not applicable." However, Austin and colleagues (2009) altered this measure as to not allow for participants to respond as non-applicable. For nine of the questions, if participants selected "false' as their response, they were then prompted to answer a secondary question to further distinguish their dietary practices and to reduce the need for non-applicable responses. For example, participants could response to the question "I don't eat desserts," as either True or False (Austin et al., 2009). If a participant identified this response was false, an arrow then directed them to a second question: "If I am having a dessert at home, I try to have something low in fat?: true or false?" (Austin et al., 2009). Participants then receive a point if they select the healthy option to be calculated into the sum percentage score. Participants could receive a maximum of 23 total points on this measure, as question 11 was worth up to two points, given that participants must answer questions 11A through 11C, while the other 21 questions are worth



between zero and one point. This is consistent with the revisions described by Austin and colleagues (2009). This measure is summarized in Table 6.

Physical Activity Questionnaire for Adolescents (PAQ-A; Kowalski et al., 1997; Kowalski et al., 2004; See Appendix H). The PAQ-A is a self-administered, 9-item instrument that required participants to assess their general levels of physical activity during the past 7 days (e.g., In the last 7 days, on how many days *right after school*, did you do sports, dance, or play games in that you were very active?). This measure does not provide an estimate of caloric expenditure but was designed to be administered to students in 9<sup>th</sup> through 12<sup>th</sup> grade (i.e., ages 14-20 years old). The authors noted that this measure takes no more than 15 minutes to complete and should be utilized during the school year, not during the summer or holiday breaks, based on the timeframes noted in the questions. Specifically, this measure is set to a five-point scale (1= *None*, 5 = 6 or more times) with greater scores indicating higher levels of physical activity. This measure yields a total physical activity score, that is comprised of the averages of the response on the first 8 items, that was utilized in the analysis for this study. The first question requires participants to identify their participation in various activities and the average across responses is utilized in terms of scoring for this question. The ninth question is specific to illness during the prior week that prevented routine participation in physical activities that is not included in the summative analyses. This measure was mirrored after the Physical Activity Questionnaire for Children (Kowalski et al., 2004).

Reliability and validity of the PAQ-A has been assessed across various cultures. Tate and colleagues (2015) identified that in a sample of 145 mid-western, American adolescents, the internal consistency was strong ( $\alpha$ =.89) and the test-retest reliability was adequate (*r*=.74). In terms of validity, the PAQ-A has been found to be positively correlated with the Leisure Time



exercise scale (r = .57), as well as a Caltrac motion sensor (r = .33; Martin et a., 2011). In a sample of 85 Canadian high school students, Kowalski and colleagues (1997) found the PAQ-A was positively correlated with an activity rating scale (r = .73), the Leisure Time Exercise Questionnaire (r = .57), and the 7-day Physical Activity Recall Interview (PAR; r = .59). Bervoets and colleagues (2014) found a similar level of internal consistency ( $\alpha = .76$ ) in a sample of 94 Dutch adolescents. Finally, Martínez-Gómez and colleagues (2009) found the Spanish version of the PAQ-A yielded adequate test-retest reliability (one week apart; ICC= .71) in a sample of 232 Spanish adolescents ages 13 through 17. Also, Martínez-Gómez identified that the internal consistency of this measure was adequate at the first ( $\alpha = .65$ ) and second ( $\alpha = .74$ ) self-report data collection time points. This measure is summarized in Table 6.

To gain a greater understanding of the theoretical structure of this measure, a confirmatory factor analysis was completed. Results of the confirmatory factor analysis indicated that the fit of the model for the ASHS subscales was not satisfactory (CFI = .78, SRMR = .12, RMSEA=.08). The  $\chi^2$  (209, *N*= 449) = 832.12, *p* < .001 test of the model fit indicated a statistically significant lack of fit. The factor loadings for the AFHC ranged from .16 and .72 with an average loading of .53 for the 22 items. Given these indices, the results of this study should be interpreted with caution.

Adolescent Sleep Hygiene Scale (ASHS; LeBourgeois et al., 2005; See Appendix I). The ASHS is a 33-item self-report measure that examines sleep inhibiting and facilitating behaviors in adolescents (ages 12 to 18 years old). Eight specific factors of sleep hygiene are addressed through 27 items: physiological (5 items; i.e., "I got to bed with a stomach ache), behavioral arousal (3 items; i.e., "I go to bed and do things in my bed that keep me awake [watching tv, reading]"), cognitive/emotional (6 items; i.e., "I go to bed and think about things I



need to do), sleep environment (5 items; i.e., "I fall asleep while listening to loud music"), daytime sleep (2 item; i.e., "During the day I take a nap that lasts > 1 hour"), substances (2 items; i.e. "After 6:00 P.M., I smoke or chew tobacco"), bedtime routine (1 item; "I use a bedtime routine (for example, bathing, brushing teeth, reading), and sleep stability (3 items; "On the weekends, I stay up >1 hour past my usual bedtime). The alignment of specific questions with each of the sleep hygiene subscales is provided in Appendix I. This measure is set to a six-point scale (1 = *never*, 0% of the time; 6= *always*, 100% of the time) with greater scores indicating greater levels of sleep hygiene. Item 27 is reverse scored. This measure yields a total score (mean of combined subscale scores) and individual subscale scores, either that can be used for interpretation of specific sleep hygiene components. An additional 6 items of this measure are not included as part of the subscale or ASHS total score, but are included in this measure based on the theoretical basis of sleep hygiene. Additionally, this measure requires four qualitative responses (i.e., embedded within questions 30-33) that are utilized to determine standard bed time routines and wake times on weekdays and the weekends.

The Adolescent Sleep Hygiene Scale (LeBourgeois et al., 2005) was modified from the Children's Sleep Hygiene Scale (Harsh et al., 2002) to provide a measure that could assess the sleep hygiene habits in adolescent populations. A study by LeBorugeois and colleagues (2005), that sought to examine the sleeping habits of middle and high school students in Italy (N = 776) and the United States (N = 572), identified this measure yielded strong consistency for the total score for the ASHS ( $\alpha$ =.80). In terms of validity, Storfer-Isser and colleagues (2013) sought to examine the psychometric properties of the ASHS in a sample of 514 American adolescents (M = 17.7 years old; 16-19 years old). Scores for total sleep hygiene were positively correlated with sleep duration (r=.16) and sleep efficiency (r=.12), both that were assessed using actigraphy



monitoring sleep watches (Octagonal Sleep Watch 2.01; Ambulatory Monitoring INC, Ardsley, NY, USA). Additionally, scores for overall sleep hygiene were negatively correlated with self-reported Epworth Sleepiness Scale daytime sleepiness (Johns, 1992; r= -.26). Also, internal consistency was noted to be strong for various subscales: physiological ( $\alpha$ =.60), behavioral arousal ( $\alpha$ =.62), cognitive/emotional ( $\alpha$ =.81), sleep environment ( $\alpha$ =.61), sleep stability ( $\alpha$ =.68), and day time sleep ( $\alpha$ =.78; Storfer-Isser et al., 2013). These factors were found to be significantly correlated with the Epworth sleepiness scale: physiological (r = -.10), behavioral arousal (r = -.09), cognitive/emotional (r = -.23), sleep environment (r=-.21), sleep stability (r= -.11), and day time sleep (r= -.31).

This measure was chosen by the PI to be utilized in this study for several reasons. Specifically, the measure's focus on sleep hygiene, as opposed to quality of sleep, and the various components of sleep hygiene that are assessed in this measure allows for a comprehensive assessment of the various behaviors that contribute to quality sleep. Also, its availability at no cost for public utilization is a benefit of this measure. Additionally, a review conducted by Spruyt and Gozal (2011) indicated there are limited measures that assess sleep hygiene (e.g., limiting screen time before bed), whereas more measures evaluate the prevalence of sleep quality related issues (e.g., restlessness, inability to fall asleep) or require parent perceptions for data collection. This measure is summarized in Table 6.

To gain a greater understanding of the theoretical structure of this measure, confirmatory factor analysis were completed. Results of the confirmatory factor analysis indicated that the fit of the model for the ASHS subscales was not satisfactory (CFI =.827, SRMR =.065, RMSEA=.063). The  $\chi^2$  (297, *N*= 440) = 819.33, *p* <.001 test of the model fit indicated a statistically significant lack of fit. Standardized factor loadings for the 27 items were



significantly different from zero (p < .05). For the sleep hygiene physiological factor, loadings ranged from .23 and .61 with an average loading of .45 for the five items. The sleep hygiene behavioral arousal factor loadings ranged from .50 and .62 with an average loading of .57 for the three items. The sleep hygiene cognitive emotional factor loadings ranged from .43 and .76 with an average loading of .60 for the six items, and the sleep environment factor loadings ranged from .44 and .62 with an average loading of .53 for the five items. The sleep stability factor loadings ranged from .51 and .80 with an average loading of .67 for the three items. The sleep hygiene daytime sleepiness factor loadings ranged from .79 and .95 with an average loading of .88 for the two items and the sleep hygiene substances factor loadings ranged from .69 and .84 with an average loading of .77 for the two items. Given these indices, the results of this study should be interpreted with caution.

Adolescent Alcohol and Tobacco Utilization Scale (AATUS; Center for Disease Control and Prevention, 2018; Centers of Disease Control and Prevention, 2009; see Table 6). The AATUS (Appendix J) is a modified, abbreviated version of the Youth Risk Behavior Surveillance System (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2018), a frequently used tool to examine high school aged adolescent's engagement in health-comprising behaviors in a host of national, longitudinal school-based studies. The full instrument examines tobacco use, alcohol and other substance use, risky sexual behaviors, unhealthy dietary practices, physical inactivity, and risk behaviors that contribute to unintentional injury and violence. The measure that was utilized in this study was augmented to solely focus on adolescents' utilization of alcohol and tobacco products, aligned with prior research (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2009). This measure is six items in length. In this study, each of the items were reverse scored, with greater scores indicating higher rates of abstinence from substance



utilization, given the focus on health-promotion. Specifically, four items focusing on various forms of tobacco products (e.g., cigarettes, chewing tobacco, electronic vapor products) and two items examining alcohol utilization (e.g., how many days did you have at least one drink of alcohol, on how many days did you have at least 4/5 or more drinks of alcohol in a row within a couple hours if you are a girl/boy) formulate two separate scales. Examining alcohol as one factor, as opposed to separate factors (e.g., malt liquor vs distilled products) is consistent with multiple national, longitudinal studies (Center for Disease Control and Prevention, 2018; Johnston et al., 2018).

This measure utilizes a 7-point scale (e.g., 1 = zero days, 7 = all 30 days) consistent with those of the YRBSS studies to assess the frequency of participants' utilization of these substances within the past 30 days. Prior administrations of former versions of the YRBSS have identified that alcohol (alcohol = 63.4%) and tobacco (kappa = 68.8%) related questions have been consistently reliable (Brener 2002; Brener et al., 2013). Currently, no published studies exist that have examined the reliability and validity of adolescent's engagement in the behaviors examined in the most current YRBSS (Brener et al., 2013). However, these researchers indicated that the cognitive and situational factors that could impact the validity of adolescents self-reporting behaviors have been identified as non-threatening.

## Procedure

Upon approval of the study by the PI's doctoral committee, the primary investigator submitted the required application to the University of South Florida (USF) Institutional Review Board (IRB; see Appendix K). The PI submitted the required documents for IRB approval to all three districts that participated in this study. IRB approval from the University of South Florida was obtained during January 2019 and approval was obtained from each of the respective school



## Table 6.

## Summary of Measures for Variables of Interest

Subjective Well-Being							
Construct	Measure	Scale(s) Analyzed					
Life Satisfaction	Students' Life Satisfaction Scale (SLSS;	Life Satisfaction Sum					
	Huebner, 1991)	Scale					
Positive and Negative	Positive and Negative Affect Schedule for	Positive Affect Scale					
Affect	Children (PANAS-C; Laurent et al., 1999)	Negative Affect Scale					
	Health-Promoting Behaviors of Interest						
Construct	Measure	Scale(s) Analyzed					
Dietary Habits	The Adolescent Food Habits Checklist (AFHC;	Total Health Dietary					
	Johnson et al., 2002)	Habits Score					
Exercise Habits	The Physical Activity Questionnaire for	Total Physical Activity					
	Adolescents (PAQ-A; Kowalski et al., 1997;	Scale Score					
	Kowalski et al., 2004)						
Sleep Hygiene	Adolescent Sleep Hygiene Scale (ASHS;	8 Sleep Hygiene					
	LeBourgeois et al., 2005)	Factor Subscales					
		<b>T</b> 1 41 1					
Tobacco Abstinence	Adolescent Alcohol and Tobacco Utilization	Tobacco Abstinence					
	Scale (Center for Disease Control and	Scale					
	Prevention, 2018)						
Alashal Abstinance	Adolassont Alashal and Tahaasa Utilization	Alashal Abstinanas					
Alconol Adsumence	Addressent Alconol and Tobacco Utilization	Alcohol Adstinence					
	Dravantian 2018)	Scale					
	rievenuon, 2018)						

*Note.* All measures are self-report.

districts in March and April of 2019. A pilot test of this survey packet was then conducted to ensure the readability and required time to complete the survey packet was in accordance with allotted time provided by school administrators. This sample was primarily through a convenience sample of 20 adolescents who were enrolled in one of the cooperating schools. Written parental consent was obtained prior to participants completing the pilot testing. Descriptive statistics, internal consistency ( $\alpha$  range = .70-88) scores were analyzed to ensure



these measures were appropriate for data collection. No additional pilot testing was deemed necessary. To further validate the utilization of this survey packet and prior to the formalized data collection, cognitive interviews were conducted with five students to ensure participant understanding of research materials upon completion of the pilot testing, aligned with procedures from Willis (1999; e.g., "Can you repeat the question in your own words?"; "How did you get the answer of "x"?; "How do you remember this?").

After the completion of pilot testing, parental consent form to participate in this study was distributed to all students who were currently enrolled in health and/or physical education classes within each of the five schools. Those students for whom parental active consent was obtained were assigned a code number for confidentiality of responses, prior to the data collection. All student participants were asked to report to a centralized classroom or large group instruction room at their respective school during their instructional period on the day of data collection. Students were instructed to sit at least one seat apart from their nearest peer to ensure confidentiality of responses. To start, the PI or IRB approved personnel read aloud the student assent form to all students prior to completion of the survey packet, and students were requested to complete the form. Participants were informed they could withdraw from the study at any time during data collection and were then provided with an opportunity to ask questions. In terms of the order of completion, participants were initially asked to complete the demographic questionnaire. The PI or other members of the research team were present throughout the duration of data collection to assist students with questions (i.e., providing further clarification as needed for specific questions). Participants were provided with the entire instructional period (e.g., approximately 45 to 50 minutes) to complete the survey packets, yet generally took no more than 25 minutes to complete the entire packet. After each participant indicated they had



completed their survey packet, the PI or other IRB approved key personnel scanned the packet to ensure that items were not omitted by participants. Participants were provided with another opportunity to respond when omissions were found. Survey packets were organized in one of two formats to control for order effects. The format of Packet A was demographics survey, SLSS, PANAS-C, PAQ-A, AFHC, ASHS, AATUS. The format of Packet B was demographics survey, SLSS, ASHS, AATUS, AFHC, PANAS-C, PAQ-A.

In terms of the collection of socio-economic status data, the PI provided a confidential list of participant's names to school personnel (i.e., the data clerk; determined with school personnel) who provided records for students in terms of their free or reduced-price lunch status. Free or reduced-price lunch eligibility is dependent upon fourteen eligibility criteria (e.g., family of 4 with a maximum income per year of \$47, 638; net rental income, alimony or child support payments, public assistance or welfare payments; Federal Register, 2019). Children only need to meet one criteria to qualify. School districts annually send home school meal applications at the start of each school year. However, applications can be filed by parents at any point throughout the school year. The assisting school personnel within each district were only provided access to the list of those participating students in their respective district and did not have access to participant responses on the completed surveys. The assisting school personnel were compensated (e.g., \$5 Publix, Sheetz gift card) for their assistance with this research study.

#### **Ethical Considerations**

There were several precautionary measures taken to protect the rights of student participants. Specifically, the PI acquired approval from the University of South Florida and each participating school districts' IRB prior to conducting this research. This review required the documentation of all possible precautions that were implemented to protect human research



participants, prior to conducting any components of data collection. Another ethical consideration pertains to the measures that were utilized in this study, each of that have a strong empirical rationale providing evidence as to their reliability, validity, and ethical utilization in older adolescent participant samples. Also, parental consent forms were sent home with each student enrolled in physical education classes, providing an overview of the research project, and how the specific procedures would be completed. No additional parental contact (e.g., phone calls, email) was required. Although, the PI did provide professional contact information to address any parental inquires.

Additionally, this research utilized an assent form for all student participants who acquired parental consent. Specifically, prior to the administration of the surveys during data collection, the PI or cooperating key personnel reviewed the assent form with the participants prior to obtain their assent. This assent form provided an overarching framework and rationale for the proposed study, and an overview of any risks and benefits to the student. Students were informed that they could decline participation or refuse further participation at any time during data collection. Two of students withdrew from participation during data collection, primarily due to the length of the survey. In terms of the formation of a data set, all data were deidentified and confidential access was granted only to key research personnel for further data analysis. Participant confidentiality was further assured by only analyzing aggregate data so individual participants were unable to be identified.

#### **Overview of Data Analysis**

A power analysis was completed to determine the required sample size of participants needed to obtain adequate power for the proposed study. G\*Power3.1 was utilized to calculate a range of sample sizes based on the desired effect size. Specific criteria utilized in these analyses



included an alpha level of .05 and a statistical power of .80. The 12 health-promoting behavior predictors and the additional four demographic predictors (i.e., school, race, gender, SES) in the proposed main effects multiple regression analysis also were included in the power analysis. The results indicated assuming a small effect size of .02 would require 977 participants, a moderate medium effect size of .15 would require 143 participants, and a large effect size of .35 would require 70 participants. The sample size of this study allowed for the PI to use a medium effect size (.15) and have ample representation among the various demographic factors. With respect to each participant's identified race, multiple dummy coded variables were incorporated into the study design.

To answer the research questions of interest, a series of statistical analyses were conducted. Data for this study were entered by hand in a Microsoft excel worksheet, transferred into SPSS, checked for errors in the data entry, and screened for any malingering behavior in the participants (e.g., marking the same response for the entire measure).

**Preliminary analyses.** Aggregate data from each measure were analyzed using various descriptive statistics (i.e., mean, standard deviation, skew, kurtosis) to account for potential outliers. Scores from each completed measure were calculated for all participants in the data set. To determine the reliability of the measures utilized in this study, a series of preliminary analyses were completed.

The SWB variable was created by first standardizing the scores from both the SLSS and the 10-item PANAS-C. To create the SWB variable, z-scores for life satisfaction and positive affect were added together, and negative affect was subtracted from the life satisfaction and positive affect sum score (identical to procedures utilized in Antaramian et al., 2011; Antaramian, 2015; Suldo & Shaffer, 2008; Suldo et al., 2016). In terms of the calculation of



various health-promoting behaviors, specific scores were calculated in accordance with procedures as described above in each measure specific summary. To answer the first research question of interest, that examined the relationship between subjective well-being (SWB) and health-promoting behaviors, Pearson product-moment correlation coefficients were calculated between all variables to assess strength and direction of associations. An alpha level of .05 was used to determine statistical significance, unless otherwise noted. The same procedures were utilized to answer the second research question of interest, that examined the relationship between each of the various health-promoting behaviors.

Upon the completion of the primary analyses, assumptions underlying multiple regression model techniques were completed. Specifically, linearity, normality, homogeneity of error variance, and independence of errors were checked through visual analysis. Appropriate follow-up statistical testing was conducted when deemed necessary. Linearity of the relationship between the independent (i.e., health-promoting behaviors) and dependent variables (i.e., SWB) was examined using scatter plots. Normality was inspected using visual analysis of residuals related to the dependent variables. To assess normality of variables, skewness and kurtosis also was calculated. To examine the homogeneity of error variance, a visual examination of a plot of standardized residuals by standardized predicted values was utilized. To test independence of error, scatter plots of the residuals versus predicted values of the independent variables were utilized to test for independence of error.

To answer the third research question of interest, each of the 12 health-promoting behaviors (i.e., physical activity, diet, sleep hygiene factors, tobacco and alcohol abstinence) were entered into a multiple regression. An alpha level of .05 was used to determine statistical significance. The linear combination of health-promoting behaviors influence on SWB was



assessed by examining the specific percentage of the variance on SWB. The beta weights and shared variance were interpreted to distinguish differences between specific health-promoting behaviors.

To answer research questions four, a series of multiple regression models were conducted to assess for demographic differences (i.e., moderating effects) in the relationship between the health-promoting behaviors of interest and SWB. Beta weights for the main and moderating effects in the model were assessed. The main effects of the model containing each specific demographic variable were assessed by examining the specific percentage of the variance on each health-promoting behavior. Multicollinearity between each of these variables also was investigated in the analyses. In these analyses, an alpha level of .01 was utilized to determine statistical significance, given the number of predictors and interactions that were included in the model.

To answer research questions five, a series of multiple regression models to examine the relationship between specific demographic variables and each of the health-promoting behaviors of interest. Beta weights for the main effects of the model were assessed. The main effects of the model containing the five health-promoting behaviors and each specific demographic variable were assessed by examining the specific percentage of the variance on each of the health-promoting behaviors.



# **CHAPTER FOUR:**

### RESULTS

This chapter presents the results of the analyses used to investigate this study's research questions. To answer the first two research questions, correlational data were utilized to assess the strength and direction in the relationship between each of the health-promoting behaviors and participants' levels of subjective well-being (SWB), as well as the relationship between each of the health-promoting behaviors. A series of multiple regression analyses were used to answer research questions three through five, that focused on the relationship between of each health-promoting behavior and participants' levels of SWB, as well as the relationship between various demographic factors and SWB and each of the health-promoting behaviors.

### **Research Questions**

The specific research questions included:

1. What is the relationship between specific health-promoting behaviors employed by adolescents (physical activity, dietary habits, components of sleep hygiene, tobacco abstinence, alcohol abstinence) and their subjective well-being?

What is the relationship between each of the health-promoting behaviors of interest in this study (e.g., Is there a significant correlation between physical activity and tobacco abstinence)?
After statistically controlling for race, gender, socioeconomic status, and school, that of the above health-promoting behaviors are most strongly related to the subjective well-being of adolescents?



4. To what extent, if any, are the relationships between adolescents' health-promoting behaviors and subjective well-being moderated by various demographic factors (gender, race, socioeconomic status)?

5. What are the relationships between gender, ethnicity, and socioeconomic status and each of the health-promoting behaviors (physical activity, dietary habits, components of sleep hygiene, tobacco abstinence, alcohol abstinence)?

#### **Preliminary Analyses**

**Data entry.** Data collected from completed survey packets were entered into a passwordprotected excel spreadsheet by the PI or another IRB approved personnel member. Integrity checks were completed for 20% of the entered data (i.e., 90 survey packets checked for accuracy). Specifically, every fifth participant's electronic data were checked alongside the original paper survey data to ensure validity of the data entry. In cases when data entry errors were apparent, one additional participant entry before and after the error was checked to ensure accuracy. Data error entries were minimal as only 3.3% of packets checked contained data entry errors. The correct data were then transferred into the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS; version 24) that was utilized to sum or average the variables of interest to create scales and to conduct the necessary analyses to answer the research questions.

**Missing data.** Rates of missing data were low because of the specific data collection procedures implemented to ensure acquisition of as much data as possible. Specifically, after each participant indicated they had completed their survey packet, the PI or other IRB approved key personnel scanned the packet to ensure that items were not omitted by participants. Participants were provided with another opportunity to respond when omissions were found. Based on these procedures, missing data were minimal (e.g., less than 1% of all participant data).



Scale Reliability. Prior to completing subsequent analyses, all measures that were

utilized in this study (i.e., SLSS, PANAS-C, AFHC, PAQ-A, ASHS, AATUS) were analyzed to assess their reliability. Specifically, internal consistencies were computed utilizing Cronbach's alphas and are displayed in Table 7. The Cronbach's alphas ranged between .52 (Adolescent Sleep Hygiene Scale-Physiological Factors) and .91 (Positive and Negative Affect Scale-Positive Affect) indicating generally strong estimates of reliability in this study (Cicchetti, 1994).

## Table 7

Measure	Number of Items	Cronbach's Alpha
SLSS	7	.83
PANAS-C (PA)	12	.91
PANAS-C (NA)	15	.90
AFHC	22	.81
PAQ-A	8	.82
ASHS-Physiological Factors	5	.52
ASHS-Behavioral Arousal Factor	3	.58
ASHS-Cognitive/Emotional Factor	6	.76
ASHS-Sleep Environment Factor	5	.66
ASHS-Sleep Stability Factor	3	.68
ASHS-Daytime Sleep Factor	2	.86
ASHS-Substances Factor	2	.72
AATUS-Tobacco Abstinence	4	.63
AATUS-Alcohol Abstinence	2	.70

## Cronbach's Alpha for Measures in Study

*Note.* SLSS= Student Life Satisfaction Scale. PANAS= Positive and Negative Affect Scale. PA = Positive Affect. NA= Negative Affect. AFHC= Adolescent Food Habits Checklist. PAQ-A= Physical Activity Questionnaire for Adolescents. ASHS= Adolescent Sleep Hygiene Scale. AAATUS= Adolescent Alcohol and Tobacco Utilization Scale. \*ASHS contains a Bedtime Routine Factor consisting of one item so internal consistency could not be calculated for that scale.

# **Descriptive Characteristics of the Sample**

Descriptive statistics for all the continuous variables of interest in this study are presented

in Table 8. The calculation of the SWB score mirrored prior studies, that have included a

composite comprised of aggregate, standardized scores for life satisfaction, positive affect, and



negative affect (Antaramian, 2015; Antaramian et al., 2010; Shaffer-Hudkins, 2011; Suldo & Shaffer, 2008; Suldo et al., 2016). Therefore, standardized scores for the SLSS and PANAS-C positive affect scale were added together. The PANAS-C negative affect scale was then standardized and subtracted from the sum utilizing SPSS. Regarding composition of each health-promoting behavior, mean sum scale scores were calculated consistent with each measure's instructions that are described in detail in Chapter 3. Additionally, based on the nature of the measures of health-promotion, factor analysis was completed for each of the scales. Based on the confirmatory factor analysis described in Chapter 3, it was decided that each of Adolescent Sleep Hygiene Scale subscales would be included in the analyses, in lieu of the sum scale score.

Prior to conducting any of the analyses to answer the research questions of interest, assumptions were analyzed for aggregate variables. Box and whisker plots, along with the skew and kurtosis of each variable, were examined to assess for normality. A majority of the variables had skew and kurtosis values within the normal range of -2 to 2. However, the sleep hygiene substance factor (e.g., utilizing tobacco or alcohol products prior to sleeping) and the tobacco and alcohol abstinence scores were outside the normal range for both skew and kurtosis. This is primarily attributed to the infrequent number of participants who endorsed high scores on these measures (e.g., limited utilization of tobacco or alcohol products).

The entire data set was also analyzed to detect for multivariate outliers. Interpretations of the standardized residuals (specifically no residuals of more than 3.3 or less than -3.3, as specified by Pallant, 2011; Tabachnick, Fidell, & Ullman 2007) indicated that no multivariate outliers were detected within the data set, therefore a final sample size of 450 participants was retained for the analyses.



Additional Treatment of Data. Notably, a small portion of participants in this sample indicated utilization of either tobacco or alcohol products. Specifically, 3.1% of the sample noted that they have smoked any cigarettes, 2.9% utilized any cigar products, 2.7% utilized any chewing tobacco, 12% utilized any vaping products, 13.1% identified that they had drank any alcohol, and 6.0% indicated that they had engaged in binge drinking behaviors. Based on the limited number of participants who engaged in these behaviors in comparison to national studies (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2018), and because the measure was initially set to a 7-point scale, with few students reporting excessive utilization of any product, responses were subsequently collapsed into two categories of "abstained (i.e., 1 = health-promoting; complete abstinence from product)" or "utilized (i.e., 0 = health-compromising; any utilization of products in further analyses.

#### **Correlational Analyses**

**Research Question 1**: What is the relationship between specific health-promoting behaviors employed by adolescents (physical activity, dietary habits, components of sleep hygiene, tobacco abstinence, alcohol abstinence) and their subjective well-being?

To answer this question, Pearson product-moment correlation coefficients were calculated for all the continuous variables in this study (see Appendix L). Statistical significance was determined with an alpha level of .05. To gain further clarity in the relationship between the variables of interest, pairwise deletions were utilized for correlational analyses, providing a final sample size of 430 participants for research questions one through four. In terms of the composition of the SWB variable, life satisfaction, positive affect, and negative affect were all significantly correlated. Regarding this first question, SWB was positively correlated with seven



# Table 8

## Descriptive Statistics of Variables of Interest

x7 · 11	17	14	CD	<u>C1</u>	17	17	1
Variable	N	М	SD	Skew	Kurtosis	Міпітит	Махітит
Positive Mental Health							
Subjective Well-Being*	450	0.02	2.37	-0.55	0.04	-10.24	4.98
Life Satisfaction	450	4.26	0.93	-0.51	-0.13	1.00	6.00
Positive Affect	450	3.32	0.87	-0.28	-0.58	1.00	5.00
Negative Affect	450	1.91	0.73	1.14	1.16	1.00	5.00
Health-Promoting Behaviors							
Physical Activity	449	2.45	0.77	0.29	-0.80	1.00	5.00
Diet	449	10.98	4.83	-0.08	-0.72	0.00	23.00
Sleep Hygiene-Physiological Factors	450	4.33	0.91	-0.53	0.30	1.00	6.00
Sleep Hygiene -Behavioral Arousal Factor	449	3.10	1.23	-0.02	-0.80	1.00	6.00
Sleep Hygiene -Cognitive/Emotional Factor	448	3.76	1.08	-0.30	-0.45	1.00	6.00
Sleep Hygiene -Sleep Environment Factor	449	4.86	1.02	-1.28	1.61	1.00	6.00
Sleep Hygiene -Sleep Stability Factor	440	3.01	1.28	1.80	-0.85	1.00	6.00
Sleep Hygiene -Daytime Sleep Factor	450	3.97	1.67	-0.46	1.04	1.00	6.00
Sleep Hygiene -Substances Factor	450	5.81	0.62	-4.67	24.75	1.00	6.00
Sleep Hygiene-Bedtime Routine Factor	447	3.80	1.82	-0.16	-1.40	1.00	6.00
Tobacco Abstinence**	447	0.95	0.14	-4.0	19.17	0.00	1.00
Alcohol Abstinence**	446	0.91	0.25	-2.8	6.82	0.00	1.00

*Note.* \*z-score utilized in analyses. \*\*Maximum score of 1 indicating complete abstinence on each item. Minimum and Maximum values reference potential scores on each measure.



health promoting behaviors: physical activity (r = .33, p < .01), and six subscales of the Adolescent Sleep Hygiene Scale including: Behavioral Arousal (r = .11, p < .05), Sleep Environment (r = .10, p < .05), Sleep Stability (r = .14, p < .05), Daytime Sleep (r = .10, p < .01), Bedtime Routine (r = .17, p < .05) and Cognitive/Emotional Factors (r = .47, p < .01), that had the strongest correlation of all the variables of interest, respectively. The correlations between SWB and the other health-promoting behaviors (e.g., diet, tobacco or alcohol abstinence) were not significant.

**Research Question 2:** What is the relationship between each of the health-promoting behaviors of interest in this study (e.g., significant correlation between physical activity and tobacco abstinence)?

The correlations between the health-promoting behaviors ranged between -.14 and .54 (see Appendix L). Specifically, the strongest significant correlation was between tobacco and alcohol abstinence (r = .54, p < .01). Additionally, several of the ASHS subscales were significantly correlated. In terms of the strongest correlations between the sleep factors, the ASHS Physiological Factor was positively associated with both the Sleep Environment (r = .52, p < .01), and the Daytime sleep (r = .49, p < .01) factors. Also, diet was most strongly correlated correlated with physical activity (r = .16, p < .01), Sleep Hygiene Physiological Factors (r = .24, p < .01). In total, the healthy diet score was significantly correlated with nine health-promoting behaviors ranging between .11 and .24. The Daytime Sleep Factor was associated with eight different health-promoting behaviors while the Diet and the ASUS Physiological Factor and Sleep Stability Factors were significantly correlated with seven other health-promoting behaviors.



#### Multiple Regression Analyses.

**Research Question 3:** After statistically controlling for race, gender, socioeconomic status, and school, that of the health-promoting behaviors are most strongly related to the subjective well-being of adolescents?

Analysis of assumptions for multiple regression. Prior to interpreting the results of the multiple regression analyses for research questions three through five, assumptions were checked to ensure there were no violations. First, the normal distribution of residuals was examined, and no violations occurred. Next the variance of the SWB variable was examined through visual analyses of plotted residuals, that was found to be homogenous, indicating that no violations occurred. Variables also were checked for multicollinearity. In terms of multicollinearity amongst the health-promoting behaviors and other predictor variables (e.g., race, SES) there were no relationships that were excessively predictive of each other, that could have been a concern when adding these variables into a regression. Lastly, scatter plots between the predictor variables and dependent variables (e.g., SWB) were examined. Visual analyses indicated that each of these relationships were linear in nature. Therefore, no assumptions of multiple regression were violated, and the data set was considered fit for analyses.

To answer research question three, race, socioeconomic status, gender, and school were entered into Model 1 to control for their effects on SWB and to investigate that of the healthpromoting behaviors of interest were most strongly predictive of SWB. Race and school were dummy coded prior to being entered into the regression analysis. An alpha level of .05 was utilized to determine statistical significance for these models. Given the small portions of some races reported by participants in this study, those participants who solely endorsed Asian, Pacific Islander, American Indiana/Pacific Islander, or solely "other" were comprised into an


encompassing group entitled "Other" for all multiple regression analyses. To gain further clarity in the relationship between the variables of interest, pairwise deletions were utilized for analyses, providing a final sample size of 430 participants for multiple regression models which examined the main effects of the health-promoting behaviors on SWB. The main effects of Model 1 were not statistically significant from zero, F(10, 439) = 1.54, p = .12,  $R^2 = .034$ . Specifically, the combination of the demographic factors accounted for 3.4% of the observed variance in SWB and the only statistically significant beta weight was associated with gender (-.18\*). Therefore, in this study, girls reported lower levels of SWB when compared to boys.

Model 2 included each of the demographic factors and all 12 health-promoting behaviors as predictors. The linear combination of these factors was statistically different from zero and accounted for 39.80% of the variance in high school aged adolescents SWB *F* (22, 407) = 12.24, p < .001,  $R^2 = .398$ . As displayed in Table 9, the specific beta weights from the equation indicated that several health-promoting behaviors were identified as statistically significant predictors of SWB. Specifically, sleep hygiene-cognitive emotional factors ( $\beta$ =.53), physical activity ( $\beta$ =.30), sleep-bedtime routine ( $\beta$ =.21) were identified as factors that were significantly related to youth SWB. Participants who rated themselves higher for engagement in these healthpromoting behaviors reported higher levels of SWB. The other nine health-promoting behaviors did not significantly contribute to the variance in SWB. Additionally, School B was identified as a unique predictor of SWB with students at that school reporting higher levels of SWB, when compared to School A, that served as the reference group.



Hierarchical Regression Analysis for Demographic Factors and Health-Promoting Behaviors Predicting SWB

		Model 1				Model 2		
		<i>N</i> = 450				<i>N</i> = 430		
Variable	В	SE B	β	р	В	SE B	β	р
Race								
African American <sup>a</sup>	.28	.39	.05	.48	.09	.34	.02	.79
Hispanic <sup>a</sup>	.00	.38	.00	.99	.02	.32	.00	.96
Multiracial <sup>a</sup>	06	.49	01	.90	25	.41	03	.54
Other <sup>a</sup>	06	.50	01	.90	36	.42	04	.39
Socioeconomic Status								
Free-Reduced Lunch <sup>b</sup>	04	.25	01	.87	.21	.20	.05	.30
Gender								
Female <sup>c</sup>	86	.23	18**	.00	14	.21	03	.50
School								
School B <sup>d</sup>	15	.50	02	.77	1.18	.43	.12**	.01
School C <sup>d</sup>	22	.40	03	.58	.35	.34	.05	.31
School D <sup>d</sup>	25	.38	05	.65	.31	.33	.06	.35
School E <sup>d</sup>	08	.49	01	.87	.66	.42	.09	.12
Health-Promoting Behaviors								
Physical Activity					.93	.13	.30**	.00
Diet					03	.02	06	.14
Sleep Hygiene-Physiological Factors					.03	.14	.01	.85
Sleep Hygiene -Behavioral Arousal Factor					14	.09	07	.14
Sleep Hygiene -Cognitive/Emotional Factor					1.18	.11	.53**	.00
Sleep Hygiene -Sleep Environment Factor					.03	.12	.01	.83
Sleep Hygiene -Sleep Stability Factor					.02	.08	.01	.78
Sleep Hygiene -Daytime Sleep Factor					01	.07	01	.89



Table 9 (continued).					
Variable		В	SE B	β	р
Sleep Hygiene -Substances Factor		.21	.18	.06	.25
Sleep Hygiene-Bedtime Routine Factor		.27	.05	.21**	.00
Tobacco Abstinence		35	.91	02	.70
Alcohol Abstinence		.65	.47	.07	.17
$P^2$	034		308		

 $\frac{R^2}{Note. * p < .05, ** p < .01. a Reference Race group is White. B Reference group is non-free or reduced-price lunch. C Reference group is males. A Reference group is School A.$ 



**Research Question Four:** To what extent, if any, are the relationships between adolescents' health-promoting behaviors and subjective well-being moderated by various demographic factors (gender, race, socioeconomic status)?

To further investigate the relationship between health-promoting behaviors and SWB, the moderating effects (i.e., interactions with each health-promoting behavior) of each of the demographic variables were examined. For these analyses, an alpha level of .01 was utilized to determine statistical significance based on the number of predictors and interactions being entered into the regression models with four dummy coded variables. Regression models including the interactions of each racial group with each of the 12 health-promoting behaviors was conducted to determine if this interaction accounted for additional variance in SWB beyond the previous models, as previously described (White participants served as the reference group; see Appendix M). When interactions were included, the model was statistically different from zero and accounted for an additional 9.60% of the variance in SWB, F(70, 359) = 5.00, R<sup>2</sup>=.494. The change in  $\mathbb{R}^2$  was not significant F (48, 359) = 1.41, p = .04. Similar to the model that included the main effects of the health-promoting behaviors, sleep hygiene-cognitive emotional factors ( $\beta$ =.65), physical activity ( $\beta$ =.21), and sleep-bedtime routine ( $\beta$ =.21) were significant predictors. The only significant interaction which was identified was between multiracial youth and physical activity ( $\beta$ =.47)

A regression model including the moderating effects of gender was conducted to determine if the interaction of gender with each of the 12 health-promoting behaviors accounted for additional variance in SWB beyond the previous models, as described previously (see Appendix N). When interactions were included, the model was statistically different from zero and accounted for an additional 2.20% of the variance in SWB, F(34, 395) = 8.45,  $R^2 = .420$ . The



change in R<sup>2</sup> was not statistically significant F(12, 395) = 1.30, p = .21. Similar to the model that included the main effects of the health-promoting behaviors, sleep hygiene-cognitive emotional factors ( $\beta$ =.38), physical activity ( $\beta$ =.32), and sleep-bedtime routine ( $\beta$ =.20) were significant predictors. None of the interactions in the model served as unique predictors of SWB when utilizing an alpha of .01.

A regression model including the moderating effects of socioeconomic status was used to determine if the interaction of socioeconomic status with each of the 12 health-promoting behaviors accounted for additional variance in SWB beyond the previous models, that included the main effects of each demographic factor and the 12 health-promoting behaviors (see Appendix O). When interactions were included, the model was significantly different than zero and accounted for an additional 2.20% of the variance in SWB, *F* (34, 395) =8.42, R<sup>2</sup>=.42. The change in R<sup>2</sup> was not statistically significant *F* (12, 395) = 1.25, *p* = .25. Similar to the model that included the main effects of the health-promoting behaviors, sleep hygiene-cognitive emotional factors ( $\beta$ =.56), physical activity ( $\beta$ =.36), and sleep-bedtime routine ( $\beta$ =.19) were significant predictors. None of the interactions in the model served as unique predictors of SWB when utilizing an alpha of .01

**Research Question Five:** What are the relationships between gender, ethnicity, and socioeconomic status and each of the health-promoting behaviors?

To further examine the relationship between each of the demographic factors and the various health-promoting behaviors, a series of multiple regressions were completed. An alpha level of .05 was utilized to determine statistical significance in these analyses. In each case, race, socioeconomic status, gender, and school were entered into a model with each health-promoting behavior serving as an outcome variable. School was entered into each of the respective models,



to control for effects of demographic differences at each of the participating schools. However, differences between schools were not the primary interest of this study.

The linear combination of the demographic factors was significantly different from zero and accounted for 12.30% of the variance in high school aged adolescent's physical activity levels, F(10, 438) = 6.15, p < .001,  $R^2 = .123$ . As displayed in Table 10, the specific beta weights yielded from the equation indicated that gender ( $\beta$ =-.27) was identified as a unique predictor of physical activity. In this case, boys had higher rates of physical activity compared to girls.

Table 10

Variable	В	SE B	β	р
Race				
African American <sup>a</sup>	.23	.12	.12	.06
Hispanic <sup>a</sup>	06	.12	03	.63
Multiracial <sup>a</sup>	.18	.15	.06	.23
Other <sup>a</sup>	08	.16	03	.59
Socioeconomic Status				
Free-Reduced Lunch <sup>b</sup>	09	.08	06	.22
Gender				
Female <sup>c</sup>	42	.07	27**	.00
School				
School B <sup>d</sup>	47	.16	15**	.00
School C <sup>d</sup>	28	.12	13*	.02
School D <sup>d</sup>	42	.12	27**	.00
School E <sup>d</sup>	23	.15	10	.13
$R^2$		.123		

Regression Analysis for Demographic Factors Predicting Physical Activity

*Note.* N = 449. \* p < .05, \*\* p < .01. <sup>a</sup>Reference Race group is White. <sup>b</sup>Reference group is non-free or reduced-price lunch. <sup>c</sup>Reference group is males. <sup>d</sup>Reference group is School A.

The linear combination of the demographic factors was significantly different from zero and accounted for 10.40% of the variance in high school aged adolescent's healthy diet score,  $F(10, 438) = 5.08, p < .001, R^2 = .104$ . As displayed in Table 11, the specific beta weights



yielded from the equation indicated that gender ( $\beta$ =.10) was identified as a unique predictor of a healthy diet. In this case, girls had higher healthy diet scores compared to boys.

## Table 11

Regression Analysis for Demographic Factor	ors Predicting Dietary Habits
--	-------------------------------

Variable	В	SE B	β	р
Race			·	•
African American <sup>a</sup>	.37	.76	.03	.63
Hispanic <sup>a</sup>	.52	.74	.05	.70
Multiracial <sup>a</sup>	1.05	.97	.06	.28
Other <sup>a</sup>	1.11	.98	.06	.26
Socioeconomic Status				
Free-Reduced Lunch <sup>b</sup>	.41	.48	.04	.39
Gender				
Female <sup>c</sup>	.98	.41	.10*	.03
School				
School B <sup>d</sup>	-2.40	.98	12*	.02
School C <sup>d</sup>	-3.63	.77	26**	.00
School D <sup>d</sup>	-3.27	.74	33**	.00
School E <sup>d</sup>	-3.64	.95	24**	.00
$R^2$		.104		

*Note.* N = 449. \* p < .05, \*\* p < .01. aReference Race group is White. bReference group is non-free or reduced-price lunch. cReference group is males. dReference group is School A.

The linear combination of the demographic factors was significantly different from zero and accounted for 11.10% of the variance in high school aged adolescents' sleep hygiene physiological factors score, F(10, 439) = 5.46, p < .001,  $R^2 = .111$ . As displayed in Table 12, the specific beta weights yielded from the equation identified as African American (-.18) or Hispanic (-.14) were unique predictors of sleep hygiene physiological factors. In this case, African American and Hispanic youth had lower rates of sleep hygiene physiological factors compared to White adolescents.



Variable	В	SE B	β	р
Race				
African American <sup>a</sup>	40	.14	18**	.01
Hispanic <sup>a</sup>	29	.14	14**	.04
Multiracial <sup>a</sup>	05	.18	02	.77
Other <sup>a</sup>	04	.19	01	.84
Socioeconomic Status				
Free-Reduced Lunch <sup>b</sup>	09	.09	05	.32
Gender				
Female <sup>c</sup>	.12	.08	.07	.15
School				
School B <sup>d</sup>	75	.19	20**	.00
School C <sup>d</sup>	20	.15	07	.16
School D <sup>d</sup>	18	.14	09	.20
School E <sup>d</sup>	37	.18	13*	.04
<u>R<sup>2</sup></u>		.111	he a	

Regression Analysis for Demographic Factors Predicting Sleep Hygiene Physiological Factors

*Note.* N = 450. \* p < .05, \*\* p < .01. <sup>a</sup>Reference Race group is White. <sup>b</sup>Reference group is non-free or reduced-price lunch. <sup>c</sup>Reference group is males. <sup>d</sup>Reference group is School A.

The linear combination of the demographic factors was not significantly different from zero and accounted for 3.50% of the variance in high school aged adolescent's sleep hygiene behavioral arousal, F(10, 438) = 1.22, p = .00,  $R^2 = .035$ . As displayed in Table 13, the specific beta weights yielded from the equation indicated that there were no unique demographic factor predictors that were associated with sleep hygiene behavioral arousal.



Variable	В	SE B	β	р
Race				
African American <sup>a</sup>	08	.20	03	.69
Hispanic <sup>a</sup>	12	.20	04	.53
Multiracial <sup>a</sup>	.10	.26	.02	.70
Other <sup>a</sup>	.26	.26	.05	.31
Socioeconomic Status				
Free-Reduced Lunch <sup>b</sup>	13	.13	05	.30
Gender				
Female <sup>c</sup>	.15	.12	.06	.20
School				
School B <sup>d</sup>	52	.26	10*	.05
School C <sup>d</sup>	08	.20	02	.69
School D <sup>d</sup>	06	.19	02	.78
School E <sup>d</sup>	44	.25	12	.08
$R^2$		.035		

Regression Analysis for Demographic Factors Predicting Sleep Hygiene Behavioral Arousal

*Note.* N = 449\* p < .05, \*\* p < .01. <sup>a</sup>Reference Race group is White. <sup>b</sup>Reference group is non-free or reduced-price lunch. <sup>c</sup>Reference group is males. <sup>d</sup>Reference group is School A.

The linear combination of the demographic factors was significantly different from zero and accounted for 6.20% of the variance in high school aged adolescent's sleep hygiene cognitive/emotional factors, F(10, 437) = 6.15, p < .01,  $R^2 = .062$ . As displayed in Table 14, the specific beta weights yielded from the equation indicated that gender (-.14) was identified as a unique predictor of cognitive/emotional factors related to sleep hygiene. In this case, boys had higher rates of sleep hygiene related to cognitive/emotional factors compared to girls.



Variable	В	SE B	β	р
Race				
African American <sup>a</sup>	22	.18	09	.20
Hispanic <sup>a</sup>	11	.17	05	.51
Multiracial <sup>a</sup>	09	.22	02	.70
Other <sup>a</sup>	.42	.23	.10	.06
Socioeconomic Status				
Free-Reduced Lunch <sup>b</sup>	09	.11	04	.39
Gender				
Female <sup>c</sup>	31	.10	14**	.00
School				
School B <sup>d</sup>	54	.23	12*	.02
School C <sup>d</sup>	18	.18	06	.31
School D <sup>d</sup>	07	.17	03	.70
School E <sup>d</sup>	28	.22	09	.20
$R^2$		.062		

Regression Analysis for Demographic Factors Predicting Sleep Hygiene Cognitive/Emotional Factor

*Note.* N = 448. \* p < .05, \*\* p < .01. <sup>a</sup>Reference Race group is White. <sup>b</sup>Reference group is non-free or reduced-price lunch. <sup>c</sup>Reference group is males. <sup>d</sup>Reference group is School A.

The linear combination of the demographic factors was significantly different from zero and accounted for 15.70% of the variance in high school aged adolescent's sleep hygiene environmental factors, F(10, 438) = 8.15, p < .001,  $R^2 = .157$ . As displayed in Table 15, the specific beta weights yielded from the equation indicated that identifying as African American ( $\beta$ =-.21) was a unique predictor of poor sleep hygiene. Specifically, African Americans had significantly lower rates of sleep hygiene related to environmental factors compared to White adolescents.



Variable	В	SE B	β	р
Race				
African American <sup>a</sup>	51	.16	21**	.00
Hispanic <sup>a</sup>	20	.15	09	.19
Multiracial <sup>a</sup>	07	.20	02	.71
Other <sup>a</sup>	02	.20	01	.92
Socioeconomic Status				
Free-Reduced Lunch <sup>b</sup>	09	.10	04	.36
Gender				
Female <sup>c</sup>	04	.09	02	.65
School				
School B <sup>d</sup>	31	.20	07	.13
School C <sup>d</sup>	30	.16	10	.06
School D <sup>d</sup>	43	.15	21**	.00
School E <sup>d</sup>	74	.20	23**	.00
$R^2$		.157		

Regression Analysis for Demographic Factors Predicting Sleep Hygiene Environment Factors

*Note.* N = 449. \* p < .05, \*\* p < .01. aReference Race group is White. bReference group is non-free or reduced-price lunch. Reference group is males. Reference group is School A.

The linear combination of the demographic factors was not significantly different from zero and accounted for 2.40% of the variance in high school aged adolescent's sleep hygiene sleep stability, F(10, 429) = 1.08, p = .38,  $R^2 = .024$ . As displayed in Table 16, the specific beta weights yielded from the equation indicated that none of the demographic factors served as unique predictors in terms of sleep stability.



Variable	В	SE B	β	р
Race				
African American <sup>a</sup>	.11	.21	.04	.62
Hispanic <sup>a</sup>	.07	.21	.02	.75
Multiracial <sup>a</sup>	.23	.27	.05	.39
Other <sup>a</sup>	.12	.27	.02	.65
Socioeconomic Status				
Free-Reduced Lunch <sup>b</sup>	10	.13	04	.48
Gender				
Female <sup>c</sup>	.04	.13	.02	75
School				
School B <sup>d</sup>	.05	.27	.01	.85
School C <sup>d</sup>	46	.22	13*	.03
School D <sup>d</sup>	31	.21	12	.14
School E <sup>d</sup>	50	.27	13	.06
$R^2$		.024	1	

Regression Analysis for Demographic Factors Predicting Sleep Stability

*Note.* N = 440. \* p < .05, \*\* p < .01. Reference Race group is White. <sup>b</sup>Reference group is non-free or reduced-price lunch. <sup>c</sup>Reference group is males. <sup>d</sup>Reference group is School A.

The linear combination of the demographic factors was significantly different from zero and accounted for 24.20% of the variance in high school aged adolescent's daytime sleepiness,  $F(10, 439) = 14.04, p < .001, R^2 = .242$  As displayed in Table 17, the specific beta weights yielded from the equation indicated that gender ( $\beta$ =-.19) and identifying as African American ( $\beta$ =-.21) were a unique predictor of daytime sleepiness. In this case, African Americans had lower rates of sleep hygiene related to daytime sleepiness (e.g., more day time sleepiness) when compared to White students, while girls had lower rates of sleep hygiene related to daytime sleepiness of sleep hygiene related to daytime sleepiness (e.g., more day time sleepiness) when sleepiness compared to boys.



Variable	В	SE B	β	р
Race				
African American <sup>a</sup>	84	.24	21*	.00
Hispanic <sup>a</sup>	44	.24	11	.07
Multiracial <sup>a</sup>	26	.31	04	.40
Other <sup>a</sup>	15	.31	02	.63
Socioeconomic Status				
Free-Reduced Lunch <sup>b</sup>	22	.15	06	.16
Gender				
Female <sup>c</sup>	64	.14	19**	.00
School				
School B <sup>d</sup>	65	.31	10*	.04
School C <sup>d</sup>	73	.25	15**	.00
School D <sup>d</sup>	-1.14	.24	33**	.00
School E <sup>d</sup>	-1.18	.30	23**	.00
$R^2$		.242		

Regression Analysis for Demographic Factors Predicting Sleep Hygiene Day Time Sleepiness

*Note.* N = 450. \* p < .05, \*\* p < .01. <sup>a</sup>Reference Race group is White. <sup>b</sup>Reference group is non-free or reduced-price lunch. <sup>c</sup>Reference group is males. <sup>d</sup>Reference group is School A.

The linear combination of the demographic factors was significantly different from zero and accounted for 6.60% of the variance in high school aged adolescent's sleep hygiene substance utilization, F(10, 439) = 3.09,  $p < .001 R^2 = .066$ . As displayed in Table 18, the specific beta weights yielded from the equation indicated that gender ( $\beta$ =.13) was identified as a unique predictor of sleep hygiene substance utilization. In this case, girls had higher rates of sleep hygiene related to substances (e.g., not utilizing substances prior to sleeping) when compared to boys.



Variable	В	SE B	β	р
Race			•	
African American <sup>a</sup>	.05	.10	.03	.61
Hispanic <sup>a</sup>	.00	.10	.00	.99
Multiracial <sup>a</sup>	.07	.13	.03	.57
Other <sup>a</sup>	40	.13	15	.00
Socioeconomic Status				
Free-Reduced Lunch <sup>b</sup>	.04	.06	.03	. 58
Gender				
Female <sup>c</sup>	.17	.06	.13**	.00
School				
School B <sup>d</sup>	30	.13	12*	.02
School C <sup>d</sup>	18	.10	10	.07
School D <sup>d</sup>	09	.10	07	.34
School E <sup>d</sup>	05	.13	02	.72
$R^2$		.066		

Regression Analysis for Demographic Factors Predicting Sleep Hygiene Substances

*Note.* N = 450. \* p < .05, \*\* p < .01. <sup>a</sup>Reference Race group is White. <sup>b</sup>Reference group is non-free or reduced-price lunch. <sup>c</sup>Reference group is males. <sup>d</sup>Reference group is School A.

The linear combination of the demographic factors was not significantly different from zero and accounted for 4.00% of the variance in high school aged adolescent's bedtime routine,  $F(10, 436) = 1.80, p = .054, R^2 = .04$ . As displayed in Table 19, the specific beta weights yielded from the equation indicated that identifying as Hispanic ( $\beta$ =.14) served as a unique predictor pertaining to greater adherence to a bedtime routine, when compared to White adolescents.



Variable	В	SE B	β	р
Race				
African American <sup>a</sup>	.27	.30	.06	.36
Hispanic <sup>a</sup>	.59	.29	.14*	.04
Multiracial <sup>a</sup>	.23	.38	.03	.54
Other <sup>a</sup>	04	.38	01	.91
Socioeconomic Status				
Free-Reduced Lunch <sup>b</sup>	26	.19	07	.16
Gender				
Female <sup>c</sup>	.28	.17	.08	.12
School				
School B <sup>d</sup>	83	.39	11*	.03
School C <sup>d</sup>	80	.30	15**	.01
School D <sup>d</sup>	69	.29	18*	.02
School E <sup>d</sup>	71	.37	13	.06
$R^2$		.04		

Regression Analysis for Demographic Factors Predicting Sleep Hygiene Bedtime Routine Factor

*Note.* N=447. \*p<.05, \*\* p<.01. aReference Race group is White. bReference group is non-free or reduced-price lunch. CReference group is males. dReference group is School A.

The linear combination of the demographic factors was significantly different from zero and accounted for 6.30% of the variance in high school aged adolescent's abstinence from tobacco products F(10, 436) = 2.95, p < .01,  $R^2 = .063$ . As displayed in Table 20, the specific beta weights yielded from the equation indicated that identifying as African American ( $\beta$ =.16) was a unique predictor of tobacco abstinence. In this case, African Americans had significantly greater rates of abstinence from tobacco products when compared to White adolescents.



Variable	В	SE B	β	р
Race				
African American <sup>a</sup>	.05	.02	.16*	.02
Hispanic <sup>a</sup>	.04	.02	.13	.06
Multiracial <sup>a</sup>	.01	.03	.03	.63
Other <sup>a</sup>	.01	.03	.02	.73
Socioeconomic Status				
Free-Reduced Lunch <sup>b</sup>	.01	.01	.04	.44
Gender				
Female <sup>c</sup>	.03	.01	.09	.06
School				
School B <sup>d</sup>	.01	.03	.03	.63
School C <sup>d</sup>	05	.02	12*	.04
School D <sup>d</sup>	.01	.02	.03	.69
School E <sup>d</sup>	.01	.03	.03	.66
$R^2$		.063		

Regression Analysis for Demographic Factors Predicting Tobacco Abstinence

*Note.* N = 447. \* p < .05, \*\* p < .01. <sup>a</sup>Reference Race group is White. <sup>b</sup>Reference group is non-free or reduced-price lunch. <sup>c</sup>Reference group is males. <sup>d</sup>Reference group is School A.

The linear combination of the demographic factors was significantly different from zero and accounted for 6.00% of the variance in high school aged adolescents' abstinence from alcohol products, F(10, 435) = 2.76, p < .01,  $R^2 = .06$ . As displayed in Table 21, the specific beta weights yielded from the equation indicated that identifying as African American ( $\beta$ =.22), Hispanic ( $\beta$ =.16), or Multiracial ( $\beta$ =.17) was a unique predictor of alcohol abstinence. In this case, African American, Hispanic, and Multiracial had greater rates of abstinence from alcohol products when compared to White adolescents.



Variable	В	SE B	β	р
Race				
African American <sup>a</sup>	.13	.04	.22**	.01
Hispanic <sup>a</sup>	.09	.04	.16*	.02
Multiracial <sup>a</sup>	.16	.05	.17**	.00
Other <sup>a</sup>	.02	.05	.02	.68
Socioeconomic Status				
Free-Reduced Lunch <sup>b</sup>	.04	.03	.08	.11
Gender				
Female <sup>c</sup>	.01	.02	.02	.72
School				
School B <sup>d</sup>	14	.05	14**	.00
School C <sup>d</sup>	10	.04	14*	.01
School D <sup>d</sup>	07	.04	14	.06
School E <sup>d</sup>	09	.05	12	.07
$R^2$		.06		

Regression Analysis for Demographic Factors Predicting Alcohol Abstinence

*Note.* N = 446. \* p < .05, \*\* p < .01. aReference Race group is White. bReference group is non-free or reduced-price lunch. Reference group is males. Reference group is School A.

#### **Summary of Significant Findings**

Multiple findings were noted pertaining to the variables of interest. Seven of the 12 health-promoting behaviors were significantly correlated with the SWB of high school aged adolescents in this sample. Also, healthy diet score was significantly correlated with nine other health-promoting behaviors, more than any of the other health-promoting behaviors. Furthermore, a substantial portion of the variance in SWB was accounted for by the linear combination of the 12 health-promoting behaviors of interest (39.80%). Specifically, three of the health-promoting behaviors (i.e., physical activity, sleep hygiene cognitive emotional factors, bedtime routine) were unique predictors of increased SWB. With respect to demographics, only gender served as a significant predictor of SWB and only when the demographic characteristics were entered into the first model. Therefore, in this study, boys reported higher levels of SWB,



when compared to girls. Additionally, there were no significant interactions between any of the demographic characteristics and any of the health-promoting behaviors, indicating that there were no moderating effects in any of the analyses. Therefore, it was considered acceptable to interpret the main effects of the health-promoting behaviors, given that no moderating variables influenced the relationship between adolescent's health-promoting behaviors and SWB. Finally, in terms of the main effects of various demographic factors on each of the health-promoting behaviors of interest, at least one racial group served as a unique predictor for six of the health-promoting behaviors. Socioeconomic status did not serve as a unique predictor for any health-promoting behaviors. Sleep hygiene-daytime sleepiness was the only health-promoting behavior to have two demographic characteristics that served as unique predictors (i.e., African-American, girls).



www.manaraa.com

# CHAPTER FIVE: DISCUSSION

This study sought to further understand the relationship between adolescents' physical wellness and positive mental health. Specifically, research questions evaluated (1) the strength and direction of the relationships between various health-promoting behaviors and subjective well-being, (2) the strength and direction between each of the health-promoting behaviors, (3) the influence of each health-promoting behavior on subjective well-being, (4) the moderating role of various demographic factors in the relationship between health-promoting behaviors and subjective well-being, and (5) the relationship between various demographic factors and each of the health-promoting behaviors of interest. This chapter provides an overview of the findings from this study in relation to the research questions of interest and hypotheses, as well as any links with previous literature. Additionally, expansions of the current literature base and clinical implications for school psychology practice are reviewed. Finally, limitations of the current study, avenues for future research, and concluding thoughts are provided.

#### **Examination of the Results**

Participants in the current study reported positive appraisals of their current life. Specifically, for global life satisfaction, a core component of SWB, participants reported an average score of 4.26. This score corresponds with the "mildly agree" response metric for questions pertaining to life satisfaction (e.g., "I have a good life."). These findings are consistent with prior studies of high school aged youth that have assessed life satisfaction utilizing the SLSS and with conceptualizations that adolescent youth often report moderate levels of life



satisfaction (Suldo, Minch, & Hearon, 2015; Suldo et al., 2016). Similarly, scores for the affective components of SWB were within the expected ranges and comparable to prior studies (Allan, Lonigan, & Phillips, 2015; Suldo et al., 2016).

In terms of the health-promoting behaviors of interest, the mean physical activity score was 2.45, that is consistent with scores in prior studies of adolescents (Kowalski et al., 2004; Voss et al., 2017), and corresponds with moderate levels of physical activity. The healthy diet average mean score was 10.98 healthy responses out of a possible 23 points. Previous studies have reported the mean number of healthy responses is 11, that corresponds with a moderately healthy diet (Johnson et al., 2002). The scores for the tobacco and alcohol abstinence measures were .95 and .91 respectively, with 1.00 indicating complete abstinence. Therefore, in this sample, very few students self-reported utilizing either alcohol or tobacco products during the past 30 days. Lastly, scores pertaining to the eight subscales of sleep hygiene ranged between 3.01 (e.g., sleep behavioral arousal factor; corresponds with "sometimes" or 40% of time) and 5.81 (sleep substance factor; corresponds with "Frequently, if not always" or 80% of the time). However, the next highest subscale score was 4.86 (e.g., sleep environment factor; corresponds with "quite often" or 60% of the time). Prior studies have indicated scores with ranges between 3.80 (corresponds with "sometimes" or 40% of the time) through 5.10 (corresponds with "Frequently, if not always" or 80% of the time; Lebourgeois et al., 2005; Storfer-Iser, 2013). Therefore, in this study, it again appeared that a low number of participants self-reported having utilized substances, based on their high score of abstinence on the sleep substances measure, comparable to the alcohol and tobacco abstinence scores. Overall, it appeared that the other subscale scores were within the normal range pertaining to adolescent sleep hygiene habits.



**Research Question 1:** What is the relationship between specific health-promoting behaviors employed by adolescents (physical activity, dietary habits, components of sleep hygiene, tobacco abstinence, alcohol abstinence) and their subjective well-being?

Findings indicated that seven of the 12 health-promoting behaviors were positively correlated with the SWB of high school aged adolescents. This included in order of the strongest relationship to SWB: sleep hygiene cognitive/emotional factors, physical activity, and five additional factors of sleep hygiene including Bedtime Routine, Sleep Stability, Behavioral Arousal, Sleep Environment, and Daytime Sleep. The other five health-promoting behaviors (i.e., healthy diet, tobacco abstinence, alcohol abstinence, sleep hygiene physiological factors, sleep hygiene substances) were not significantly correlated with SWB. None of the healthpromoting behaviors were negatively associated with SWB. Therefore, the hypothesis that health-promoting behaviors would be significantly associated with SWB is partially supported.

Notably, cognitive and emotional factors of sleep hygiene had the strongest correlation with SWB. This could be attributed to the fact that questions pertaining to this subscale on the Adolescent Sleep Hygiene Scale related to cognitive appraisals, emotions, and aspects of mental health (e.g., "I go to bed feeling upset"; "I go to bed and worry about things happening at home or at school."). The other health-promoting behaviors in this study primarily referenced duration or frequency of engagement in a healthy behavior (e.g., "In the last 7 days, on how many evenings did you do sports, dance or play games in that you were very active?" or "I often buy cakes or pastries."). The correlation between physical activity and SWB is consistent with prior studies in samples of middle school youth (Lindberg & Swanberg, 2006), undergraduate students (Mack et al., 2012) and adults (Blake et al., 2017). Furthermore, the identified relationship between various aspects of sleep hygiene and SWB similarly aligns with prior studies that have



found that sleep quality (Lai, 2018; Weinberg et al., 2016) and sleep duration (Lemola et al., 2013) were associated with the SWB of adults.

The findings from this study were not consistent with associations between positive mental health and healthy dietary practices (Gadermann et al., 2015; Levy, 2003; Lindberg & Swanberg, 2006; Piko, 2006) or prior negative association between SWB and substances utilization (Piko, 2006) and attitudes towards substance utilization (Shaffer-Hudkins, 2011), that had been previously documented in the literature. These discrepancies could be attributed to measurement of the specific behaviors and conceptualizations of well-being in prior studies. In terms of dietary practices, this study utilized a measure that had only been administered to one sample of American youth (Austin et al., 2009), yet has strong empirical evidence in samples of European youth (Johnson et al., 2002). This measure did include multiple items that were altered from the original measures to be more reflective of the dietary practices of American youth. Studies that have previously noted associations between diet and SWB have utilized scores from more comprehensive measures (e.g., Health-Promoting Lifestyle Profile-Nutrition Subscale; Gadermann et al., 2015) or a singular item corresponding to healthy diet (e.g., a single item added to the Children's Depression Inventory; Piko, 2006). Additionally, the Adolescents Food Habit Checklist (Austin et al., 2009) provides a healthy diet score (i.e., out of 23 points) and focuses primarily on general dietary patterns (e.g., "I never have a packed lunch.") whereas prior studies have incorporated measures that required participants to provide an exact number of their servings of a specific food (e.g., "How many servings of fruits do you eat during the day?"; Gadermann, 2016).

Regarding the discrepancy between tobacco/alcohol products and SWB when compared to prior studies, Shaffer-Hudkins (2011) chose to utilize perceptions of substance utilization



(e.g., a health-compromising behavior; "Smoking cigarettes relaxes you" response metric of 0-3), while Piko (2006) analyzed components of the Children's Depression Inventory to account for substance utilization. Whereas, the current study aimed to maintain the theme of healthpromoting behaviors and therefore utilized measures from the YRBS (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2018) and augmented scores during the analyses to reflect abstinence. This discrepancy also could be further attributed to participants' understanding of abstinence from alcohol and tobacco products. Specifically, abstinence or utilization of these products could be viewed by participants as a rule or way of life, that is reinforced by adults, as opposed to an effort to promote one's own physical health and in turn one's mental health.

In comparison to prior studies (Shaffer-Hudkins, 2011; Shaffer-Hudkins et al., 2010), some variables have had unique correlations with variables that were utilized to comprise subjective well-being. For example, Shaffer-Hudkins (2011) found that physical activity, sleep, diet, safety habits, and perceptions of substance utilization were all associated with positive affect, yet only two factors (i.e., sleep, attitudes towards substance use) were linked to SWB in the study of middle school youth. In the current study, only three factors were linked to positive affect: sleep cognitive/emotional factors, sleep bed time routine factor, and physical activity, all that also were associated with SWB. However, all seven variables in the current study that were associated with SWB also were associated with life satisfaction, in addition to sleep hygiene physiological factors. Interestingly, the sleep hygiene physiological factor was associated with life satisfaction and negative affect, yet not positive affect or SWB. Also, alcohol abstinence was negatively associated with negative affect, yet neither life satisfaction or positive affect were associated with alcohol abstinence. Bedtime routine was associated SWB, life satisfaction, and positive affect, yet not associated with negative affect. Furthermore, the sleep hygiene



behavioral arousal factor was only associated with negative affect and SWB, but not life satisfaction or positive affect. In summary, the findings from this study provide some evidence that certain health-promoting behaviors may be linked to various components of positive mental health. These results are similar to the findings of prior studies that have identified positive emotions are a predictor of perceptions of physical health (Shaffer-Hudkins et al., 2010) and longevity of life (Diener & Chan, 2011) in samples of youth and adults.

**Research Question 2:** What is the relationship between each of the health-promoting behaviors of interest in this study (e.g., Is there a significant correlation between physical activity and tobacco abstinence)?

Findings from this study identified several relationships between various healthpromoting behaviors of interest. Specifically, the strongest positive association was between tobacco abstinence and alcohol abstinence. The adolescent sleep hygiene scale also had various factors that were positively associated with other sleep hygiene factors. The strongest relationship was between the sleep hygiene physiological factor and the sleep environment factor. Daytime sleepiness was associated with eight other health-promoting behaviors. The only factors that were not associated with daytime sleep included bedtime routine, tobacco abstinence, and alcohol abstinence.

Consistent with typical conceptualizations of health-promotion, healthy diet and physical activity also were positively linked to each other. Interestingly, although not associated with SWB, the healthy diet score was associated with nine other health-promoting behaviors, the most in this study. These factors included physical activity, sleep hygiene physiological factors, sleep hygiene behavioral arousal, sleep hygiene cognitive/emotional factors, sleep environment, sleep stability, and bedtime routine, and alcohol and tobacco abstinence. No formal hypotheses were



formulated regarding this research question. This research question was solely exploratory to gain further clarity into the associations between key variables.

Several of the correlations between the variables of interest are consistent with previous studies. Specifically, in terms of associations between diet and physical activity, these have been consistently associated over time in samples of older adolescents (Maier & Barry, 2015; Sallis et al., 2000). In this study, measures that have generally strong psychometric properties emphasized this relationship. Although not associated with SWB in this study, this could be because the AFHC utilizes a sum score of healthy choices, as opposed to a frequency measure of specific foods or fat intake, that has been tied to physical activity in prior studies (Gadermann et al., 2016; Shaffer-Hudkins, 2011). Furthermore, the correlation between alcohol and tobacco abstinence mirrors studies that have identified these substances as often being utilized together during adolescence (Centers for Disease Controls and Prevention, 2018; Kann et al., 2018; Snelling et al., 2015) and throughout the lifespan (Johnston et al., 2018). Other differences between this study and prior research studies may be related to the conceptualization of variables or the population group of interest.

**Research Question 3:** After statistically controlling for race, gender, socioeconomic status, and school, that of the health-promoting behaviors are most strongly related to the subjective well-being of adolescents?

Findings from this study indicated that 39.80% of the variance in adolescents' SWB was determined by the linear combination of the 12 health-promoting behaviors and the main effects of the four demographic characteristics (i.e., race, SES, gender, school). Furthermore, three of the health-promoting behaviors were identified as significant predictors of SWB. Specifically, this included sleep hygiene cognitive/emotional factors, physical activity, and the sleep hygiene



bedtime routine factor. None of the other health-promoting behaviors served as unique predictors of the SWB of adolescents in the sample. These results supported the hypothesis that the linear combination of variables would significantly predict the levels of SWB of high school aged adolescents. Furthermore, given that three health-promoting behaviors served as predictors of SWB, the hypothesis that each behavior predict SWB is partially supported.

The amount of the variance in SWB predicted by the linear combination of healthpromoting variables was significant, that aligned with the findings from prior studies (Levy, 2003; Shaffer-Hudkins, 2011; Weinberg et al., 2016). However, the combination of variables in this study predicted a greater portion of the variance in comparison to other studies. For example, in a sample of middle school youth, Shaffer-Hudkins (2011) identified 15% of the variance was based on a combination of four health-promoting behaviors (healthy diet, exercise, hours of sleep, safety) and one health-compromising behavior (attitudes towards substances). Furthermore, Levy (2003) found that 28% of the variance in life satisfaction and 40% of the variance in emotional well-being of young adults was predicted by a combination of eight predictors (e.g., general health and safety, nutrition, exercise), while Blake and colleagues identified that 21% of the variance in emotional well-being was dependent upon the physical activity and dietary habits of young adults. Lindberg and Swanberg (2006) concluded that the linear combination of two variables (e.g., diet and safety habits) was not predictive of the SWB of middle school youth. In comparison to studies that included only one health-related behavior, Weinberg and colleagues (2016) identified that 29.1% of the variance in SWB could be attributed to sleep quality and perceived stress, in a sample of young adults.

Of note, the populations and sample sizes of prior studies could have contributed to the percentage of variance in the linear combination of health-related behaviors. For example, the



current study included five schools from multiple states, that added to the diversity of the sample and the number of predictors included in the analyses. Whereas both Levy (2003) and Shaffer-Hudkins completed studies at one educational institution (e.g., one middle school, one college), therefore further limiting the generalizability of those findings. Also, the portion of the variance of SWB in this study is subject to the number of predictor variables that were included in regression models (i.e., 12 health-promoting behaviors), given the predictive and not explanatory nature of multiple regressions (Jeon, 2015). Furthermore, these findings differ from previously conducted studies that have typically included far less predictors (e.g., Blake et al., 2017; Shaffer-Hudkins, 2011) than the 12 in the current study

In terms of significant predictors of SWB in the current study, only two factors of sleep hygiene (i.e., bedtime routine, cognitive/emotional factors) and physical activity were identified as unique predictors. This is consistent with prior research that has identified the positive benefits of physical activity (Blake et al., 2017; Gadermann et al., 2015; Holder et al., 2009; Mack, 2012), sleep quality (Lai et al., 2018; Weinberg et al., 2016), and sleep duration (Lemola et al., 2013) with respect to well-being. Furthermore, the findings from this research expand upon the discussion of Weinberg and colleagues (2016), who emphasized that sleep hygiene should be evaluated from a multifaceted perspective, in lieu of solely examining sleep duration or sleep quality. In this case, the cognitive/emotional factor of sleep hygiene was the strongest predictor of SWB, that could be based on the emotional and affective nature of both constructs.

With respect to the conceptualization of well-being and positive mental health as the outcome variable of interest, various measures and constructs have served as indicators with respect to the specific population of interest in prior studies. The current study utilized a composite score from measures that examine life satisfaction and affect, that is consistent with



the methods employed by several researchers (Blake et al., 2017; Lai, 2018; Mack et al., 2012; Shaffer-Hudkins, 2011). In prior studies, physical activity (Blake et al., 2017; Mack et al., 2012), sleep quality (Lai, 2018), and sleep duration (Shaffer-Hudkins, 2011) are factors that have identified as significant predictors of well-being, consistent with the current study. However, the associations from prior studies could be dependent upon the conceptualization of the outcome variables of interest (e.g., well-being), that have varied across the literature. For example, Lindberg and Swanberg (2006) utilized a single question (i.e., "How are you these days?") as a well-being outcome, whereas other studies have assessed solely for life satisfaction (Gadermannet al., 2015; Holder et al., 2009), while Shaffer-Hudkins' study (2011) and the current investigation utilized a multidimensional construct. Therefore, the consistency as to that health-promoting variables are predictive of well-being should be examined in the context of how well-being in conceptualized and measured (e.g., life satisfaction versus a combination of life satisfaction and affect components).

**Research Question 4:** To what extent, if any, are the relationships between adolescents' health-promoting behaviors and subjective well-being moderated by various demographic factors (gender, race, socioeconomic status)?

Findings from this study indicated that none of the demographic characteristics that were included in various models served as unique predictors. In terms of main effects, gender was the only demographic characteristic that served as a significant predictor and this was only in the first model that controlled for main effects of the demographic variables. Specifically, in this sample boys reported higher scores for SWB. In terms of the moderating effects, no significant relationships were identified between any of the demographic factors and the 12 health-promoting behaviors. These limited differences could be attributed to the fact that SWB is



typically considered a stable construct across demographic factors (Diener, Scollon, & Lucas, 2009). Past research has noted limited variability across diverse samples of participants in prior published works (Diener, 2000; Huebner et al., 2006). Therefore, the hypothesis that the demographic factors would serve as moderating variables in the relationship between health-promoting behaviors and SWB was not supported.

Given the lack of significant moderators in the various models, results from the main effects with respect to research question three (e.g., model with health-promoting behaviors and no interaction vectors), provide evidence that engagement in health-promoting behaviors was associated with increased SWB, free of the influence of demographic factors, that mirrors the findings of Shaffer-Hudkins (2011). Additionally, in all three of the models that examined the demographic moderators, sleep cognitive/emotional factors, physical activity, and bedtime routine were identified as unique predictors, further verifying the stability of these factors in their contribution to the SWB of adolescents. Based on the demographic differences that have been identified in terms of health-related behaviors (Centers for Disease Control and Preventions, 2018), it is critical to further consider the relationships between health-promoting behaviors and the SWB of adolescents.

Pender (2005) states that health-promotion is fully conceptualized by examining the various individual facilitators and barriers (e.g., perceived benefits of action, interpersonal influence) that exist in terms of engagement in various health-promoting or compromising behaviors. Additionally, Pender (2011) has described that there are other individual cognitive factors that play a role in health-promotion, such as motivation or self-efficacy. For example, self-efficacy has been identified as a factor in adulthood that contributes to engagement in health-related behaviors (Pender, 2005; Srof & Velsor-Friedrich; 2006). Whereas other literature



has identified various forms of social influence at the individual and additional systems (i.e., family, schools, community) may influence lifestyle choices of adolescents and young adults a play a role in the engagement and maintenance of healthy lifestyles throughout various stages of development (Peterson & Bredow, 2009; Samdal & Rowling, 2013).

Furthermore, it is important to consider how health-promotion is aligned with Bronfenbrenner's (1994) Ecological Systems Theory. Evaluating the many interpersonal influences, social roles, settings, and societal patterns that directly impact children's development into adolescence and throughout the lifespan is vital for further assessing the moderating role of demographic factors in the relationship between mental and physical wellness. Specifically, adolescents are at the center of the model (e.g., the microsystem) and layered by various systems that directly influence each subsequent system. The Mesosystem references the interrelations between individuals and places co-located in the microsystem, such as interactions between youth and their parents in terms of health-promotion (e.g., dietary practices in the home). Furthermore, the ecosystem, which references societal structures that are external to a child's immediate influence is tied to health-promotion. For example, a parent's form of employment, which may require evening hours and a lack of adult supervision, may then result in an adolescent not adhering to proper sleep hygiene habits. Last, society at large is viewed from the perspective of the macrosystem, which examines the cultural mechanisms that impact a child's environment. With respect to health-promotion, school districts face pressures to improve state standardized testing scores, which may in turn lead to a reduction in health and physical education courses, and a subsequent lack of knowledge of health-promoting behaviors for adolescents. Given the interplay across systems, health-promotion and positive psychology (e.g., attention to well-being) are influenced by small- and large-scale structures and in turn



contribute to holistic health. Thus, although no moderating relationships were identified, it is important to further consider these factors in the context of individual and systemic health-promotion.

**Research Question 5:** What are the relationships between gender, ethnicity, and socioeconomic status and each of the health-promoting behaviors (physical activity, dietary habits, components of sleep hygiene, tobacco abstinence, alcohol abstinence)?

Findings from this study identified a main effect and significant contribution to the variance from the linear combination of the demographic factors for nine of the 12 healthpromoting behaviors. Significant portions of the variances that could be attributed to the linear combination of these demographic factors ranged between 6.0% (i.e., outcome variable: alcohol abstinence) and 24.4% (i.e., outcome variable: daytime sleepiness). Gender was a unique predictor for five of the health-promoting behaviors (i.e., physical activity, diet, sleep cognitive/emotional factors, daytime sleepiness, sleep substances). Race was a significant predictor for sleep hygiene physiological factor (African American; Hispanic), sleep hygiene environment factor (African American), daytime sleepiness factor (African American), bedtime routine factor (Hispanic), tobacco abstinence (African American), and alcohol abstinence (African American, Hispanic, Multiracial). Socioeconomic status did not serve as a unique predictor for any of the health-promoting behaviors. Daytime sleepiness was the only factor that had multiple unique demographic predictors (gender; African American). Sleep behavioral arousal, sleep stability, and bedtime routine were not significantly predicted by the linear combination of the demographic factors, with variance ranges between 2.4% and 4.0%. Given the variability in these findings, the hypothesis that demographic factors would serve as unique predictors of various health-promoting behaviors is supported.



The findings from this study are consistent with previous literature that has identified demographic discrepancies in terms of health-promoting behaviors. First, with respect to gender, this study identified that boys had higher physical activity scores when compared to girls. This is consistent with previous literature that has identified that boys are more likely to engage in physical activity, particularly through participation and team sports, when compared to girls (Centers for Disease Control, 2018; Pate et al., 2004). The findings of this study could be attributed to the fact that many of the questions on the Adolescents Physical Activity Questionnaire pertain to after school activities, such as team sports, that enable physical activity. In contrast, the findings from this study indicated that girls reported higher healthy diet scores when compared to boys, that is consistent with prior studies (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 2018; McCreary & Sasse, 2002; Spencer et al., 2015). Previous studies have indicated that girls typically maintain diets that promote maintenance of a current weight (e.g., dietary patterns). Therefore, differences that were identified on the AFHC could be associated with the fact that participants were asked to assess their general dietary habits (e.g., "I usually avoid eating fried foods"), in lieu of identifying a specific number of servings (e.g., number of fruits and vegetables consumed per day).

In terms of factors of sleep hygiene, both genders served as unique predictors for various components. Specifically, girls were linked to lower scores for sleep hygiene cognitive/emotional factors as well as sleep hygiene related to daytime sleepiness in comparison to boys. These results mirror those of Galland and colleagues (2017) who reported that boys identified greater adherence to sleep hygiene practices. Interestingly, in the current study sample, girls were associated with higher rates of sleep hygiene related to substance utilization (e.g., not utilizing alcohol or tobacco products prior to sleep) although no gender differences



were identified in this study with respect to general tobacco and alcohol abstinence. However, given the mean age of this sample (i.e., 15.70 years old, early high school aged), this association could be related to prior literature that has identified that alcohol and tobacco utilization often begins earlier in boys than girls (Kloos et al., 2009; Kuhn, 2015) and in turn could have contributed to these differences.

This study also identified several racial differences with respect to the health-promoting behaviors of interest. First, African-American participants reported greater rates of abstinence to both alcohol and tobacco products, when compared to White participants, that is consistent with prior literature that has examined nationally representative samples (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2018; Gutman et al., 2011; Kann et al., 2018). Also, Hispanic and Multiracial youth identified with higher rates of abstinence from alcohol products when compared to White youth. These findings somewhat contradict prior literature, that identified that Caucasian and Hispanic youth typically engaged in greater binge drinking, when compared to their African American peers (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2018; Kann et al., 2018). Race did not serve as a unique predictor of physical activity or healthy dietary practices in the current study. These null findings contradict prior research linking African American youth to decreased physical activity and increased engagement in sedentary lifestyles activities (e.g., 3+ hours of television watching per day; Kann et al., 2018; Sirad et al., 2008). Furthermore, these findings do not align with prior research that has identified Caucasian youth as typically reporting increased consumption of servings of fruits and vegetables. These null findings in the current study could be linked to the rather small sample size, in comparison to the prior, large scale studies that have identified demographic differences in these behaviors (e.g., Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2018; Kann et al., 2018).



In terms of sleep hygiene, African American and Hispanic youth were linked with decreased sleep hygiene physiological factors when compared to White students. Furthermore, African America youth were tied to decreased sleep hygiene environmental factors and daytime sleepiness, when compared to White students. Whereas, Hispanic youth were uniquely associated with greater adherence to a consistent bedtime routine in comparison to White students. Few studies have investigated racial differences with respect to sleep hygiene. However, some studies have noted that African-American adults report decreased sleep quality, take longer to fall asleep, and take more naps, each of that are associated with poor sleep hygiene (Petrov & Lichstein, 2016). Furthermore, Fox and colleagues (2018) identified that Latino adults are more likely to have sleep debt (e.g., cumulative effects of not getting or less than eight hours of sleep) when compared to White and African-American counterparts, contradicting these findings indicating that Hispanic youth were more likely to engage in a consistent bedtime routine. Therefore, although no prior studies currently describe these racial differences with respect to adolescent sleep hygiene, demographic patterns in sleep hygiene in the current study are somewhat consistent with previously described literature. Specifically, it appears that minority youth are more susceptible to poor sleep hygiene, as compared to their White peers.

In terms of socioeconomic status, no differences were identified with respect to any of the health-promoting behaviors investigated in this study. This is contradictory to the findings of prior studies that have typically associated high socioeconomic status with greater engagement in various health-promoting behaviors (e.g., healthy diet, physical activity; Elgar et al., 2015). However, these null findings could be attributed to multiple factors in the current study. First, this study utilized free and reduced-price lunch status as an indicator of socioeconomic status (e.g., students who received free or reduced-price lunches were considered "low socioeconomic



status"). Although this method has been utilized in prior research studies (Harwell & LeBeau, 2010), other published works have utilized family income as an indicator (Fradkin et al., 2010; Singh, Siahpush, & Kogan, 2010a; Singh, Siahpush, & Kogan; 2010b). Furthermore, other studies that have found differences in socioeconomic status had larger sample sizes (e.g., N> 150,000 at each time point; Elgar et al., 2015; nationally representative sample of all 50 U.S. States; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2018; Kann et al., 2018) therefore allowing for smaller effects to be identified and allow for greater clarity into the many individual and systemic factors which influence health-promotion, consistent with developmental ecological viewpoints (Bronfenbrenner, 1994).

#### Limitations of the Current Study

It should be noted this study was not without limitations. For example, the schools participating in this study were not selected randomly. Instead, reflect a convenience sample of schools who leaders had prior relationships with the PI and doctoral committee. Schools A and E were contacted for participation due to familiarity of the PI with the school administrative personnel. However, the administrators of these schools were interested in learning about the utilization of alcohol and tobacco products in the respective student populations. Schools B, C, and D were chosen based on a school-university partnership designed to increase social-emotional and positive psychology supports within health and physical education curricula. However, those schools were chosen by a district curriculum specialist who attempted to provide a representative sample of students in the cooperating district. In total, various characteristics of each school (e.g., state, free and reduced lunch make up) may limit the ability of the findings to be generalized to populations more reflective of U.S. Census data.



Furthermore, at each respective school site, a convenience sampling method was utilized to ensure that the maximum amount of youth could participate in this study to ensure ample power. In several cases, the populations were not representative of the school at large (e.g., over and underrepresentation of socioeconomic status groups), but did contribute to the overall diversity of the sample. In this study, 9<sup>th</sup> grade students were largely overrepresented (50.0%) and 12<sup>th</sup> grade students were largely underrepresented (12.0%). This likely given that health and physical education curriculum throughout the state of Florida is typically embedded within early coursework in secondary school and not required each semester. Despite that various groups were underrepresented; this sample did meet the minimum power analysis to interpret a medium effect size. Finally, with respect to the population, each of the participants in this study was enrolled in a health or physical education class at the time of data collection. Those students who were enrolled in health classes had taken a physical education course during the fall of 2018-2019 school year. Therefore, students in this study were provided with an additional opportunity to engage in physical activity (a significant predictor of increased SWB in this study), that is not the case for all high school aged adolescents in the United States, as more schools begin to decrease the accessibility to physical education courses in secondary schools (Michael, Brener, Lee, Clennin, & Pate, 2019).

An additional limitation of this study pertains to the utilization of solely self-report measures for each of the health-promoting behaviors. Research has identified that adolescents often over- or under-estimate their engagement in behaviors that are not typically tracked during this developmental period (e.g., dietary practices; Hunsberger et al., 2015) and are subject to social desirability (e.g., diminished utilization of alcohol products; Snelling et al., 2015). Although the self-report nature of this study design allowed the researcher to examine


adolescent's perspectives as to the healthy habits they maintain and their perceived well-being, as opposed to parental or teacher report. Diener and Seligman (2002) have identified that examining individual perceptions of well-being is critical given the individualistic nature of United States culture. Furthermore, self-report measures provide greater clarity into habits that may not be formally tracked by adults. For example, actual bedtime routines and habits of adolescents may engage in prior to bed (e.g., spending time on electronic media), unbeknown to their parents.

Another potential limitation of this study pertains to participants' responses in terms of abstinence of tobacco and alcohol products. To conceptualize abstinence from tobacco and alcohol products, the AATUS was based off of commonly utilized components YRBSS, that is often utilized to identify engagement in these health-comprising behaviors and have a strong empirical rationale for utilization in adolescent populations (Centers for Diseases Control and Prevention, 2018). Results from the current study are somewhat inconsistent in terms of the percentage of students who utilize tobacco or alcohol products when compared to national samples. For example, in the current sample only 3.1% identified having smoked a cigarette and 13.1% noted having drank any alcohol during the past 30 days, whereas studies of nationally representative samples of high school aged youth have identified that 8.8% of youth have smoked at least one cigarette and 29.8% of youth had drank at least one drink in the past 30 days (Center for Disease Control and Prevention, 2018). This fact could be associated with social desirability factors related to endorsing engagement in a health-compromising, and otherwise undesirable behaviors and the low response rate. Students who secured parental consent to participate may differ from the general population and those who did not obtain parental consent to participate in this study.



Finally, this study was cross-sectional in nature and utilized a correlational design.

Therefore, the long-term stability of these relationships that were identified are limited, based on the singular time point utilized in this study design. However, these findings did provide initial clarity in the relationship between health-promotion and positive mental health and a rational for additional investigation.

# **Suggestions for Future Research**

There are several avenues for future research in terms of health-promotion and positive mental health. First, this study could expand upon the correlational, cross sectional design to enhance the generalizability of these findings. Specifically, utilizing a longitudinal design and measuring participants SWB and engagement in health-promoting behaviors at multiple time points (e.g., start and end of school year; multiple years) could further distinguish if engagement in a specific health-promoting behavior was associated with increased SWB over time and potentially throughout the lifespan. Also, mixed method designs including phenomenological, qualitative interviews could be completed to gain clarity as to why adolescents might participate or refrain from engaging in a health-comprising or health-promoting behavior and how these actions could be related to perceived well-being.

With respect to the study population, future research could incorporate larger and more diverse samples (e.g., beyond populations from two states) to further enhance the ecological validity of this study. Along these lines, increasing the sample size and recruiting more students for participation would allow for a sample that is more representative of high school aged youth, as opposed to most students being enrolled in 9<sup>th</sup> grade and participating in a health or physical education course during the time of data collection. This notion is warranted to further investigate differences in engagement in the health-promoting behaviors of interest and the SWB



of high school aged youth. Also, obtaining a sample with greater representation of older high school students (e.g., 11<sup>th</sup> and 12<sup>th</sup> grade students) could provide clarity to the notion of Harris (2005) who noted as adolescents transition beyond high school, engagement in health-promoting behaviors is vital as they transition to become more independent. Furthermore, based on (a) the demographic impacts that were identified when the health-promoting behaviors of interest served as outcome variables and (b) the lack of moderating effects with respect to SWB, acquiring larger, more diverse sample may further distinguish relationships (e.g., small effects) between factors, health-promoting behaviors, and SWB.

Future studies should incorporate multiple methods for examining participants' health promoting behaviors (Albar et al., 2016; Short et al., 2013). For example, Short and colleagues (2013) reported that examining sleep hygiene from a multifaceted perspective is warranted, as parents often report greater accuracy in sleep duration (as measured in comparison actigraphy monitors) when compared to adolescents. Also, as technology becomes more engrained in 21<sup>st</sup> century society, measurement of health-promoting behaviors can be more objectively measured and provide researchers with alternative methods to conceptualize and measure health-promotion (e.g., actigraphy monitors; Short et al., 2013; Caltrac accelerometer; Fuller et al., 2013; Ratey, 2008). Additionally, future studies should evaluate the Adolescent Food Habits Checklist (Austin et al., 2008) in a sample larger sample to gain greater clarity as to what factors contribute to the diet of American youth. Future research also could investigate additional healthpromoting behaviors (e.g., safety habits) and their relationship to SWB, as this study solely included behaviors that had existing measures. Also, the relationship between various healthpromoting behaviors of interest and additional potential moderators (e.g., weight and sleep



www.manaraa.com

quality; Lemola et al., 2013) should be further studied. Investigating the interplay of these variables could play a critical role in the foundational development of interventions.

Given the associations identified between the SWB and psychopathology of high school aged youth that have been identified through a dual-factor model of mental health framework (Suldo et al., 2016), including between group differences related to physical health, further investigation into the interplay of health-promotion and these variables is warranted. Based on the positive physical health benefits associated with increased SWB (e.g., longevity of life, increased perceptions of physical health; Diener & Chan, 2011; Suldo et al., 2016; Suldo & Shaffer, 2008), examination of between DFM group differences categorized by varying levels of psychopathology and SWB, could identify differences in levels of engagement for various health-related behaviors. Aligned with these research avenues, further examining the directionality of the relationship between mental and physical health is warranted. Specifically, positive psychology constructs (i.e., hope and optimistic thinking) have been found to be associated with increased adherence to medication adherence and in turn greater physical health (Berg et al., 2007; Lloyd et al., 2009). Therefore, completing studies that examine the associations of increased SWB on engagement in various health-promoting behaviors is recommended.

Also, given that the findings from this study indicated that multiple health-promoting behaviors influenced SWB (e.g., multiple sleep hygiene components and physical activity), comprehensive programs should be developed to address multiple health-promoting behaviors. The literature base currently lacks a comprehensive health-promotion program that addresses multiple facets of living a healthy lifestyle for adolescents (Conner & Norman, 2017). Therefore, the development of these programs and the completion of further randomized control



trials focused on examining the outcomes of intervention (e.g., increased engagement in specific health-promoting behaviors) and the relationship between various health-promoting behaviors and SWB would provide greater clarity into this relationship. Furthermore, previously developed initiatives (e.g., Fruits and Vegetables Promotion Program; Hoffman et al., 2009; Sleep Smart Program; Wolfson et al; 2015) could be augmented to address multiple healthrelated behaviors and their ties to subjective well-being.

#### **Contributions to the Literature**

Despite the association between SWB and physical health (Friedman & Kern, 2014; Kern, 2015; Zullieg et al., 2005), few studies have examined if happiness is directly associated with engagement in health-promoting behaviors (Gadermann et al., 2015; Lai et al., 2018; Weinberg et al., 2016). Those studies that have been conducted have primarily focused on diet or exercise habits and their links to SWB (Blake et al., 2017; Mack et al., 2012), with little reference to comprehensive examination of various health-promoting behaviors. Furthermore, recent literature has noted the importance of examining the relationship between sleep quality, sleep hygiene, and positive mental health (Weinberg et al., 2016; Lai, 2018) as well as the need to examine all of the factors that may contribute to a healthy profile. Also, literature previously lacked a comprehensive study of multiple health-promoting behaviors in a sample of older adolescents in the United States. One study of early adolescents was completed by Shaffer-Hudkins (2011) in that the relationship between multiple health-promoting behaviors (e.g., including diet, physical activity, sleep, substance, and safety components) and SWB were investigated. The current study expanded upon the work of Shaffer-Hudkins (2011) by examining the relationship between physical and mental health in a sample of high school aged adolescents, a unique developmental age group in that health-compromising behaviors are more



commonly observed, and little is known about the nature of health-promotion. These results add to the empirical understanding of the relationship between physical wellness and positive mental health throughout the lifespan and provide some evidence as to that factors holistically contribute to a healthy profile.

Findings from the current study could lead to the development of comprehensive intervention programs that champion holistic wellness and are currently lacking (Conner & Norman, 2017; Eaton et al., 2012). These programs could be incorporated into governmental public health initiatives (Bourke-Taylor et al., 2012; Kobau et al., 2011) and in school-based practice (Blunden et al., 2016; Samdal & Rowling, 2012). Developed programs could serve as preventive measures for those at risk for future mental (e.g., anxiety disorders) or physical health problems (e.g., childhood obesity; sleep disorders). The findings from this study identified three unique predictors of increased SWB as well as various associations of interest. Therefore, based on the pertinent relationship to SWB and physical activity and sleep hygiene, ecologically based interventions could be developed to focus on providing adolescents with the knowledge of the skills and short- and long-term benefits of engaging in these behaviors. Furthermore, existing interventions or school curriculum (e.g., health and physical education courses) could embed components that address these healthy behaviors (e.g., teaching students about sleep hygiene; Cain et al., 2011). For example, Ratey (2008) has described altering physical education curriculum to include rigorous, cardiovascular components and the links between standardized test scores and social-emotional skills.

## **Implications for School Psychology Practice**

Based on the rise in childhood obesity, sedentary lifestyles, and substance utilization in adolescents in the United States, significant efforts have been initiated to prevent these health-



comprising behaviors, with less attention given to health-promoting behaviors (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2019; Conner & Norman, 2017). More recent governmental initiatives have included the passing of legislation to provide all students with free and healthy lunches to combat the obesity crisis (Harrington, 2017). Also, health and physical education curriculum has been altered to provide students with increased opportunities to engage in more rigorous physical education courses (Ratey, 2008; Michael et al., 2019). However, these health and physical education courses are often reduced or eliminated for financial purposes (Michael et al., 2019). Given that the results of this study identified multiple unique predictors of increased SWB, and given the benefits of increased SWB (e.g., increased academic achievement, greater perceptions of physical health; Suldo et al., 2016), practicing school psychologists should strive to incorporate health promotion into their practice and further advocate for systemic initiatives that can provide students with opportunities to engage in healthy lifestyles, that in turn can contribute to mental and physical health.

With respect to universal prevention or promotion levels, health-promotion efforts should be imbedded within schools to focus on attention to proper sleep hygiene and consistent physical exercise. In terms of general health-promotion, the findings from this study support the notion that the combination of the 12 health-promoting behaviors (e.g., components of sleep hygiene, abstinence from tobacco and alcohol, healthy diet, physical activity) examined contributed significantly to the variance in SWB. Various literature has noted that a barrier to healthpromotion is the simple fact that it requires maintenance and rather consistent engagement to reap physical health benefits (Conner & Norman, 2017; Norman & Conner, 2015). Furthermore, adolescence is a period during that lapses in engagement in healthy behaviors may occur (e.g., poor sleep hygiene attention on the weekends, summer breaks; lapses in healthy diet). Thus,



schools should tailor intervention services to provide students with skills to ensure that temporary lapses do not become permanently changed behaviors. To further strengthen these efforts, support staff (e.g., school counselors, school psychologists, school nurses) should advocate for the physical and mental health of all students. Specifically, with their training in a systemic perspective of service delivery, school staff can instruct students how to identify both health-comprising and health-promoting behaviors and even engage in healthy behaviors at school (e.g., physical education classes, healthy school lunches; Harrington, 2017). The findings from this study support that the relationship between healthy-habits and SWB is consistent across various demographic characteristics, further exemplifying the importance of presenting the links between mental and physical wellness in school-based practice and the availability for widespread service delivery.

Based on literature that has identified discretions across various races, genders, and socioeconomic status with respect to health-promoting behaviors (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2018), schools should develop methods to target services to students who may be identified as at risk for low engagement in a health-promoting behavior. The findings from this study support this notion that various demographic differences exist in terms of gender and race, that may be associated with students' engagement or lack thereof in a health-promoting behavior. In terms of tiered levels of service delivery and aligned with a dual-factor model of mental perspective, incorporating services (e.g., psychoeducation) focused on promoting a healthy lifestyle, as reflected in sleep hygiene and physical activity, at the individual and group level could increase the SWB of students who are at risk for low SWB (e.g., Vulnerable youth) or those who are at risk for psychopathology (e.g., Symptomatic but Content youth), and in both cases cultivate more positive outcomes (e.g., academic achievement; Suldo et al., 2016).



This study has also provided evidence for school psychologists to collect data pertaining to health-promoting behaviors and the SWB of adolescents or youth that they may serve at the individual or systemic level. The findings from this study identified that the measures utilized are psychometrically sound for large group administration and the monitoring of desirable outcomes (e.g., life satisfaction; physical activity). It does appear that the monitoring of the health-promoting behaviors of SWB of adolescents can be done utilizing self-report measures, given the autonomy and cognitive abilities of adolescents to track these behaviors and emotions. However, practicing school psychologists could incorporate other data sources (e.g., parental report) to further evaluate healthy lifestyle choices.

#### Summary

This study is an initial investigation of the association between health-promoting behaviors and the subjective well-being of high school aged adolescents. The findings from this study bring attention to the necessity to educate adolescents on the importance of daily physical activity, attention to sleep hygiene, and how these factors can be tied to mental wellness. Furthermore, the results of this study provide a greater understanding into the combination of health-promoting behaviors (e.g., healthy profiles) and their associations with positive mental health, that is consistent with prior research (Blake et al., 2017; Gadermann et al., 2015; Mack et al., 2012; Shaffer-Hudkins, 2011; Weinberg et al., 2016). With respect to demographic factors, no main effects or moderators were identified in the current study. Future research should investigate the impact of demographic factors in a larger sample, while including multiple measures and viewpoints related to engagement in health-promoting behaviors. In summary, the results of this study suggest that the combination of the health-promoting behaviors account for a sizeable portion of the shared variance of adolescents' SWB, across gender, socioeconomic, and



racial groups. Further investigation into the relationship between mental and physical health is warranted to promote comprehensive wellness and holistic health in adolescents.



www.manaraa.com

## REFERENCES

- Albar, S. A., Alwan, N. A., Evans, C. E., Greenwood, D. C., & Cade, J. E. (2016). Agreement between an online dietary assessment tool (myfood24) and an interviewer-administered 24-h dietary recall in British adolescents aged 11–18 years. *British Journal of Nutrition*, *115*(9), 1678-1686.
- Alderman, B. L., Benham-Deal, T. B., & Jenkins, J. M. (2010). Change in parental influence on children's physical activity over time. *Journal of Physical Activity and Health*, 7(1), 60-67.
- Alfano, C. A., & Gamble, A. L. (2009, December). The role of sleep in childhood psychiatric disorders. In *Child & youth care forum* (Vol. 38, No. 6, pp. 327-340). Springer US.
- Allan, N. P., Lonigan, C. J., & Phillips, B. M. (2015). Examining the factor structure and structural invariance of the PANAS across children, adolescents, and young adults. *Journal of personality assessment*, 97(6), 616-625.
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders (5th ed.). Arlington, VA: American Psychiatric Publishing.
- Antaramian, S. (2015). Assessing psychological symptoms and well-being: Applications of a dual-factor mental health model to understand college student performance. *Journal of Psychoeducational Assessment*, 33(5), 419-449. doi: 10.1177/0734282914557727



- Antaramian, S. P., Huebner, E. S., Hills, K. J., & Valois, R. F. (2010). A dual-factor model of mental health: Toward a more comprehensive understanding of youth functioning. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 80, 462-472. doi:10.1111/j.1939-0025.
  201001049.x
- Austin, A.W. (2018, July 9). Email regarding manual: Adolescent Food Habits Checklist-Modified Version for American Youth.
- Austin, A. W., Smith, A. F., & Patterson, S. M. (2009). Stress and dietary quality in black adolescents in a metropolitan area. *Stress and Health: Journal of the International Society for the Investigation of Stress*, 25(2), 171-178.
- Ayres, C. G., & Pontes, N. M. (2018). Use of theory to examine health responsibility in urban adolescents. *Journal of Pediatric Nursing*, 38, 40-45. doi: 10.1016/j.pedn.2017.09.011 0882-5963
- Berg, C. J., Rapoff, M. A., Snyder, C. R., & Belmont, J. M. (2007). The relationship of children's hope to pediatric asthma treatment adherence. *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, 2(3), 176-184.
- Berge, J. M., Meyer, C., MacLehose, R. F., Eisenberg, M. E., & Neumark-Sztainer, D. (2014).
  Nonresident parental influence on adolescent weight and weight-related behaviors:
  similar or different from resident parental influence? *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, *11*(1), 131-139. doi: 10.1186/s12966-014-0131-y
- Berkman, P. L. (1971). Measurement of mental health in a general population survey. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 94(2), 105-111.



- Bervoets, L., Van Noten, C., Van Roosbroeck, S., Hansen, D., Van Hoorenbeeck, K., Verheyen,
  E., ... & Vankerckhoven, V. (2014). Reliability and validity of the Dutch physical activity
  questionnaires for children (PAQ-C) and adolescents (PAQ-A). *Archives of Public Health*, 72(1), 47-54. doi:10.1186/2049-3258-72-47
- Blake, V. K., Nehrkorn, A. M., & Patrick, J. H. (2017). Differential effects of health-promoting behaviors on wellbeing among adults. *International Journal of Wellbeing*, 7(2), 25-42.
  doi:10.5502/ijw.v7i1.471
- Blunden, S., Benveniste, T., & Thompson, K. (2016). Putting children's sleep problems to bed:Using behavior change theory to increase the success of children's sleep educationprograms and contribute to healthy development. *Children*, *3*(3), 11-22.
- Bourke-Taylor, H., Law, M., Howie, L., & Pallant, J. F. (2012). Initial development of the Health-promoting Activities Scale to measure the leisure participation of mothers of children with disabilities. *American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 66(1), e1-e10.
- Bray, M.A., Kehle, T.J., Peck, H.L., Theodore, L.A., & Zhou, Z. (2004). Enhancing subjective well-being in individuals with asthma. *Psychology in the Schools, 41* (1), 95-100.
- Brener, N. D., Kann, L., McManus, T., Kinchen, S. A., Sundberg, E. C., & Ross, J. G. (2002).
  Reliability of the 1999 youth risk behavior survey questionnaire. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, *31*(4), 336-342.
- Brener, N. D., Kann, L., Shanklin, S., Kinchen, S., Eaton, D. K., Hawkins, J., & Flint, K. H.
  (2013). Methodology of the youth risk behavior surveillance system—2013. *Morbidity* and Mortality Weekly Report: Recommendations and Reports, 62(1), 1-20.



- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1994). Ecological models of human development. *Readings on the Development of Children*, 2(1), 37-43.
- Busch, V., Van Stel, H. F., Schrijvers, A. J., & de Leeuw, J. R. (2013). Clustering of healthrelated behaviors, health outcomes and demographics in Dutch adolescents: a crosssectional study. *BMC Public Health*, *13*(1), 1118-1129. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-13-1118
- Buysse, D. J., Reynolds, C. F., Monk, T. H., Berman, S. R., & Kupfer, D. J. (1989). The
  Pittsburgh sleep quality index: A new instrument for psychiatric practice and research. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 28(2), 193–213. doi:10.1016/0165-1781(89)90047-4.
- Carver, C. S., & Scheier, M F. (1993). Vigilant and avoidant coping in two patient samples. In H.
  W. Krohne (Ed.). Attention and avoidance: Strategies in coping with aversiveness (pp. 295–319). Kirkland, WA: Hogrefe & Huber Publishers
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2018). Youth risk behavior survey data summary and trends report 2007–2017. Available at: https://www.Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.gov/healthyyouth/data/yrbs/pdf/trendsreport.pdf
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2009). A guide to conducting your own youth risk behavior survey. *Department of Health and Human Services*.
- Chalabaev, A., Sarrazin, P., Fontayne, P., Boiché, J., & Clément-Guillotin, C. (2013). The influence of sex stereotypes and gender roles on participation and performance in sport and exercise: Review and future directions. *Psychology of Sport and Exercise*, 14(2), 136-144.
- Chen, M.Y., James, K., & Wang, E.K. (2007). Comparison of health-promoting behavior between Taiwanese and American adolescents: A cross-sectional questionnaire survey. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 44, 59-69



- Chen, M. Y., Wang, E. K., Yang, R. J., & Liou, Y. M. (2003). Adolescent health promotion scale: development and psychometric testing. *Public Health Nursing*, *20*(2), 104-110.
- Chen, M. Y., Lai, L. J., Chen, H. C., & Gaete, J. (2014). Development and validation of the short-form adolescent health promotion scale. *BMC public health*, 14(1), 1106-115. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-14-1106
- Cicchetti, D. V. (1994). Guidelines, criteria, and rules of thumb for evaluating normed and standardized assessment instruments in psychology. *Psychological assessment*, 6(4), 284-290.
- Cohen, S., & Williamson, G.M. (1988). Perceived stress in a probability sample of the United
  States. In S. Spacapan, & S. Oskamp (Eds), *The Social Psychology of Health* (pp. 31–67).
  Newbury Park, CA: Sage Publications
- Conner, M., & Norman, P. (2017). Health behaviour: Current issues and challenges. *Psychology* & *Health*, *32*(8), 895-906: doi: 10.1080/08870446.2017.1336240
- Craig, B. M., Reeve, B. B., Cella, D., Hays, R. D., Pickard, A. S., & Revicki, D. A. (2014).
  Demographic differences in health preferences in the United States. *Medical Care*, 52(4), 307-13. doi:10.1097/MLR.00000000000066.
- Craft, B. B., Carroll, H. A., & Lustyk, M. K. B. (2014). Gender Differences in Exercise Habits and Quality of Life Reports: Assessing the Moderating Effects of Reasons for Exercise. *International Journal of Liberal Arts and Social Science*, 2(5), 65-80.
- Curtiss, H. (2005). *Nutrition and Exercise Survey for Students*. Unpublished survey, University of South Florida



- Diener, E., & Chan, M. Y. (2011) Happy people live longer: Subjective well-being contributes to health and longevity. *Applied Psychology: Health and Well-Being*, 3(1), 1-43. doi:10.1111/j.1758-0854.2010.01045.x
- Diener, E., Emmons, R.A., Larsen, R.J., & Griffin, S. (1985). The satisfaction with life scale. Journal of Personality Assessment, 49(1), 71-75. doi: 10.1207/s15327752jpa4901\_13
- Diener, E., Scollon, C. N., & Lucas, R. E. (2009). The evolving concept of subjective well-being: The multifaceted nature of happiness. In *Assessing Well-Being* (pp. 67-100). Springer, Dordrecht.
- Donaldson, S. I., Dollwet, M., & Rao, M. A. (2015). Happiness, excellence, and optimal human functioning revisited: Examining the peer-reviewed literature linked to positive psychology. *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, *10*(3), 185-195.doi: 10.1080/17439760.2014.943801
- Dowda, M., Pfeiffer, K. A., Brown, W. H., Mitchell, J. A., Byun, W., & Pate, R. R. (2011). Parental and environmental correlates of physical activity of children attending preschool. *Archives of Pediatrics & Adolescent Medicine*, *165*(10), 939-944. doi: 10.1001/archpediatrics.2011.84
- Eaton, D. K., Kann, L., Kinchen, S., Shanklin, S., Flint, K. H., Hawkins, J., ... & Whittle, L.
  (2012). Youth risk behavior surveillance—United States, 2011. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report: Surveillance Summaries*, 61(4), 1-162.
- Elbert, S., Dijkstra, A., & Rozema, A. (2017). Effects of tailoring ingredients in auditory persuasive health messages on fruit and vegetable intake. *Psychology & Health*, 32, 781–797.doi: 10.1080/08870446.2017.1300259



- Elgar, F. J., Pförtner, T. K., Moor, I., De Clercq, B., Stevens, G. W., & Currie, C. (2015).
  Socioeconomic inequalities in adolescent health 2002–2010: a time-series analysis of 34 countries participating in the Health Behaviour in School-aged Children study. *The Lancet*, 385(9982), 2088-2095. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(14)61460-4
- Eklund, K., Dowdy, E., Jones, C., & Furlong, M. (2011). Applicability of the dual-factor model of mental health for college students. *Journal of College Student Psychotherapy*, 25(1), 79-92. doi: 10.1080/87568225.2011.532677
- Federal Register (2019). Food and nutrition services: Income Eli Guidelines SY 2019-2020. 84(54), 10295-10298.
- Fox, E. C., Wang, K., Aquino, M., Grandner, M. A., Xie, D., & Gooneratne, N. S. (2018). Sleep debt at the community level: Impact of age, sex, race/ethnicity and health. *Sleep Health*, 4(4), 317–324. doi: 10.1016/j.sleh.2018.05.007
- Fradkin, C., Wallander, J. L., Elliott, M. N., Tortolero, S., Cuccaro, P., & Schuster, M. A.
  (2015). Associations between socioeconomic status and obesity in diverse, young adolescents: variation across race/ethnicity and gender. *Health Psychology*, 34(1), 1-9. doi: 10.1037/hea0000099
- Friedman, H. S., & Kern, M. L. (2014). Personality, well-being, and health. Annual Review of Psychology, 65, 719-742.
- Fuller, D., Sabiston, C., Karp, I., Barnett, T., & O'Loughlin, J. (2011). School sports opportunities influence physical activity in secondary school and beyond. *Journal of School Health*, 81(8), 449-454.



- Gadermann, A. M., Guhn, M., & Zumbo, B. D. (2011). Investigating the substantive aspect of construct validity for the satisfaction with life scale adapted for children: A focus on cognitive processes. *Social Indicators Research*, 100(1), 37-60.
- Gadermann, A. M., Guhn, M., Schonert-Reichl, K. A., Hymel, S., Thomson, K., & Hertzman, C. (2016). A population-based study of children's well-being and health: The relative importance of social relationships, health-related activities, and income. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, 17(5), 1847-1872.
- Galland, B. C., Gray, A. R., Penno, J., Smith, C., Lobb, C., & Taylor, R. W. (2017). Gender differences in sleep hygiene practices and sleep quality in New Zealand adolescents aged 15 to 17 years. *Sleep Health: Journal of the National Sleep Foundation*, 3(2), 77-83.doi: 10.1016/j.sleh.2017.02.001
- Gana, K., Bailly, N., Saada, Y., Joulain, M., Trouillet, R., Hervé, C., & Alaphilippe, D. (2013).
  Relationship between life satisfaction and physical health in older adults: A longitudinal test of cross-lagged and simultaneous effects. *Health Psychology*, *32*(8), 896-904. doi: 10.1037/a0031656
- Goesling, B., & Firebaugh, G. (2004). The trend in international health inequality. *Population and Development Review*, *30*(1), 131-146.
- Graf, A. S., & Patrick, J. H. (2014). The influence of sexual attitudes on mid- to late life sexual well-being: Age, not gender, as a salient factor. International Journal of Aging and Human Development, 79, 55-79. https://doi.org/10.2190/AG.79.1.c
- Graf, A. S., & Patrick, J. H. (2015). Foundations of life-long sexual health literacy. *Health Education*, *115*(1), 56-70. https://doi.org/10.1108/HE-12-2013-0073



- Greenspoon, P. J., & Saklofske, D. H. (2001). Toward an integration of subjective well-being and psychopathology. *Social Indicators Research*, *54*(1), 81-108.
- Gutman, L. M., Eccles, J. S., Peck, S., & Malanchuk, O. (2011). The influence of family relations on trajectories of cigarette and alcohol use from early to late adolescence. *Journal of Adolescence*, *34*(1), 119-128. doi: 10.1016/j.adolescence.2010.01.005

Hamer, D. H. (1996). The heritability of happiness. Nature genetics, 14(2), 125-127.

- Hamilton, A.B. (1996). Do psychosocial factors predict metastatic cancer survival? A longitudinal assessment of breast, colon, and lung cancer patients (Doctoral dissertation). *Dissertation Abstracts International: Section B: The Sciences and Engineering*, *57*(6–B), 4029.
- Hales, C. M., Fryar, C. D., Carroll, M. D., Freedman, D. S., Aoki, Y., & Ogden, C. L. (2018).
  Differences in obesity prevalence by demographic characteristics and urbanization level among adults in the united states, 2013-2016. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 319(23), 2419-2429. doi: 10.1001/jama.2018.7270
- Hann, C. S., Rock, C. L., King, I., & Drewnowski, A. (2001). Validation of the Healthy Eating Index with use of plasma biomarkers in a clinical sample of women–. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* (4), 479-486.
- Harrington, C. (2017). Healthy Hunger-free Kids? The US School Lunch Revolution. In *The Obama Presidency and the Politics of Change* (pp. 199-215). Palgrave Macmillan, Cham.



- Harris, K.M., King, R.B., Gordon-Larsen, P. (2005). Healthy habits among adolescents:
  Sleep, exercise, diet, and body image. In K.A. Moore and L.H. Lippman (Eds.).
  What do children need to flourish? Conceptualizing and measuring indicators of positive development. New York: Springer.
- Harsh, J. R., Easley, A., & LeBourgeois, M. K. (2002). A measure of children's sleep hygiene. *Sleep*, 25, A316-A317.
- Harwell, M., & LeBeau, B. (2010). Student eligibility for a free lunch as an SES measure in education research. *Educational Researcher*, 39(2), 120-131. doi: 10.3102/0013189X1036
- Heath, G. W., Pratt, M., Warren, C. W., & Kann, L. (1994). Physical activity patterns in american high school students: Results from the 1990 youth risk behavior survey. *Archives of Pediatrics & Adolescent Medicine*, 148(11), 1131-1136.
- Hoffman, J. A., Franko, D. L., Thompson, D. R., Power, T. J., & Stallings, V. A. (2009).
  Longitudinal behavioral effects of a school-based fruit and vegetable promotion
  program. *Journal of pediatric psychology*, *35*(1), 61-71.
- Holder, M. D., & Coleman, B. (2008). The contribution of temperament, popularity, and physical appearance to children's happiness. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, *9*(2), 279-302.
- Holder, M.D., Coleman, B., & Sehn, Z.L. (2009). The contribution of active and passive leisure to children's well-being. *Journal of Health Psychology*, *14* (3), 378-386. doi: 10.1177/1359105308101676
- Huebner, E. S. (1991a). Further validation of the students' life satisfaction scale: The independence of satisfaction and affect ratings. *Journal of Psychoeducational Assessment*, 9(4), 363-368.



- Huebner, E. S. (1991b). Initial development of the students' life satisfaction scale. *School Psychology International*, *12*(3), 231-240. doi:10.1177/0143034391123010
- Huebner, E.S. (1994). Preliminary development and validation of a multi-dimensional life satisfaction scale for children. *Psychological Assessment*, 6(2), 149-158.
- Huebner, E. S., Funk, B. A., & Gilman, R. (2000). Cross-sectional and longitudinal psychosocial correlates of adolescent life satisfaction reports. *Canadian Journal of School Psychology*, 16, 53-64.
- Hunsberger, M., O'Malley, J., Block, T., & Norris, J. C. (2015). Relative validation of Block
  Kids Food Screener for dietary assessment in children and adolescents. *Maternal & Child Nutrition*, 11(2), 260-270.doi: 10.1111/j.1740-8709.2012. 00446.x
- International Wellbeing Group. (2013). Personal wellbeing index (5th ed.). Melbourne: Australian Centre on Quality of Life, Deakin University.
- Jeon, J. (2015). The strengths and limitations of the statistical modeling of complex social phenomenon: Focusing on SEM, path analysis, or multiple regression models. *International Journal of Social, Behavioral, Educational, Economic, Business* and Industrial Engineering 9(5), 1594-1602.
- Ji, X., & Liu, J. (2016). Subjective sleep measures for adolescents: A systematic review. *Child: Care, Health, and Development, 42*(6), 825-839. doi:10.1111/cch.12376
- Jiang, Y., Kempner, M., & Loucks, E. B. (2014). Weight misperception and health risk behaviors in youth: the 2011 US YRBS. *American Journal of Health Behavior*, 38(5), 765-780.
- Johns, M. W. (1992). Reliability and factor analysis of the Epworth Sleepiness Scale. *Sleep*, *15*(4), 376-381.



- Johnson, F., Wardle, J., & Griffith, J. (2002). The adolescent food habits checklist: reliability and validity of a measure of healthy eating behaviour in adolescents. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, *56*(7), 644-649.
- Johnston, L. D., Miech, R. A., O'Malley, P. M., Bachman, J. G., Schulenberg, J. E., & Patrick, M. E. (2018). *Monitoring the Future national survey results on drug use*, 1975-2017: *Overview, key findings on adolescent drug use*. The National Institute on Drug Abuse at the National Institute of Health. Ann Arbor, MI.
- Kann, L., McManus, T., Harris, W. A., Shanklin, S. L., Flint, K. H., Queen, B., ... & Lim, C. (2018). Youth risk behavior surveillance-United States, 2017. *MMWR Surveillance Summaries*, 67(8), 1-120.
- Kern, M. L., Waters, L., Adler, A., & White, M. (2015). A multifaceted approach to measuring wellbeing in students: Application of the PERMA framework. *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, 10, 262-271. doi: 10.1080/17439760.2014.936962
- Keyes, C. L. M. (2009). The natural and importance of positive mental health in american adolescents. In R. Gilman, E.S. Huebner, Y M.J. Furlong (Eds.), *Handbook of positive psychology in schools* (pp. 9-23). New York: Routledge.
- Keyes, C. L. M. (2002). The mental health continuum: From languishing to flourishing in life. *Journal of Health and Social Research*, 43, 207-222.
- Kloos, A., Weller, R. A., Chan, R., & Weller, E. B. (2009). Gender differences in adolescent substance abuse. *Current Psychiatry Reports*, 11(2), 120-126.
- Kobau, R., Seligman, M. E., Peterson, C., Diener, E., Zack, M. M., Chapman, D., & Thompson,
  W. (2011). Mental health promotion in public health: Perspectives and strategies from positive psychology. *American Journal of Public Health*, *101*(8), e1-e9.



- Koivumaa-Honkanen, H., Honkanen, R., Koskenvuo, M., & Kaprio, J. (2003). Self-reported happiness in life and suicide in ensuing 20 years. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 38, 244–248.
- Koopmans, T.A., Geleijnse, J.M., Zitman, F.G., & Giltay, E.J. (2010). Effects of happiness on all-cause mortality during 15 years of follow-up: The Arnhem Elderly Study. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, 11, 113–124.
- Kovach Clark, H., Ringwalt, C.L., Hanley, S., & Shamblen, S.R. (2010). Project
  ALERT"s effects on adolescents" prodrug beliefs: A replication and extension
  study. *Health Education & Behavior*, *37*, 357-376. doi: 10.1177/1090198109353283
- Kovacs, M. (1992). *Children's depression inventory: Manual*. Multi-Health Systems. Jia, M., Jiang, Y., & Mikami, A. Y. (2016). Positively biased self-perceptions in children with ADHD: Unique predictor of future maladjustment. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 44(3), 575-586. doi:10.1007/s10802-015-0056-1
- Kowalski, K. C., Crocker, P. R., & Donen, R. M. (2004). The physical activity questionnaire for older children (PAQ-C) and adolescents (PAQ-A) manual. *College of Kinesiology, University of Saskatchewan*, 87(1), 1-38.
- Kowalski, K. C., Crocker, P. R. E., & Kowalski, N. P. (1997). Convergent validity of the Physical Activity Questionnaire for Adolescents. *Pediatric Exercise Science*, 9, 342-352.
- Kredlow, M. A., Capozzoli, M. C., Hearon, B. A., Calkins, A. W., & Otto, M. W. (2015). The effects of physical activity on sleep: a meta-analytic review. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 38(3), 427-449.



www.manaraa.com

Kuhn, C. (2015). Emergence of sex differences in the development of substance use and abuse during adolescence. *Pharmacology & Therapeutics*, *153*, 55-78. doi: 10.1016/j.pharmthera.2015.06.003.

- Kubzansky, L.D., Sparrow, D., Vokonas, P., & Kawachi, I. (2001). Is the glass half empty or half full? A prospective study of optimism and coronary heart disease in the normative aging study. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 63, 910–916.
- Lai, C. C. (2018). The mediating role of sleep quality in the relationship between personality and subjective well-being. *Psychological Reports*, SAGE Open (April -June), 1-10: doi: 10.1177/2158244018773139.
- Langer, S. L., Crain, A. L., Senso, M. M., Levy, R. L., & Sherwood, N. E. (2014). Predicting child physical activity and screen time: Parental support for physical activity and general parenting styles. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, *39*(6), 633-642. doi: 10.1093/jpepsy/jsu021
- Laurent, J., Cantanzaro, S. J., Joiner, T. E., Rudolph, K. D., Potter, K. I., Lambert, S., Osborne,
  L., & Gathright, T. (1999). A measure of positive and negative affect for children: Scale
  development and preliminary validation. *Psychological Assessment*, *11*(3), 326–338.doi:
  10.1037/1040-3590.11.3.326
- Lawman, H. G., & Wilson, D. K. (2014). Associations of social and environmental supports with sedentary behavior, light and moderate-to-vigorous physical activity in obese underserved adolescents. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, 11(1), 92-101. doi:10.1186/s12966-014-0092-1



- Lawton, M. P., Kleban, M. H., Dean, J., Rajagopal, D., & Parmelee, P. A. (1992). The factorial generality of brief positive and negative affect measures. *Journal of Gerontology*, 47, 228-237. doi:10.1093/geronj/47.4.P228
- LeBourgeois, M. K., Giannotti, F., Cortesi, F., Wolfson, A. R., & Harsh, J. (2005). The relationship between reported sleep quality and sleep hygiene in Italian and American adolescents. *Pediatrics*, 115(Supplement 1), 257-265.
- Lemola, S., Ledermann, T., & Friedman, E. M. (2013). Variability of sleep duration is related to subjective sleep quality and subjective well-being: An actigraphy study. *PloS one*, 8(8), e71292.
- Lepper, H. S. (1998). Use of other-reports to validate subjective well-being measures. *Social Indicators Research*, 44(3), 367-379.
- Leung, J. P., & Leung, K. (1992). Life satisfaction, self-concept, and relationship with parents in adolescence. *Journal of Youth and adolescence*, *21*(6), 653-665.
- Levy, N.E. (2003). Examining the relationship between health-related behaviors and subjective well-being among college students. Unpublished doctoral dissertation: Colorado State University.
- Li, Y., Lindsey, B. J., Yin, X., & Chen, W. (2012). A comparison of American and Chinese students' perceived stress, coping styles, and health promotion practices. *Journal of Student Affairs Research and Practice*, 49(2), 211-227.doi: 10.1515/jsarp-2012-6298
- Lindberg, L. & Swanberg, I. (2006). Well-being of 12-year old children related to interpersonal relations, health habits, and mental distress. *Scandinavian Journal of Caring Science*, 20, 274-281.



- Lloyd, S. M., Cantell, M., Pacaud, D., Crawford, S., & Dewey, D. (2009). Brief report: Hope, perceived maternal empathy, medical regimen adherence, and glycemic control in adolescents with type 1 diabetes. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 34(9), 1025-1029.
- Loprinzi, P. D., & Trost, S. G. (2010). Parental influences on physical activity behavior in preschool children. *Preventive Medicine*, *50*(3), 129-133.

Loprinzi, P. D., Schary, D. P., Beets, M. W., Leary, J., & Cardinal, B. J. (2013). Association between hypothesized parental influences and preschool children's physical activity behavior. *American Journal of Health Education*, 44(1), 9-18.doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2009.11.010

- Lucas, R. E., & Donnellan, M. B. (2012). Estimating the reliability of single-item life satisfaction measures: Results from four national panel studies. *Social Indicators Research*, 105, 323-331.doi:10.1007/s11205-011-9783-z.
- Luginbuehl, M., Bradley-Klug, K. L., Ferron, J., Anderson, W. M., & Benbadis, S. R. (2008). Pediatric sleep disorders: validation of the sleep disorders inventory for students. *School Psychology Review*, 37(3), 409-431.
- Lynch, A. D., Coley, R. C., & Sims, J., Lombardi, C. M., & Mahalik, J. R. (2015). Direct and interactive effects of parent, friend and schoolmate drinking on alcohol use trajectories. *Psychology & Health, 30*, 1183–1205.doi: 10.1080/08870446.2015.1040017
- Lyons, M., Huebner, E.S., Hills, K, & Skinkareva (2012). The dual-factor model of mental health: Further study of the determinants of group differences. *Canadian Journal of School Psychology*, 27(2), 183-196. doi: 10.1177/0829573512444669.



- Lyrra, T., Törmäkangas, T.M., Read, S., Rantanen, T., & Berg, S. (2006). Satisfaction with present life predicts survival in octogenarians. *Journals of Gerontology. Series B*, *Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 61, 319–326.
- Mack, D. E., Wilson, P. M., Gunnell, K. E., Gilchrist, J. D., Kowalski, K. C., & Crocker, P. R. (2012). Health-enhancing physical activity: Associations with markers of well-being. *Applied Psychology: Health and Well-Being*, 4(2), 127-150. doi: 10.1111/j.1758-0854.2012.01065.x
- Mahony, D. L., Burroughs, W. J., & Lippman, L. G. (2002). Perceived attributes of healthpromoting laughter: A cross-generational comparison. *The Journal of Psychology*, 136(2), 171-181.
- Maier, J. H., & Barry, R. (2015). Associations among physical activity, diet, and obesity measures change during adolescence. *Journal of Nutrition and Metabolism*, *1-8*.
- Martin, J., McCaughtry, N., Shen, B., Fahlman, M., Garn, A., & Ferry, M. (2011). Resiliency, control, enjoyment and physical activity in African American high school students. *Sport Science Review*, 20(5-6), 53-71.
- Martínez-Gómez, D., Martínez-de-Haro, V., Pozo, T., Welk, G. J., Villagra, A., Calle, M. E., ...
  & Veiga, O. L. (2009). Reliability and validity of the PAQ-A questionnaire to assess
  physical activity in Spanish adolescents. *Revista Espanola de Salud Publica*, 83(3), 427-439.doi: 10.1590/S1135-57272009000300008

McCreary, D. R., & Sasse, D. K. (2002). Gender differences in high school students' dieting behavior and their correlates. *International Journal of Men's Health*, 1(2), 195-207.

McCreary Centre Society. (2009). A picture of health: Highlights from the 2008 BC Adolescent Health Survey. http://www.mcs.bc.ca/pdf/AHSIV\_APictureOfHealth.pdf.



- Merikangas, K. R., Jian-Ping, H., Burstein, M., Swanson, S., Avenevoli, S., Cui, L., Benjet, C., Georgiades, K., & Swendsen, J. (2010). Lifetime prevalence of mental disorders in U.S. adolescents: Results from the National Comorbidity Survey Replication- Adolescent Supplement (NCS-A). *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 49(10), 980-990. doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2010.05.017.
- Merikangas, K. R., Nakaaura, E.F., Kessler, R.C. (2009). Epidemiology of mental disorders in children and adolescents. *Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience*, *11*(1), 7-20.
- Michael, S. L., Brener, N., Lee, S. M., Clennin, M., & Pate, R. R. (2019). Physical education policies in US schools: Differences by school characteristics. *Journal of School Health*, 89(6), 493-502.
- Mo, P. K., & Winnie, W. M. (2010). The influence of health-promoting practices on the quality of life of community adults in Hong Kong. *Social Indicators Research*, 95(3), 503-517.
   doi; 10.1007/s 11205-009-9523-9
- Moor, I., Lampert, T., Rathmann, K., Kuntz, B., Kolip, P., Spalleck, J., & Richter, M. (2014).
  Explaining educational inequalities in adolescent life satisfaction: Do health behaviors and gender matter? *International Journal of Public Health*, 59(2), 309-317.
  doi:10.1007/s00038-013-0531-9
- Mrug, S., Gaines, J., Su, W., & Windle, M. (2010). School-level substance use: effects on early adolescents' alcohol, tobacco, and marijuana use. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol and Drugs*, 71(4), 488-495.
- Musavian, A. S., Pasha, A., Rahebi, S. M., Roushan, Z. A., & Ghanbari, A. (2014). Healthpromoting behaviors among adolescents: A cross-sectional study. *Nursing and Midwifery Studies*, *3*(1), e14560.



- Nabi, H., Kivimaki, M., De Vogli, R., Marmot, M.G., & Singh-Manoux, A. (2008). Positive and negative affect and risk of coronary heart disease: Whitehall II prospective cohort study.
   *British Medical Journal*, 337, 32–36. doi:10.1136/bmj. a118
- Natvig, G. K., Albrektsen, G., & Qvarnstrøm, U. (2003). Associations between psychosocial factors and happiness among school adolescents. *International Journal of Nursing Practice*, 9(3), 166-175.
- Neumark-Sztainer, D., Story, M., Hannan, P., & Croll, J. (2002). Overweight status and eating patterns among adolescents: Where do youths stand in comparison with the Healthy People 2010 objectives? *American Journal of Public Health*, *92*, 844 - 851.
- Nes, R. B., & Røysamb, E. (2017). Happiness in behaviour genetics: An update on heritability and changeability. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, *18*(5), 1533-1552.
- Norman, P., & Conner, M. (2015). Predicting and changing health behaviour: Future directions. In M. Conner & P. Norman (Eds.), Predicting and changing health behaviour: Research and practice with social cognition models (3rd ed., pp. 390–430). Maidenhead: Open University Press.
- O'Connor, M., Sanson, A. V., Toumbourou, J. W., Norrish, J., & Olsson, C. A. (2017). Does positive mental health in adolescence longitudinally predict healthy transitions in young adulthood? *Journal of Happiness Studies*, *18*(1), 177-198. doi: 10.1007/s10902-016-9723-3
- Organek, K. D. M., Taylor, D. J., Petrie, T., Martin, S., Greenleaf, C., Dietch, J. R., & Ruiz, J.
  M. (2015). Adolescent sleep disparities: sex and racial/ethnic differences. *Sleep Health: Journal of the National Sleep Foundation*, 1(1), 36-39. doi: 10.1016/j.sleh.2014.12.003



- Ostir, G.V., Markides, K.S., Black, S.A., & Goodwin, J.S. (2000). Emotional wellbeing predicts subsequent functional independence and survival. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, *48*, 473–478.
- Ostir, G.V., Markides, K.S., Peek, M.K., & Goodwin, J.S. (2001). The association between emotional well-being and the incidence of stroke in older adults. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, *63*, 210–215.
- Owens, J. A., Spirito, A., & McGuinn, M. (2000). The Children's Sleep Habits Questionnaire (CSHQ): psychometric properties of a survey instrument for school-aged children. *Sleep-New York*, 23(8), 1043-1052.
- Owens, J. A., Spirito, A., McGuinn, M., & Nobile, C. (2000). Sleep habits and sleep disturbance in elementary school-aged children. *Journal of Developmental and Behavioral Pediatrics*, 21(1), 27-36.
- Pallant, J. (2011). SPSS Survival Manual 4th edition: A step by step guide to data analysis using SPSS version 18. Maidenhead, Berkshire: Open University Press.
- Paruthi, S., Brooks, L. J., D'Ambrosio, C., Hall, W. A., Kotagal, S., Lloyd, R. M., ... & Rosen, C. L. (2016). Recommended amount of sleep for pediatric populations: A consensus statement of the american academy of sleep medicine. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine*, *12*(06), 785-786.doi: 10.5664/jcsm.5866
- Pate, R.R., Long, B.J., & Heath, G.W. (1994). Descriptive epidemiology of physical activity in adolescents. *Pediatric Exercise Science*, 6, 434-447.
- Pender, N. J. (2011). Heath promotion model manual. Deep Blue. Ann Arbor, MI.
- Pender, N.J., Murdaugh, C.L., & Parsons, M.A. (2005). *Health promotion in nursing* practice (5th ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Education Inc.



- Persch, A. C., Lamb, A. J., Metzler, C. A., & Fristad, M. A. (2015). Healthy habits for children: Leveraging existing evidence to demonstrate value. *American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 69(4), 6904090010p1-6904090010p5.
- Peterson, S. J., & Bredow, T.S. (2009). *Middle range theories: Application to nursing research* (2nd ed.). Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott, Williams & Wilkins

Petrov, M. E., & Lichstein, K. L. (2016). Differences in sleep between black and white adults: An update and future directions. *Sleep Medicine*, *18*, 74–81. doi: 10.1016/j.sleep.2015.01.01

Piko, B.F. (2006). Satisfaction with life, psychosocial health, and materialism among Hungarian youth. Journal of Health Psychology, 11 (6), 827-831.

Pokorny, S.B., Jason, L.A., Schoeny, M.E., Townsend, S.M., & Curie, C.J. (2001). Do participation rates change when active consent procedures replace passive consent? *Evaluation Review*, 25 (5), 567-580

- Proctor, C., Alex Linley, P., & Maltby, J. (2009). Youth life satisfaction measures: A review. *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, *4*(2), 128-144.
- Ratey, J. J. (2008). Spark: The revolutionary new science of exercise and the brain. Little, Brown.
- Rew, L., Horner, S. D., & Fouladi, R. T. (2010). Factors associated with health behaviors in middle childhood. *Journal of Pediatric Nursing*, 25(3), 157-166.

Renshaw, T.L., & Cohen, A.S. (2014). Life satisfaction as a distinguishing indicator of college student functioning: Further validation of the two-continua model of mental health. *Social Indicators Research*, 117(1), 319-334. doi: 10.1007/s11205-013-0342-7



- Robinson, T. N., & Killen, J. D. (1995). Ethnic and gender differences in the relationships between television viewing and obesity, physical activity, and dietary fat intake. *Journal* of Health Education, 26(sup2), S91-S98.
- Roe., L., Strong, C., Whiteside, C., Neil, A., & Mant, D. (1994). Dietary intervention in primary care: validity of the DINE method for diet assessment. *Family Practice*, *11*(4), 375-381.
- Rose, A., Schwartz-Mette, R., Smith, R., Asher, S., Swenson, L., Carlson, W., & Waller, E. (2012). How girls and boys expect disclosure about problems will make them feel:
  Implications for friendships. *Child Development*, *83*(3), 844-863.doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8624.2012.01734.x
- Rossi, C. M., Campbell, A. L., Vo, O. T., Charron, T., Marco, C. A., & Wolfson, A. R. (2002).Middle school sleep-smart program: A pilot evaluation. *Sleep*, 25, A279.
- Ryff, C. (1989). Happiness is everything, or is it? Explorations on the meaning of psychological well-being. *Journal of Personality & Social Psychology*, 57, 1069–1081.

Saegert, S. C., Adler, N. E., Bullock, H. E., Cauce, A. M., Liu, W. M., & Wyche, K. F. (2006). APA Task Force on socioeconomic status (SES). *Retrieved from the American Psychological Association website: http://www. apa. org/pi/ses/resources/publications/task-force-2006. pdf.* 

- Sallis, J. F., Prochaska, J. J., & Taylor, W. C. (2000). A review of correlates of physical activity of children and adolescents. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 32(5), 963-975.
- Samdal, O., & Rowling, L. (Eds.). (2012). *The implementation of health-promoting schools: Exploring the theories of what, why and how.* Routledge. New York, NY.



- Seligman, M. E. P. (2002). Authentic happiness: Using the new positive psychology to realize your potential for lasting fulfillment. New York: Free Press.
- Seligman, M.E.P. (2011). Flourishing: A visionary new understanding of happiness and wellbeing. New York: Free: Press.
- Seligman, M.E.P., & Csikszentmihalyi, M. (2000). Positive psychology: An introduction. *American Psychologist*, 55(1), 5-14.
- Seligson, J.L., Huebner, E.S., & Valois, R.F. (2003). Preliminary validation of the brief multidimensional students' life satisfaction scale (BMSLSS). *Social Indicators Research*, *61*(2), 121-145.
- Shaffer-Hudkins, E. J. (2011). *Health-Promoting Behaviors and Subjective Well-Being among Early Adolescents*. University of South Florida. Tampa, FL.
- Shaffer-Hudkins, E., Suldo, S., Loker, T., & March, A. (2010). How adolescents' mental health predicts their physical health: Unique contributions of indicators of subjective well-being and psychopathology. *Applied Research in Quality of Life*, *5*(3), 203-217.
- Shen, B.J., Avivi, Y.E., Todaro, J.F., Spiro, A., Laurenceau, J., Ward, K. et al. (2008). Anxiety characteristics independently and prospectively predict myocardial infarction in men: The unique contribution of anxiety among psychological factors. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology, 51*, 113–119. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2007.09.033
- Shirai, K., Iso, H., Ohira, T., Ikeda, A., Noda, H., Honjo, K., ... & Tsugane, S. (2009). Perceived level of life enjoyment and risks of cardiovascular disease incidence and mortality: the Japan Public Health Center–Based Study. *Circulation*, 120(11), 956-963.



www.manaraa.com

- Singh, G. K., Siahpush, M., & Kogan, M. D. (2010a). Rising social inequalities in US childhood obesity, 2003–2007. Annals of Epidemiology, 20, 40–52.doi: 10.1016/j.annepidem.2009.09.008
- Singh, G. K., Siahpush, M., & Kogan, M. D. (2010b). Neighborhood socioeconomic conditions, built environments, and childhood obesity. *Health Affairs*, 29, 503–512. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2009.0730
- Sirard, J. R., Pfeiffer, K. A., Dowda, M., & Pate, R. R. (2008). Race differences in activity, fitness, and BMI in female eighth graders categorized by sports participation status. *Pediatric Exercise Science*, 20(2), 198-210.
- Sirard, J. R., Hannan, P., Cutler, G. J., & Nuemark-Sztainer, D. (2013). Evaluation of 2 selfreport measures of physical activity with accelerometry in young adults. *Journal of Physical Activity and Health*, 10(1), 85-96.
- Smith, N.D.W. (2018). An Application of the Dual-Factor Model of Mental Health in Elementary School Students: Implications for Social Functioning and Psychopathology.
   University of South Florida. Tampa, FL.
- Snelling, A., Belson, S. I., Beard, J., & Young, K. (2015). Associations between grades and physical activity and food choices: Results from YRBS from a large urban school district. *Health Education*, 115(2), 141-151.
- Spear, H. J., & Kulbok, P. A. (2001). Adolescent health behaviors and related factors: A review. *Public Health Nursing*, 18(2), 82-93.
- Spencer, R. A., Rehman, L., & Kirk, S. F. (2015). Understanding gender norms, nutrition, and physical activity in adolescent girls: A scoping review. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, 12(1), 6-16



- Spruyt, K., & Gozal, D. (2011). Pediatric sleep questionnaires as diagnostic or epidemiological tools: a review of currently available instruments. *Sleep Medicine Reviews*, *15*(1), 19-32.
- Srof, B. J., & Velsor-Friedrich, B. (2006). Health promotion in adolescents: a review of Pender's health promotion model. *Nursing Science Quarterly*, 19(4), 366-373.
- Stark, M. A., Chase, C., & DeYoung, A. (2010). Barriers to health promotion in community dwelling elders. *Journal of Community Health Nursing*, 27(4), 175-186. doi: 10.1080/07370016.2010.515451
- Starfield, B., Riley, A. W., Green, B. R., Ensminger, M. E., Ryan, S. A., Kelleher, K.... Vogel,
  K. (1995). The adolescent child health and illness profile: A population-based measure of health. *Medical Care*, *33*, 553–566
- Steel, P., Schmidt, J., & Shultz, J. (2008). Refining the relationship between personality and subjective well-being. *Psychological bulletin*, 134(1), 138-161
- Storfer-Isser, A., Lebourgeois, M. K., Harsh, J., Tompsett, C. J., & Redline, S. (2013).
   Psychometric properties of the adolescent sleep hygiene scale. *Journal of Sleep Research*, 22(6), 707-716.doi: 10.1111/jsr.12059
- Suldo, S. M. (2016). Promoting student happiness: Positive psychology interventions in schools. Guilford Press: New York, NY.
- Suldo, S.M. & Huebner, E.S. (2004). Does life satisfaction moderate the effects of stressful life events on psychopathological behavior during adolescence? *School Psychology Quarterly*, 19 (2), 93-105.
- Suldo, S. M., Minch, D. R., & Hearon, B. V. (2015). Adolescent life satisfaction and personality characteristics: Investigating relationships using a five-factor model. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, 16(4), 965-983.



- Suldo, S. M., & Shaffer, E. J., (2008). Looking beyond psychopathology: The dual factor model of mental health in youth. *School Psychology Review*, *37*(1), 52 68.
- Suldo, S. M., Shaunessy, E., Thalji, A., Michalowski, J., & Shaffer, E. (2009). Sources of stress for students in high school college preparatory and general education programs: Group differences and associations with adjustment. *Adolescence*, 44(176), 925-950.
- Suldo, S. M., Thalji, A., & Ferron, J. (2011). Longitudinal academic outcomes predicted by early adolescents' subjective well-being, psychopathology, and mental health status yielded from a dual factor model. *Journal of Positive Psychology*, 6(1), 17-36. doi: 10.1080/17439760.2010.536774
- Suldo, S. M., Thalji-Raitano, A., Kiefer, S. M., & Ferron, J. M. (2016). Conceptualizing high school students' mental health through a dual-factor model. *School Psychology Review*, 45(4), 434-457.doi: 10.17105/SPR45-4.434-457
- Tabacchi, G., Amodio, E., Di Pasquale, M., Bianco, A., Jemni, M., & Mammina, C. (2014).
  Validation and reproducibility of dietary assessment methods in adolescents: A systematic literature review. *Public Health Nutrition*, *17*(12), 2700-2714.
  doi:10.1017/S1368980013003157
- Tabachnick, B. G., Fidell, L. S., & Ullman, J. B. (2007). Using multivariate statistics (Vol. 5).Boston, MA: Pearson.
- Tate, N. H., Dillaway, H. E., Yarandi, H. N., Jones, L. M., & Wilson, F. L. (2015). An examination of eating behaviors, physical activity, and obesity in African American adolescents: Gender, socioeconomic status, and residential status differences. *Journal of Pediatric Health Care*, 29(3), 243-254. doi: 10.1016/j.pedhc.2014.11.005


- Terry, T., & Huebner, E.S. (1995). The relationship between self-concept and life satisfaction in children. *Social Indicators Research*, *35*, 39-52.
- Valois, R. F., Zullig, K. J., Huebner, E. S., & Drane, J. W. (2004). Physical activity behaviors and perceived life satisfaction among public high school adolescents. *Journal of School Health*, 74(2), 59-65.
- Vilhjalmsson, R., & Kristjansdottir, G. (2003). Gender differences in physical activity in older children and adolescents: the central role of organized sport. *Social Science & Medicine*, 56(2), 363-374.
- Voss, C., Dean, P. H., Gardner, R. F., Duncombe, S. L., & Harris, K. C. (2017). Validity and reliability of the physical activity questionnaire for Children (PAQ-C) and adolescents (PAQ-A) in individuals with congenital heart disease. *PloS One*, *12*(4), e0175806.
- Ware, J. E., & Sherbourne, C. D. (1992). The MOS 36-item Short Form Health Survey (SF-36):I. Conceptual framework and item selection. *Medical Care*, *30*, 473-483.
- Ware, J. E., Jr., Kosinski, M., & Keller, S. D. (1996). A 12-item short-form health survey:
  Construction of scales and preliminary tests of reliability and validity. *Medical Care*, 34(3), 220-233. http://dx.doi.org/10.1097/00005650-199603000-00003
- Watson, D., Clark, L. A., & Tellegen, A. (1988). Development and validation of brief measures of positive and negative affect: The PANAS scales. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 54(6), 1063-1070. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.54.6.1063
- Webb, J., Bray, J. H., Adams, G., & Getz, J. G. (2002). Gender differences in adolescent alcohol use, externalizing and internalizing behavior problems, and peer influence. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 72, 392–400



- Weinberg, M. K., Noble, J. M., & Hammond, T. G. (2016). Sleep well feel well: An investigation into the protective value of sleep quality on subjective wellbeing. *Australian Journal of Psychology*, 68(2), 91-97.doi: 10.1111/ajpy.12098
- Wendel-Vos, C.G.W., Schuit, A.J, Saris, W.H.M., & Kromhout, D. (2003). Reproducibility and relative validity of the short questionnaire to assess health enhancing physical activity (SQUASH). *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, 56, 1163–1169.
- Willis, G. B. (1999). Cognitive interviewing: A "how to" guide, from the short course "Reducing Survey Error through Research on the Cognitive and Decision Processes in Surveys".In meeting of the American Statistical Association.
- Wolfson, A. R., Harkins, E., Johnson, M., & Marco, C. (2015). Effects of the young adolescent sleep smart program on sleep hygiene practices, sleep health efficacy, and behavioral well-being. *Sleep Health: Journal of the National Sleep Foundation*, 1(3), 197-204. doi: 10.1016/j.sleh.2015.07.002.
- Yang, F., Tan, K. A., & Cheng, W. J. (2014). The effects of connectedness on health-promoting and health-compromising behaviors in adolescents: Evidence from a statewide survey.
   *The Journal of Primary Prevention*, 35(1), 33-46. doi: 10.1007/s10935-013-0327-y
- Yao, C. A., & Rhodes, R. E. (2015). Parental correlates in child and adolescent physical activity: a meta-analysis. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, 12(1), 10-48. doi: 10.1186/s12966-015-0163-y
- Yu, J., Putnick, D. L., Hendricks, C., & Bornstein, M. H. (2017). Health-risk behavior profiles and reciprocal relations with depressive symptoms from adolescence to young adulthood. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, *61*(6), 773-778.doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2017.07.002



168

Zeno, S. A., Kim-Dorner, S. J., Deuster, P. A., Davis, J. L., Remaley, A. T., & Poth, M. (2010).
Cardiovascular fitness and risk factors of healthy African Americans and
Caucasians. *Journal of the National Medical Association*, *102*(1), 28-35.doi:
10.1016/S0027-9684(15)30472-7

Zhang, J., Paksarian, D., Lamers, F., Hickie, I. B., He, J., & Merikangas, K. R. (2017). Sleep patterns and mental health correlates in US adolescents. *The Journal of Pediatrics*, 182, 137-143.

Zullig, K.J., Valois, R.F., Huebner, E.S., & Wanzer Drane, J. (2005). Adolescent health Related quality of life and perceived satisfaction with life. *Quality of Life Research*, 14, 1573-1584.



# **APPENDIX A:**

# **Parent Consent Form**



# Parental Permission for Children to Participate in Research Involving Minimal Risk Information for parents to consider before allowing your child to take part in this research study

Pro # \_\_00038119\_\_\_\_\_

The following information is being presented to help you and your child decide whether or not he/she wishes to be a part of a research study. Please read this information carefully. If you have any questions or if you do not understand the information, we encourage you to ask the researcher.

We are asking you to allow your child to take part in a research study called: **Health-Promoting Behaviors and Subjective Well-Being Among High School Students** 

The person who is in charge of this research study is Nicholas David W. Smith. This person is called the Principal Investigator. However, other research staff may be involved and can act on behalf of the person in charge. He is being guided in this research by Dr. Kathy L. Bradley-Klug.

The research will be conducted in XXXX County School District.

This research is being sponsored by the Florida Association of School Psychologists.

# **Purpose of study:**

By doing this study, we hope to learn we hope to learn more about what leads to happiness and health during the teenage years. The information that we collect may help us better understand why we should monitor student' healthy behaviors and their happiness. This research will be conducted through having participants complete a series of survey packets.

# Why is your child being asked to take part?

We are asking your child to take part in this research study because he/she is enrolled at XXXX County School District and is currently enrolled in a HOPE class.



## **Study Procedures:**

If your child takes part in this study, s/he will be asked to: complete several surveys that will ask about their thoughts, actions, and attitudes towards school, family, and life in general. They will also be asked to complete questions about their daily eating, exercise, sleep, safety habits, and utilization of various substances. Your child will not be asked to complete any other activities aside from completing the survey packet. Participation in this study will take place during one single HOPE class instructional period during the week of March 15<sup>th</sup>, 2019.

## **Total Number of Participants**

A total of 400 individuals will participate in the study at all sites.

## **Alternatives / Voluntary Participation / Withdrawal**

If you decide not to let your child take part in this study, that is okay. Instead of being in this research study your child can choose not to participate. You should only let your child take part in this study if both of you want to. You or child should not feel that there is any pressure to take part in the study to please the study investigator or the research staff.

## If you decide not to let your child take part:

Your child will not be in trouble or lose any rights he/she would normally have.

Your relationship with your child's school will not change.

Your decision to participate or not to participate will not affect your student's status, course grade, recommendations, or access to future courses or training opportunities.

Alternatives to participating in the study include: not participating in this research study.

You can decide after signing this informed consent form that you no longer want your child to take part in this study. We will keep you informed of any new developments that might affect your willingness to allow your child to continue to participate in the study. However, you can decide you want your child to stop taking part in the study for any reason at any time. If you decide you want your child to stop taking part in the study, tell the study staff as soon as you can.

## Benefits

The potential benefits to your child include:

We cannot promise that your child will receive benefit from taking part in this research study. However, the information that we collect may help us better understand why we should check student's healthy behaviors and happiness.

### **Risks or Discomfort**

There are no known risks to those who take part in this study.

## Compensation

Your child will receive some competition (e.g., pencil) for taking part in this study. If you stop participating before the study is over, they will still receive the compensation.



## Costs

It will not cost you anything to let your child take part in the study.

## **Conflict of Interest Statement**

No member of the research team or an immediate family member hold equity interest in, receive personal compensation from, or have a business relationship (e.g., hold a position such as officer, director, partner, trustee, board member, scientific advisory board member, etc.) with an entity (e.g., the sponsor, provider or manufacturer of the product being investigated or equipment/services being offered, or the holder of any ownership interest in a product being investigated) related to the research outlined in this this study.

No member of the research team or an immediate family member have a proprietary interest (including trademark, patent, copyright, licensing agreement or other intellectual property) associated with the research outlined in this proposal (e.g., the drug or device).

## **Privacy and Confidentiality**

We will do our best to keep your child's records private and confidential. We cannot guarantee absolute confidentiality. Your child's personal information may be disclosed if required by law. Certain people may need to see your child's study records. These individuals include:

- The research team, including the Principal Investigator, study coordinator, and all other research staff.
- Certain government and university people who need to know more about the study, and individuals who provide oversight to ensure that we are doing the study in the right way.
- Any agency of the federal, state, or local government that regulates this research.
- The USF Institutional Review Board (IRB) and related staff who have oversight responsibilities for this study, including staff in USF Research Integrity and Compliance.
- The sponsors of this study: the Florida Association of School Psychologists.

We may publish what we learn from this study. If we do, we will not include your child's name. We will not publish anything that would let people know who your child is. All data will be destroyed five years after the final report is filed to the University of South Florida Institutional Review Board.

### You can get the answers to your questions, concerns, or complaints.

If you have any questions, concerns or complaints about this study, or would like to review the study materials please call Nicholas David W. Smith at (724) 599-4315 or email him at smithn1@mail.usf.edu

If you have questions about your child's rights, or have complaints, concerns or issues you want to discuss with someone outside the research, call the USF IRB at (813) 974-5638 or contact by email at RSCH-IRB@usf.edu.

You can refuse to sign this form. If you do not sign this form your child will not be able to take part in this research study. However, your child's care outside of this study and benefits will not change. Your authorization to use your child's health information will not expire unless you revoke (withdraw) it in writing. You can revoke this form at any time by sending a letter clearly stating that



you wish to withdraw your authorization to use your child's health information in the research. If you revoke your permission:

- Your child will no longer be a participant in this research study;
- We will stop collecting new information about your child;
- We will use the information collected prior to the revocation of your authorization. This information may already have been used or shared with others, or we may need it to complete and protect the validity of the research; and
- Staff may need to follow-up with your child if there is a medical reason to do so.

To revoke this form, please write to: Dr. Kathy Bradley-Klug, Ph.D. Attn: Nicholas Smith For IRB Study **# 00038119** University of South Florida College of Education-EDU 105 4202 E. Fowler Ave. Tampa, FL 33620

While we are conducting the research study, we cannot let you see or copy the research information we have about your child. After the research is completed, you have a right to see the information about your child, as allowed by USF policies. You will receive a signed copy of this form.

# Consent for My Child to Participate in this Research Study

I freely give my consent to let my child take part in this study. I understand that by signing this form I am agreeing to let my child take part in research. I have received a copy of this form to take with me.

Signature of Parent of the Child Taking Part in Study

Date

Printed Name of Parent of the Child Taking Part in Study

## **Statement of Person Obtaining Informed Consent**

I have carefully explained to the person taking part in the study what he or she can expect from their child's participation. I confirm that this research subject speaks the language that was used to explain this research and is receiving an informed consent form in their primary language. This research subject has provided legally effective informed consent.

Signature of Person Obtaining Informed Consent

Printed Name of Person Obtaining Informed Consent



www.manaraa.com

Date

# **APPENDIX B:**

## **Student Assent Form**



### Assent of Children to Participate in Research

### Title of study: Health-Promoting Behaviors and Subjective Well-Being Among High School Students

### Why am I being asked to take part in this research?

You are being asked to take part in a research study about what leads to happiness and health during the teenage years. You are being asked to take part in this research study because you are currently enrolled in XXX School District. If you take part in this study, you will be one of about 400 people to do so.

#### Who is doing this study?

The person in charge of this study is Nicholas David W. Smith. He is being guided in this research by Dr. Kathy L. Bradley-Klug. However, other research staff may be involved and can act on behalf of the person in charge.

### What is the purpose of this study?

By doing this study, we hope to learn we hope to learn more about what leads to happiness and health during the teenage years. The information that we collect may help us better understand why we should monitor student' healthy behaviors and their happiness. This research will be conducted through having participants complete a series of survey packets.

### Where is the study going to take place and how long will it last?

The study will be take place in XXXX County School District. You will be asked to participate in one visit that will take about 50 minutes. The total amount of time you will be asked to volunteer for this study is 50 minutes during one school day while you are in your HOPE class during the week of March 15, 2019.

### What will you be asked to do?

You will be asked to complete several surveys that will ask you about your thoughts, actions, and attitudes towards school, family, and life in general. You will also be asked to complete questions about your daily eating, exercise, sleep, safety habits, and utilization of various substances. You will not be asked to complete any other activities aside from completing the survey packet.

### What things might happen if you participate?

To the best of our knowledge, your participation in this study will not harm you.



### Is there benefit to me for participating?

We cannot promise that you will receive benefit from taking part in this research study. However, the information that we collect may help us better understand why we should check student's healthy behaviors and happiness.

### What other choices do I have if I do not participate?

You do not have to participate in this research study. Your decision to participate or not to participate will not affect your student status, course grade, recommendations, or access to future courses or training opportunities

### Do I have to take part in this study?

You should talk with your parents or guardian and others about taking part in this research study. Your parent or guardian must have signed a parental consent form for you to participate in this study. If you do not want to take part in the study, that is your decision. You should take part in this study because you want to volunteer.

### **Risks or Discomfort**

There are no known risks to those who take part in this study.

### Will I receive any compensation for taking part in this study?

You will receive some competition (e.g., pencil) for taking part in this study. If you stop participating before the study is over, you will still receive the compensation.

### Who will see the information about me?

Your information will be added to the information from other people taking part in the study so no one will know who you are.

### Can I change my mind and quit?

If you decide to take part in the study, you still have the right to change your mind later. No one will think badly of you if you decide to stop participating. Also, the people who are running this study may need for you to stop. If this happens, they will tell you when to stop and why.

### What if I have questions?

You can ask questions about this study at any time. You can talk with your parents, guardian or other adults about this study. You can talk with the person who is asking you to volunteer by calling Nicholas Smith at (724) 599-4315 or email him at smithn1@mail.usf.edu. If you think of other questions later, you can ask them. If you have questions about your rights as a research participant, you can also call the USF IRB at (813) 974-5638 or contact by email at <u>RSCH-IRB@usf.edu</u>.

### Assent to Participate

I understand what the person conducting this study is asking me to do. I have thought about this and agree to take part in this study. I have been given a copy of this form.

Name of person agreeing to take part in the study

Signature of child agreeing to take part in the study: \_\_\_\_\_

Printed name & Signature of person providing Information (assent) to subject Date

Date



# **APPENDIX C:**

# **Student Demographics Form**

	<b>Demographics Survey</b>
Plea	ase check the box that is most appropriate for you.
1) W	Vhat is your age?
	$ \begin{array}{c} \square & 14 \\ \square & 15 \\ \square & 16 \\ \square & 17 \\ \square & 18 \\ \square & 19 \\ \end{array} $
2) W	Vhat grade are you in?
	$\square 9th$ $\square 10th$ $\square 11th$ $\square 12^{th}$
3) W	Vhat is you gender
	<ul> <li>□ Male</li> <li>□ Female</li> <li>□ Other</li> </ul>
4) W	Which race/ethnicity best describes you? (check all that apply)
	<ul> <li>American Indian or Alaskan Native</li> <li>Asian</li> <li>African American or Black</li> <li>Pacific Islander</li> <li>Hispanic/ Latino-a</li> <li>Caucasian/ White</li> </ul>
	□ Other



## **APPENDIX D:**

## Students' Life Satisfaction Scale (SLSS; Huebner, 1991)\*

We would like to know what thoughts about life you've had <u>during the past several weeks</u>. Think about how you spend each day and night and then think about how your life has been during most of this time. Here are some questions that ask you to indicate your satisfaction with life. In answering each statement, circle a number from (1) to (6) where (1) indicates you **strongly disagree** with the statement and (6) indicates you **strongly agree** with the statement.

	Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Slightly Disagree	Slightly Agree	Agree	Strongly Agree
<i>I</i> . My life is going well	1	2	3	4	5	6
2. My life is just right	1	2	3	4	5	6
3. I would like to change many things in my life	1	2	3	4	5	6
4. I wish I had a different kind of life	1	2	3	4	5	6
5. I have a good life	1	2	3	4	5	6
6. I have what I want in life	1	2	3	4	5	6
7. My life is better than most kids'	1	2	3	4	5	6



# **APPENDIX E:**

## **Positive and Negative Affect Schedule for Children\***

Positive and Negative Affect Scale for Children (PANAS-C; Laurent et al., 1999)

This scale consists of a number of words that describe different feelings and emotions. Read each item and then circle the appropriate answer next to that word. Indicate to what extent you have felt this way during the past few weeks.

		Very				
	Feeling or emotion:	slightly or	A little	Moderately	Quite a bit	Extremely
		not at all			-	-
1.	Interested	1	2	3	4	5
2.	Sad	1	2	3	4	5
3.	Frightened	1	2	3	4	5
4.	Excited	1	2	3	4	5
5.	Ashamed	1	2	3	4	5
6.	Upset	1	2	3	4	5
7.	Нарру	1	2	3	4	5
8.	Strong	1	2	3	4	5
9.	Nervous	1	2	3	4	5
10.	Guilty	1	2	3	4	5
11.	Energetic	1	2	3	4	5
12.	Scared	1	2	3	4	5
13.	Calm	1	2	3	4	5
14.	Miserable	1	2	3	4	5
15.	Jittery	1	2	3	4	5
16.	Cheerful	1	2	3	4	5
17.	Active	1	2	3	4	5
18.	Proud	1	2	3	4	5
19.	Afraid	1	2	3	4	5
20.	Joyful	1	2	3	4	5
21.	Lonely	1	2	3	4	5
22.	Mad	1	2	3	4	5
23.	Disgusted	1	2	3	4	5
24.	Delighted	1	2	3	4	5
25.	Blue	1	2	3	4	5
26.	Gloomy	1	2	3	4	5
27.	Lively	1	2	3	4	5



### **APPENDIX F:**

### The Adolescent Food Habits Checklist (AFHC; Austin et al., 2009) \*

Please circle the response that is right for you most of the time. Follow the arrow when appropriate.

1. I never have lunch away from home. a. True b. False

If I am having lunch away from home, I often choose a low-fat option. a. True b. False

- 2. I usually avoid eating fried foods. a. True b. False
- 3. I usually eat a dessert if there is one available. a. True b. False
- 4. I make sure I eat at least one serving of fruit a day. a. True b. False
- 5. I try to keep my overall fat intake down. a. True b. False
- 6. I never buy chips or salty snacks.
  a. True
  b. False
  If I buy chips or salty snacks, I often choose a low-fat brand.
  a. True
  b. False
- 7. I never eat sausages or burgers.a. Trueb. False

I avoid eating lots of sausages and burgers. a. True b. False

- 8. I often buy pastries or cakes. a. True b. False
- 9. I try to keep my overall sugar intake down. a. True b. False
- 10. I make sure I eat at least one serving of vegetables or salad a day. a. True b. False

المتسارات

11. I don't eat desserts. a. True b. False If I am having a dessert at home, I try to have something low in fat. b. False a. True I often have whipped cream on desserts. a. True b. False 12. I rarely eat "to-go" meals. a. True b. False 13. I try to make sure I eat plenty of fruit and vegetables. a. True b. False 14. I often eat sweet snacks between meals. a. True b. False 15. I usually eat at least one serving of vegetables (excluding potatoes) or salad with my evening meal. a. True b. False 16. I never buy soft drinks. b. False a. True When I am buying a soft drink, I usually choose a diet drink. a. True b. False 17. I never have butter or margarine on bread. a. True b. False 7 When I put butter or margarine on bread, I usually spread it thinly. a. True b. False 18. I never have a packed lunch. a. True b. False  $\mathbf{A}$ If I have a packed lunch, I usually include some chocolate. a. True b. False 19. I never eat snacks between meals. a. True b. False X When I have a snack between meals, I often choose fruit. a. True b. False



20. I never have desserts in restaurants.

a. True

b. False If I am having a dessert in a restaurant, I usually choose the healthiest one. a. True b. False

- 21. I eat at least three servings of fruit most days. a. True b. False
- 22. I generally try to have a healthy diet. a. True b. False

\*The PI has received permission to utilize this measure from the developer.



# **APPENDIX G:**

# Permission to Utilize the AFHC Modified Version for American Youth (Austin et al., 2009)

Inqu	Index x	Ť	1 0
	Nicholas Smith <smithn1@mail.usf.edu> to awaustin 💌</smithn1@mail.usf.edu>	Jul 6 (4 days ago) 🔬	*
	Greetings Dr. Austin,		
	My name is Nicholas Smith and I am a doctoral student at the University of South Florida-Tampa.		
	I am very interested in utilizing the AFHC in my dissertation research. I am curious if you would be able to provide me with the modified version you utilized in your 2009 paper. Austin, A. W., Smith, A. F., & Patterson, S. M. (2009). Stress and die metropolitan area. Stress and Health: Journal of the International Society for the Investigation of Stress, 25(2), 171-178.	tary quality in black adolescer	nts in a
	My major professor and I are curious how you altered the measure to reflect an American diet, as you noted in the paper.		
	Please let me know when you have a moment. Your attention to this email and any further direction would be greatly appreciated.		
	Have a lovely weekend and thank you!		
	Sincerely, Nicholas Smith		
	Nicholas David W. Smith, M.A. School Psychology Doctoral Student Educational & Psychological Studies College of Education University of South Florida <u>smithn1@mail.usf.edu</u> (724) 599-4315		
1	Anthony Austin to me v	> 9:31 AM (7 hours ago) 🔬	*
	Hi Nicholas,		
	I'm happy to share the version we used. It is attached.		
	All the best, Anthony		



### **APPENDIX H:**

#### The Physical Activity Questionnaire for Adolescents (PAQ-A; Kowalski et al., 2004) \*

#### Physical Activity Questionnaire (High School)

Name:\_\_\_\_\_

Sex: M\_\_\_\_\_ F\_\_\_\_\_

Age:\_\_\_\_\_

Grade:\_\_\_\_\_

a. . .

We are trying to find out about your level of physical activity from *the last 7 days* (in the last week). This includes sports or dance that make you sweat or make your legs feel tired, or games that make you breathe hard, like tag, skipping, running, climbing, and others.

#### Remember:

الألم للاستشارات

Teacher:

3. There are no right and wrong answers — this is not a test.

 Please answer all the questions as honestly and accurately as you can — this is very important.

 Physical activity in your spare time: Have you done any of the following activities in the past 7 days (last week)? If yes, how many times? (Mark only one circle per row.)

	0
Skipping	ā
Rowing/canoeing O O O	
In-line skating O O O O	ō
Tag	ō
Walking for exercise	ō
Bicycling O O O O	0
Jogging or running	ō
Aerobics	ō
Swimming	0
Baseball, softball	0
Dance	0
Football	0
Badminton	0
Skateboarding	0
Soccer	0
Street hockey O O O O	0
Volleyball	0
Floor hockey	0
Basketball	0
Ice skating	0
Cross-country skiing	0
Ice hockey/ringette O O O O	0
Other:	
0 0 0 0	0
	0

In the last 7 days, during your physical education (PE) classes, how often were you very active (playing hard, running, jumping, throwing)? (Check one only.)

I don't do PE
Hardly ever O
Sometimes
Quite often
Always

 In the last 7 days, what did you normally do at lunch (besides eating lunch)? (Check one only.)

Sat down (talking, reading, doing schoolwork)O
Stood around or walked around
Ran or played a little bit
Ran around and played quite a bit
Ran and played hard most of the time

4. In the last 7 days, on how many days right after school, did you do sports, dance, or play games in which you were very active? (Check one only.)

NoneO
l time last weekO
2 or 3 times last week O
4 times last week O
5 times last week O

5. In the last 7 days, on how many *svenings* did you do sports, dance, or play games in which you were very active? (Check one only.)

None	0
l time last week	0
2 or 3 times last week	0
4 or 5 last week	0
6 or 7 times last week	0

On the last weekend, how many times did you do sports, dance, or play games in which you were very active? (Check one only.)

None	)
1 time	)
2 — 3 times O	)
4 — 5 times O	)
6 or more times	)



7. Which one of the following describes you best for the last 7 days? Read all five statements before deciding on the one answer that describes you.

F. phy	All or most of my free time was spent doing things that involve little vsical effort
G. (e.g	I sometimes (1 — 2 times last week) did physical things in my free time g. played sports, went running, swimming, bike riding, did aerobics)O
H.	I often (3 — 4 times last week) did physical things in my free timeO
I.	I quite often (5 — 6 times last week) did physical things in my free timeO
J.	I very often (7 or more times last week) did physical things in my free timeO

 Mark how often you did physical activity (like playing sports, games, doing dance, or any other physical activity) for each day last week.

	None	Little bit	Medium	Often	Very often
Monday	0	0	0	0	0
Tuesday	o	0	0	0	0
Wednesday	o	0	0	0	0
Thursday	o	0	0	0	0
Friday	O	0	•	0	0
Saturday	o	0	0	0	0
Sunday	o	0	0	0	0

Were you sick last week, or did anything prevent you from doing your normal physical activities? (Check one.)

Yes	 0
No.	 0

If Yes, what prevented you? \_\_\_\_\_



## Scoring

# Overall process - Find an activity score between 1 and 5 for each item (excluding item 9)

# **Five Easy Steps**

1) Item 1 (Spare time activity)

- Take the mean of all activities ("no" activity being a 1, "7 times or more" being a 5) on the activity checklist to form a composite score for item 1.

2) Item 2 to 7 (PE, lunch, right after school, evening, weekends, describes you best)

- The answers for each item start from the lowest activity response and progress to the highest activity response

- Simply use the reported value that is checked off for each item (the lowest activity response being a 1 and the highest activity response being a 5).

# 3) Item 8

- Take the mean of all days of the week ("none" being a 1, "very often" being a 5) to form a composite score for item 8.

4) Item 9

- Can be used to identify students who had unusual activity during the previous week, but this question is **NOT** used as part of the summary activity score.

5) How to calculate the final PAQ-A activity summary score

- Once you have a value from 1 to 5 for each of the 8 items (items 1 to 8) used in the

physical activity composite score, you simply take the mean of these 8 items, which results in the final PAQ-A activity summary score.

11

- A score of 1 indicates low physical activity, whereas a score of 5 indicates high physical activity.



## **APPENDIX I:**

# Adolescent Sleep Hygiene Scale (ASHS; Storfer-Isser et al., 2013) \*



Directions: Using the choices below, circle how often the following things have happened during the past month.

Never - has not happened

Once in Awhile - happened 20% of the time

Sometimes - happened 40% of the time

Quite Often - happened 60% of the time

Frequently, if not always - happened 80% of the time

Always - happened 100% of the time

					Alw	/ays (1	00%)				
Frequently, if not Always (80%)											
		C	uite (	Often	(60%)						
		Somet	imes	(40%)							
	Once in A	while (	20%)	Į		Į					
	Neve	r (0%)									
Du	ring the day										
1.	I take a nap that lasts <i>more than</i> 1 hour.	Ν	0	s	Q	F	Α				
2.	I play or exercise for <i>more than</i> 20 minutes.	Ν	0	s	Q	F	Α				
Aft	er 6:00 in the evening										
3.	I have drinks with caffeine (for example: cola, root beer, iced tea, coffee).	N	0	S	Q	F	A				
4.	I take a nap.	Ν	0	S	Q	F	Α				
5.	I do some kind of physical activity (for example: exercise, play sports).	Ν	0	s	Q	F	Α				
6.	I smoke or chew tobacco.	Ν	0	S	Q	F	Α				
7.	I drink beer (or some other drinks with alcohol).	Ν	0	s	Q	F	Α				
Du	ring the 1 hour before bedtime										
8.	I do things that make me feel <i>calm or relaxed</i> (for example: taking a hot bath/shower, listening to soft music, reading).	N	0	s	Q	F	A				
9.	things happen that make me feel <i>strong emotions</i> (sadness, anger, excitement).	N	0	S	Q	F	A				
10.	I am very active (for example: playing outside, running, wrestling).	Ν	0	s	Q	F	Α				
11.	I do things that make me feel <i>very awake</i> (for example: playing video games, watching TV, talking on the telephone).	N	0	s	Q	F	A				
12.	I drink more than 4 glasses of water (or some other liquid).	N	0	s	Q	F	Α				

Always (100%										
Frequently, if not Always (80%)										
	C	luite C	Often (	60%)						
	Somet	imes (	(40%)							
Once in A	while (	20%)								
Neve	(0%)									
I go to bed										
<ol> <li>and do things in my bed that keep me awake (for example: watching TV, reading).</li> </ol>	N	0	s	٩	F	A				
14and think about things I <i>need</i> to do.	Ν	0	s	Q	F	Α				
15feeling upset.	Ν	0	s	Q	F	Α				
16and replay the day's events over and over in my mind.	Ν	0	s	Q	F	Α				
17and worry about things happening at home or at school.	Ν	0	s	Q	F	Α				
18with a stomachache.	Ν	0	S	Q	F	Α				
19feeling hungry.	Ν	0	s	Q	F	Α				
I fall asleep										
20while listening to loud music.	N	0	s	Q	F	Α				
21while watching TV.	Ν	0	s	Q	F	Α				
22in a <b>brightly</b> lit room (for example: the overhead light is on).	N	0	s	Q	F	Α				
23 in <i>one place</i> and then move to <i>another place</i> during the night.	N	0	s	Q	F	Α				
24in a room that feels <i>too hot</i> or <i>too cold</i> .	Ν	0	s	Q	F	Α				
t sleep										
25 in a home where someone smokes cigarettes, cigars, or a pipe.	N	0	s	Q	F	А				
L										
26get too little sleep.	N	0	s	Q	F	Α				
27 use a bedtime routine (for example: bathing, brushing teeth, reading).	N	0	s	Q	F	Α				
<ol> <li> use my bed for things other than sleep (for example: talking on the telephone, watching TV, playing video games, doing homework).</li> </ol>	N	0	s	Q	F	A				
29check my clock several times during the night.	N	0	s	Q	F	Α				



					Alw	ays (1	.00%)
	Free	quen	tly, if I	not Al	ways (	80%)	
		C	uite C	)ften (	60%)		
	So	omet	imes (	40%)			
	Once in Aw	hile (	20%)				
	Never (	(0%)					
Du	ring the school week, I						
30.	stay up <i>more than 1 hour</i> past my <i>usual</i> <u>bedtime</u> . My <u>usual</u> <i>school night</i> bedtime is: am pm	N	0	S	Q	F	A
31.	"sleep in" more than 1 hour past my usual wake time. My usual school day wake time is am pm	N	0	S	Q	F	A
On	weekends, I						
32.	stay up <i>more than 1 hour</i> past my <i>usual</i> <u>bedtime</u> . My <u>usual</u> <i>weekend</i> bedtime is am pm	N	0	S	Q	F	A
33.	"sleep in" <i>more than 1 hour</i> past my <i>usual</i> <u>wake time</u> . My <u>usual</u> weekend wake time is; am pm	N	0	S	Q	F	A



#### Scoring of the Adolescent Sleep Hygiene Scale (ASHS)

- The ASHS provides 8 subscale scores and an overall sleep hygiene score.
- Higher scores indicate better success on each of these dimensions of sleep hygiene.
- Response options are scored as follows:
  - Never (6 point)
  - Once in Awhile (5 points)
  - Sometimes (4 points)
  - Quite Often (3 points)
  - Frequently, if not Always (2 points)
  - Always (1 points)
- Reverse-code item 27

#### Physiological Factor (mean of 5 items)

- 3 After 6:00 in the evening, I have drinks with caffeine (e.g., cola, root beer, iced tea, coffee)
- 10 During the 1 hour before bedtime, I am very active (e.g., playing outside, running, wrestling)
- 12 During the 1 hour before bedtime, I drink more than 4 glasses of water (or some other liquid)
- 18 I go to bed with a stomachache
- 19 I go to bed feeling hungry

#### Behavioral Arousal Factor (mean of 3 items)

- 11 During the 1 hour before bedtime, I do things that make me feel very awake (e.g., playing video games, watching TV, talking on the telephone)
- 13 I go to bed and do things in my bed that keep me awake (e.g., watching TV, reading)
- 28 I use my bed for things other than sleep (e.g., talking on the telephone, watching TV, playing video games, doing homework)

### Cognitive/Emotional Factor (mean of 6 items)

- 14 I go to bed and think about things I need to do
- 16 I go to bed and replay the day's events over and over in my mind
- 29 I check my clock several times during the night
- 9 During the 1 hour before bedtime, things happen that make me feel strong emotions (e.g., sadness, anger, excitement)
- 15 I go to bed feeling upset
- 17 I go to bed and worry about things happening at home or at school

#### Sleep Environment Factor (mean of 5 items)

- 20 I fall asleep while listening to loud music
- 21 I fall asleep while watching TV
- 22 I fall asleep in a brightly lit room (e.g., the overhead light is on)
- 24 I fall asleep in a room that feels too hot or too cold
- 23 I fall asleep in one place and then move to another place during the night



## Sleep Stability Factor (mean of 3 items)

- 30 During the school week, I stay up more than 1 hour past my usual bedtime
- 32 On weekends, I stay up more than 1 hour past my usual bedtime
- 33 On weekends, I "sleep in" more than 1 hour past my usual wake time

#### Daytime Sleep Factor (mean of 2 items)

- 1 During the day, I take a nap that lasts more than 1 hour
- 4 After 6:00 in the evening, I take a nap

### Substances Factor (mean of 2 items)

- 6 After 6:00 in the evening, I smoke or chew tobacco
- 7 After 6:00 in the evening, I drink beer (or some other drinks with alcohol)

### Bedtime Routine Factor (value for 1 item)

27 I use a bedtime routine (e.g., bathing, brushing teeth, reading)

### TOTAL ASHS SCORE - (mean of all 8 subscales)

## Items that are not part of a subscale or the total ASHS score but were included in the ASHS due to theoretical interest:

- During the day, I play or exercise for more than 20 minutes
- After 6:00 in the evening, I do some kind of physical activity (e.g., exercise, play sports)
- During the 1 hour before bedtime, I do things that make me feel calm/relaxed (e.g., taking a hot bath/shower, listening to soft music, reading)\*
- I sleep in a home where someone smokes cigarettes, cigars or a pipes.
- I get too little sleep
- During the school week, I "sleep in" more than 1 hour past my usual wake time.



# **APPENDIX J:**

# Adolescent Alcohol and Tobacco Utilization Scale (Center for Disease Control and Prevention, 2018)

Using the choices below, circle how often you utilize the following substances.

Duri	ng the past <b>30 days</b>							
1.	On how many days did you <b>smoke cigarettes</b> ?	0 days	1 to 2 days	3 to 5 days	6 to 9 days	10 to 19 days	20 to 29 days	All 30 days
2.	On how many days did you <b>smoke cigars, cigarillos, or little cigars</b> ?	0 days	1 to 2 days	3 to 5 days	6 to 9 days	10 to 19 days	20 to 29 days	All 30 days
3.	On how many days did you use <b>chewing tobacco</b> , <b>snuff</b> , <b>dip</b> , <b>snus</b> , <b>or</b> <b>dissolvable tobacco products</b> (such as Copenhagen, Grizzly, Skoal, or Camel Snus; Do not count any electronic vapor products)?	0 days	1 to 2 days	3 to 5 days	6 to 9 days	10 to 19 days	20 to 29 days	All 30 days
4.	On how many days did you use an <b>electronic vapor product</b> (such as JUUL, Vuse, MarkTen, and blu. Electronic vapor products include e-cigarettes, vapes, vape pens, e-cigars, ehookahs, hookah pens, and mods)?	0 days	1 to 2 days	3 to 5 days	6 to 9 days	10 to 19 days	20 to 29 days	All 30 days
5.	On how many days did you have <b>at least one drink of alcohol</b> (This includes drinking beer, wine, wine coolers, and liquor such as rum, gin, vodka, or whiskey. This does not include drinking a few sips of wine for religious purposes)?	0 days	1 to 2 days	3 to 5 days	6 to 9 days	10 to 19 days	20 to 29 days	All 30 days
6.	On how many days did you have <b>4 or more drinks</b> of alcohol in a row, that is, within a couple hours (if you are <u>female</u> ) <b>or 5 or more drinks</b> of alcohol in a row, that is, within a couple of hours (if you are <u>male</u> )?	0 days	1 to 2 days	3 to 5 days	6 to 9 days	10 to 19 days	20 to 29 days	All 30 days



## **APPENDIX K:**

### **Institutional Review Board Letter of Research Approval**



RESEARCH INTEGRITY AND COMPLIANCE Institutional Review Boards, FWA No. 00001669 12901 Bruce B. Down Blod., MDC035 • Tampa, FL 33612-4799 (\$13) 974-5638 • FAX(\$13) 974-7091

1/14/2019

Nicholas David Smith Educational and Psychological Studies 14249 Monterey Pines Dr. Unit 101 Tampa, FL 33613

RE: Expedited Approval for Initial Review IRB#: Pro00038119 Title: Health-Promoting Behaviors and Subjective Well-Being Among High School Students

#### Study Approval Period: 1/11/2019 to 1/11/2020

Dear Mr. Smith:

On 1/11/2019, the Institutional Review Board (IRB) reviewed and **APPROVED** the above application and all documents contained within, including those outlined below.

Approved Item(s): Protocol Document(s): Protocol

Consent/Assent Document(s)\*: Adult Minimal Risk Consent Form.pdf Assent Form.pdf Parent Consent Form.pdf

\*Please use only the official IRB stamped informed consent/assent document(s) found under the "Attachments" tab. Please note, these consent/assent documents are valid until the consent document is amended and approved.

It was the determination of the IRB that your study qualified for expedited review which includes activities that (1) present no more than minimal risk to human subjects, and (2) involve only procedures listed in one or more of the categories outlined below. The IRB may review research through the expedited review procedure authorized by 45CFR46.110 and 21 CFR 56.110. The research proposed in this study is categorized under the following expedited review category:



(7) Research on individual or group characteristics or behavior (including, but not limited to, research on perception, cognition, motivation, identity, language, communication, cultural beliefs or practices, and social behavior) or research employing survey, interview, oral history, focus group, program evaluation, human factors evaluation, or quality assurance methodologies.

Research Involving Children as Subjects: 45 CFR 46.404 This research involving children as participants was approved under 45 CFR 46.404: Research not involving greater than minimal risk to children is presented.

Requirements for Assent and/or Permission by Parents or Guardians: 45 CFR 46.408 Permission of one parent is sufficient. Assent is required of all children.

As the principal investigator of this study, it is your responsibility to conduct this study in accordance with IRB policies and procedures and as approved by the IRB. Any changes to the approved research must be submitted to the IRB for review and approval via an amendment. Additionally, all unanticipated problems must be reported to the USF IRB within five (5) business days.

We appreciate your dedication to the ethical conduct of human subject research at the University of South Florida and your continued commitment to human research protections. If you have any questions regarding this matter, please call \$13-974-5638.

Sincerely,

Meluso Millour

Melissa Sloan, PhD, Vice Chairperson USF Institutional Review Board



### **APPENDIX L:**

## **Correlation Matrix Between Variables of Interest**

Correlations Between Variables of Interest

		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15
1.	SWB***	-														
2.	Life Satisfaction	.87**	-													
3.	Positive Affect	.79*	.59**	-												
4.	Negative Affect	74**	50**	29**	-											
5.	Physical Activity	.33*	.28**	.37**	13**	-										
6.	Diet	.01	.01	01	02	.16**	-									
7.	Sleep Hygiene-PF	.09	.12*	06	15**	14**	.24**	-								
8.	Sleep Hygiene -BAF	.11*	.08	02	20**	.02	.18**	.37**	-							
9.	Sleep Hygiene -CEF	.47**	.41**	.22*	51*	.07	.02	.38**	.44**	-						
10.	Sleep Hygiene -SEF	.10*	.13**	.02	10	.04	.22**	.52**	.37**	.34**	-					
11.	Sleep Hygiene -SSF	.14*	.10*	.09	14**	.07	.20**	.17**	.39**	.29**	.20**	-				
12.	Sleep Hygiene -DSF	.10*	.10*	.05	09*	.13**	.24**	.49**	.27**	.23**	.44**	.21**	-			
13.	Sleep Hygiene-SF	.09	.10*	.05	06	.00	.07	.21**	01	.03	.15**	.00	.11*	-		
14.	Sleep Hygiene-BRF	.17*	.17*	.18**	07	.06	.17**	06	06	08	01	.01	.03	.07	-	
15.	Tobacco Abstinence	.08	.08	.04	06	.00	.11*	.07	.02	.04	.01	.08	.05	.49*	.10*	-
16.	Alcohol Abstinence	.09	.05	04	- 13**	- 02	11*	11*	02	03	00	10*	01	40*	07	54**

*Note.* N = 430. \* p < .05, \*\*p < .01, \*\*\*= z-score utilized. SWB= Subjective Well-Being. PF= Physiological Factors. BAF= Behavioral Arousal Factors. CEF= Cognitive/Emotional Factors. SEF= Sleep Environment Factors. SSF= Sleep Stability Factor. DSF=Daytime Sleep Factor. SF=Substances Factor. BRF= Bedtime Routine Factor.



# **APPENDIX M:**

# Moderating Effects of Race on Health-Promoting Behaviors Predicting SWB

		Moo	del 1		Mod	lel 2		
		N =	430			N =	430	
Variable	В	SE B	β	р	В	SE B	β	р
Race								
African American <sup>a</sup>	.09	.34	.02	.79	11.83	5.35	2.05*	.03
Hispanic <sup>a</sup>	.02	.32	.00	.96	1.84	3.07	.33	.55
Multiracial <sup>a</sup>	25	.41	03	.54	12.38	11.98	1.37	.30
Other <sup>a</sup>	36	.42	04	.39	.24	5.07	.03	.96
Socioeconomic Status								
Free-Reduced Lunch <sup>b</sup>	.21	.20	.05	.30	.23	.22	.05	.29
Gender								
Female <sup>c</sup>	14	.21	03	.50	08	.22	02	.72
School								
School B <sup>d</sup>	1.18	.43	.12**	.01	1.24	.45	.13*	.01
School C <sup>d</sup>	.35	.34	.05	.31	.44	.36	.06	.22
School D <sup>d</sup>	.31	.33	.06	.35	.27	.34	.06	.42
School E <sup>d</sup>	.66	.42	.09	.12	.59	.44	.08	.18
Health-Promoting Behaviors								
Physical Activity	.93	.13	.30**	.00	.65	.20	.21**	.00
Diet	03	.02	06	.14	03	.04	07	.36
Sleep Hygiene-Physiological Factors	.03	.14	.01	.85	18	.23	07	.00
Sleep Hygiene -Behavioral Arousal Factor	14	.09	07	.14	09	.15	05	.56
Sleep Hygiene -Cognitive/Emotional Factor	1.18	.11	.53**	.00	1.47	.16	.65**	.00
Sleep Hygiene -Sleep Environment Factor	.03	.12	.01	.83	.15	.22	.06	.49



196

Appendix M (continued).

Variable	В	SE B	β	р	В	SE B	β	р
Sleep Hygiene -Sleep Stability Factor	.02	.08	.01	.78	23	.13	12	.09
Sleep Hygiene -Daytime Sleep Factor	01	.07	01	.89	.25	.12	.18	.04
Sleep Hygiene -Substances Factor	.21	.18	.06	.25	.79	.38	.21	.04
Sleep Hygiene-Bedtime Routine Factor	.27	.05	.21**	.00	.28	.09	.21**	.00
Tobacco Abstinence	35	.91	02	.70	-1.07	1.17	06	.36
Alcohol Abstinence	.65	.47	.07	.17	.49	.59	.05	.40
Interactions with African American Participants								
Physical Activity * AA					.01	.36	.00	.98
Diet * AA					07	.07	13	.31
Sleep Hygiene-Physiological Factors * AA					.07	.36	.05	.86
Sleep Hygiene -Behavioral Arousal Factor * AA					08	.25	04	.77
Sleep Hygiene -Cognitive/Emotional * AA					55	.28	35	.05
Sleep Hygiene -Sleep Environment Factor * AA					31	.33	24	.34
Sleep Hygiene -Sleep Stability Factor * AA					.40	.23	.22	.09
Sleep Hygiene -Daytime Sleep Factor * AA					39	.19	24	.04
Sleep Hygiene -Substances Factor * AA					-1.40	.59	-1.42	.02
Sleep Hygiene-Bedtime Routine Factor * AA					04	.14	03	.79
Tobacco Abstinence * AA					1.38	5.51	.24	.80
Alcohol Abstinence * AA					27	1.54	05	.86
Interactions with Hispanic Participants								
Physical Activity * HIS					.07	.35	.03	.84
Diet * HIS					.03	.05	.07	.61
Sleep Hygiene-Physiological Factors * HIS					.22	.36	.17	.55
Sleep Hygiene -Behavioral Arousal Factor * HIS					14	.24	09	.55
Sleep Hygiene -Cognitive/Emotional * HIS					52	.27	37	.06
Sleep Hygiene -Sleep Environment Factor * HIS					.23	.31	21	.46
Sleep Hygiene -Sleep Stability Factor * HIS					.46	.21	.28	.03
Sleep Hygiene -Daytime Sleep Factor * HIS					28	.18	21	.13
Sleep Hygiene -Substances Factor * HIS					.20	.52	.21	.71
Sleep Hygiene-Bedtime Routine Factor * HIS					11	.14	09	.42
Tobacco Abstinence * HIS					.45	2.45	.08	.85
Alcohol Abstinence * HIS					-1.03	1.45	18	



Appendix M (continued).

Variable		В	SE B	β	р	
Interactions with Multiracial Participants				•	•	_
Physical Activity * MUL		1.65	.54	.47**	.00	
Diet * MUL		.02	.14	.02	.90	
Sleep Hygiene-Physiological Factors * MUL		.76	.92	.37	.41	
Sleep Hygiene -Behavioral Arousal Factor * MUL		01	.46	00	.95	
Sleep Hygiene -Cognitive/Emotional * MUL		50	.61	21	.41	
Sleep Hygiene -Sleep Environment Factor * MUL		.44	.56	.24	.43	
Sleep Hygiene -Sleep Stability Factor * MUL		.19	.39	.08	.62	
Sleep Hygiene -Daytime Sleep Factor * MUL		25	.36	11	.49	
Sleep Hygiene -Substances Factor * MUL		-3.66	1.63	-2.39	.03	
Sleep Hygiene-Bedtime Routine Factor * MUL		.20	.33	.09	.55	
Tobacco Abstinence * MUL		2.58	7.72	.28	.74	
Alcohol Abstinence * MUL		-1.51	4.99	16	.76	
Interactions with Other Participants						
Physical Activity * OTH		.86	.61	.22	.16	
Diet * OTH		07	.10	10	.46	
Sleep Hygiene-Physiological Factors * OTH		1.13	.65	.53	.09	
Sleep Hygiene -Behavioral Arousal Factor * OTH		12	.43	04	.78	
Sleep Hygiene -Cognitive/Emotional * OTH		43	.50	19	.40	
Sleep Hygiene -Sleep Environment Factor * OTH		21	.62	10	.74	
Sleep Hygiene -Sleep Stability Factor * OTH		.35	.39	.13	.37	
Sleep Hygiene -Daytime Sleep Factor * OTH		32	.33	15	.34	
Sleep Hygiene -Substances Factor * OTH		99	.60	58	.10	
Sleep Hygiene-Bedtime Routine Factor * OTH		16	.31	06	.62	
Tobacco Abstinence * OTH		1.70	3.80	.17	.66	
Alcohol Abstinence * OTH		1.54	2.13	.15	.47	
$R^2$	.398		.494			
F for change in $R^2$			1 41			

*Note.* \* p < .05, \*\* p < .01. aReference Race group is White. bReference group is non-free or reduced-price lunch. cReference group is males. dReference group is School A. AA = African American. HIS=Hispanic. MUL= Multiracial. OTH= Other.



# **APPENDIX N:**

# Moderating Effects of Gender on Health-Promoting Behaviors Predicting SWB

		Mod	el 1		Mod	lel 2		
		N = -	430			N =	430	
Variable	В	SE B	β	р	В	SE B	β	р
Race								
African American <sup>a</sup>	.09	.34	.02	.79	.09	.34	.02	.79
Hispanic <sup>a</sup>	.02	.32	.00	.96	.05	.32	.01	.89
Multiracial <sup>a</sup>	25	.41	03	.54	33	.42	04	.43
Other <sup>a</sup>	36	.42	04	.39	37	.42	04	.38
Socioeconomic Status								
Free-Reduced Lunch <sup>b</sup>	.21	.20	.05	.30	.21	.21	.04	.32
Gender								
Female <sup>c</sup>	14	.21	03	.50	-2.63	2.31	55	.26
School								
School B <sup>d</sup>	1.18	.43	.12**	.01	1.23	.44	.13**	.01
School C <sup>d</sup>	.35	.34	.05	.31	.38	.35	.05	.29
School D <sup>d</sup>	.31	.33	.06	.35	.31	.34	.06	.36
School E <sup>d</sup>	.66	.42	.09	.12	.62	.43	.08	.15
Health-Promoting Behaviors								
Physical Activity	.93	.13	.30**	.00	.99	.19	.32**	.00
Diet	03	.02	06	.14	.01	.03	.01	.87
Sleep Hygiene-Physiological Factors	.03	.14	.01	.85	.32	.21	.12	.13
Sleep Hygiene -Behavioral Arousal Factor	14	.09	07	.14	07	.15	04	.63
Sleep Hygiene -Cognitive/Emotional Factor	1.18	.11	.53**	.00	.85	.17	.38**	.00



Appendix N (continued).								
Variable	В	SE B	β	р	В	SE B	β	р
Sleep Hygiene -Sleep Environment Factor	.03	.12	.01	.83	09	.19	04	.64
Sleep Hygiene -Sleep Stability Factor	.02	.08	.01	.78	02	.12	01	.88
Sleep Hygiene -Daytime Sleep Factor	01	.07	01	.89	10	.12	07	.38
Sleep Hygiene -Substances Factor	.21	.18	.06	.25	.24	.23	.06	.31
Sleep Hygiene-Bedtime Routine Factor	.27	.05	.21**	.00	.26	.08	.20**	.00
Tobacco Abstinence	35	.91	02	.70	-1.25	1.34	07	.35
Alcohol Abstinence	.65	.47	.07	.17	.23	.79	.03	.76
Interactions with Gender								
Physical Activity * Gender					07	.27	04	.80
Diet * Gender					06	.04	17	.18
Sleep Hygiene-Physiological Factors * Gender					54	.29	51	.06
Sleep Hygiene -Behavioral Arousal Factor * Gender					13	.19	10	.48
Sleep Hygiene -Cognitive/Emotional Factor * Gender					.54	.22	.45*	.01
Sleep Hygiene -Sleep Environment Factor * Gender					.18	.24	.19	.46
Sleep Hygiene -Sleep Stability Factor * Gender					.10	.17	.07	.53
Sleep Hygiene -Daytime Sleep Factor * Gender					.15	.14	.14	.30
Sleep Hygiene -Substances Factor * Gender					.00	.38	.01	.98
Sleep Hygiene-Bedtime Routine Factor * Gender					.01	.11	.01	.96
Tobacco Abstinence * Gender					1.49	1.83	.30	.42
Alcohol Abstinence * Gender					.73	.11	.01	.93
$R^2$		.398				.42		
$\overline{F}$ for change in $R^2$						1.30		

*Note.* \* p < .05, \*\* p < .01. aReference Race group is White. bReference group is non-free or reduced-price lunch. cReference group is males. dReference group is School A.



# **APPENDIX O:**

# Moderating Effects of SES on Health-Promoting Behaviors Predicting SWB

		Moo	del 1		Mod	lel 2		
		N =	430			N =	430	
Variable	В	SE B	β	р	В	SE B	β	р
Race								
African American <sup>a</sup>	.09	.34	.02	.79	.09	.34	.02	.79
Hispanic <sup>a</sup>	.02	.32	.00	.96	.05	.32	.01	.89
Multiracial <sup>a</sup>	25	.41	03	.54	33	.42	04	.43
Other <sup>a</sup>	36	.42	04	.39	37	.42	04	.38
Socioeconomic Status								
Free-Reduced Lunch <sup>b</sup>	.21	.20	.05	.30	3.44	2.32	.72	.14
Gender								
Female <sup>c</sup>	14	.21	03	.50	14	.21	03	.52
School								
School B <sup>d</sup>	1.18	.43	.12**	.01	1.38	.44	.15**	.00
School C <sup>d</sup>	.35	.34	.05	.31	.48	.35	.07	.38
School D <sup>d</sup>	.31	.33	.06	.35	.30	.34	.06	.38
School E <sup>d</sup>	.66	.42	.09	.12	.72	.42	.10	.09
Hadth Dromoting Dat								
Develoal Activity	02	12	20**	00	1 1 2	19	26**	00
Dist	.95	.15	.30***	.00	1.13	.10	.30***	.00
Diet	03	.02	06	.14	00	.03	01	.92



www.manaraa.com

Appendix O (continued).	_	~~ ~	<u></u>			~~ ~		
Variable	В	SE B	β	p	В	SE B	β	<i>p</i>
Sleep Hygiene-Physiological Factors	.03	.14	.01	.85	.20	.20	.08	.31
Sleep Hygiene -Behavioral Arousal Factor	14	.09	07	.14	12	.13	06	.38
Sleep Hygiene -Cognitive/Emotional Factor	1.18	.11	.53**	.00	1.26	.14	.56**	.00
Sleep Hygiene -Sleep Environment Factor	.03	.12	.01	.83	14	.18	06	.43
Sleep Hygiene -Sleep Stability Factor	.02	.08	.01	.78	.12	.12	.07	.32
Sleep Hygiene - Daytime Sleep Factor	01	.07	01	.89	11	.11	07	.32
Sleep Hygiene -Substances Factor	.21	.18	.06	.25	.42	.25	07	.32
Sleep Hygiene-Bedtime Routine Factor	.27	.05	.21**	.00	.25	.09	.19**	.00
Tobacco Abstinence	35	.91	02	.70	30	1.09	05	.40
Alcohol Abstinence	.65	.47	.07	.17	.72	.59	.07	.22
Interactions with Gender								
Physical Activity * Gender					47	.27	.26	.09
Diet * Gender					06	.04	15	.20
Sleep Hygiene-Physiological Factors * Gender					41	.30	38	.16
Sleep Hygiene -Behavioral Arousal Factor * Gender					03	.19	02	.86
Sleep Hygiene -Cognitive/Emotional Factor * Gender					13	.21	11	.53
Sleep Hygiene -Sleep Environment Factor * Gender					.32	.24	.33	.18
Sleep Hygiene -Sleep Stability Factor * Gender					18	.17	13	.29
Sleep Hygiene -Daytime Sleep Factor * Gender					.19	.14	.17	.17
Sleep Hygiene - Substances Factor * Gender					37	.37	45	.31
Sleep Hygiene-Bedtime Routine Factor * Gender					.05	.11	.04	.66
Tobacco Abstinence * Gender					2.39	1.97	.49	.23
Alcohol Abstinence * Gender					-1.26	1.06	26	.24
$R^2$		.398				.42		
F for change in $R^2$						1.25		

*Note.* \* p < .05, \*\* p < .01. aReference Race group is White. bReference group is non-free or reduced-price lunch. cReference group is males. <sup>d</sup>Reference group is School A. SES=Socioeconomic Status.

